
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 22 June 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

Tuesday, 30 June 2020 at 10.30 am 
This meeting will be held by remote conferencing using 

Skype for Business 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Mark Whittington (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Bob Adams, Councillor David Bellamy, Councillor John Dawson, Councillor 
Phil Dilks, Councillor Philip Knowles, Councillor Charmaine Morgan, Councillor Linda 
Wootten 
 

 

Invited 
Cabinet 

Members 

 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council 
Councillor Adam Stokes, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
 

Agenda 

 Virtual Meeting - Joining Arrangements 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 30 

June 2020 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, please e-mail 

democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

Finance, Economic 

Development and 

Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/FNCZ0C59
https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/FNCZ0C59
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

 
1.   Comments from members of the public 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 

discretion. 

 

   
2.   Register of attendance, membership and apologies for absence  

   
3.   Disclosure of interests  

   
4.   Action notes of the meeting held on 26 May 2020 (Pages 3 - 11) 

   
5.   Updates from previous meeting  

   
6.   Future High Streets Fund 

Report detailing proposals for submission of a bid for the Future High Streets 

Fund for Grantham Town Centre 

Appendix 6 to this report, the draft full business case is exempt under 

paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 

because it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of an 

individual or organisation. If members of the Committee wish to discuss the 

contents of this appendix, members of the press and public will be excluded. 

Any exclusion will be during discussion of exempt information only. 

(Pages 13 - 175) 

   
7.   Financial Impact Report 

Report summarising the latest position on the 2020/21 Budget framework as a 

result of the financial impact of the Covid-19 crisis 

(Pages 177 - 198) 

   
8.   Outturn Report 2019/20 

Report detailing the Council’s provisional outturn position for the financial year 

2019/20 

(Pages 199 - 245) 

   
9.   Performance Report 

Report detailing South Kesteven’s performance during the Covid-19 

pandemic and performance reporting for the financial year 2019/20  

(Pages 247 - 269) 

   
10.   Work programme 

2020/21 Work Programme and Cabinet Forward Plan, for information 
(Pages 271 - 281) 

   
11.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstance decides is urgent 
 

   



 
 

Meeting of the 
Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
Tuesday, 26 May 2020, 10.00 am 

 

 

 
 

 
Committee Members present 
  
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Mark Whittington (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Bob Adams 
Councillor David Bellamy 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
 

Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Charmaine Morgan 
Councillor Linda Wootten 
Councillor John Dawson 
 

Cabinet Members 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, Councillor Adam Stokes 
 
Officers Other Members present 
 
Interim Director of Finance (Richard Wyles) 
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West) 
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor) 

Councillor Ashley Baxter 

 

 
62. Membership 

 
All Members were present. 
 

63. Disclosure of Interests 
 
None disclosed. 
 

64. Action Notes of the Meeting Held on 4 February 2020 
 
The action notes from the meeting held on 4 February 2020 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
 

3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

65. Updates from Previous Meeting 
 
A question was asked in relation to the Leisure Centre Working Group and an 
update was requested to be circulated to the Committee. 
 
 Action Note 
 
That an update on the Leisure Centre Working Group be circulated to 
Members of the Committee. 
 
A further question was asked in relation to the action point requesting a 
response from the Interim Strategic Director Growth on the position in relation 
to land searches. The Scrutiny Officer read out the following information which 
had been circulated to Members before the meeting: 

 The team responsible for Land Searches had recently implemented a 
new way of dealing with Personal searches which was proving 
successful in providing a more efficient service, saving staff time on 
administration work.  

 The team were introducing a rota-based system to ensure that more 
time was spent on searches.  

 An additional member of staff was employed within the team on a 
temporary contract in order to assist with backlog. In addition, the 
team’s apprentice was trained to do more Land Charges related tasks. 

 A target was introduced to reduce the average turnaround time on 
Local Land Charges searches to under 10 days. 

 The Council’s Land Charges team had implemented a number of new 
processes over the last 4 months, as all planning administration 
functions were aligned.  

 Although the new processes initially contributed to a drop in 
performance, it was hoped that that the combined impact will be 
positive, once the processes were fully bedded-in. 

 
Concern was expressed about the timeframe for receiving information 
requested at a meeting, it was felt that information should have been 
circulated earlier.  The Scrutiny Officer apologised for the delay, and explained 
that information requested by Members at a meeting is usually collated to 
send to Members in a single update, as opposed to sending information as 
and when it became available, and that unfortunately due to the cancellation 
of the April meeting of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the update had been neglected 
on this occasion, and was sent to Members later than expected.  
 
A Member noted that, although not included in the minutes from the previous 
meeting, they had requested a list of recreation ground assets such as cricket 
grounds which belonged to Parish/Town councils be shared with Members. 
 

4



 
 

 Action Note 
 
A list of recreation ground assets owned by Parish/Town councils to be 
circulated to Members. 
 
Another Member raised concerns about the monitoring of contracts, and she 
was advised to raise the issue when the work programme was being 
discussed. 
 
A non-Committee Member commented on the information that had been 
received in relation to the Leisure Centre Working Group at the previous 
meeting, and an earlier meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, noting that information shared at these committees 
was not consistent, and that no such Working Group appears to have been 
convened in the interim. He requested a statement of clarification on the 
current situation in relation to Leisure Centre Working Groups. 
 
 Action Note 
 
That clarification is given on the membership of the Leisure Centre 
Working Groups and any decisions taken to date. 
 

66. Financial Impact Report 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources introduced the Financial 
Impact Report. Since the budget had been agreed by Council on 2 March 
2020 dramatic changes and restrictions had been put in place following the 
Coronavirus pandemic. He referred Members to the key income areas where 
there was uncertainty and the modelling that had been undertaken to assess 
the financial impact both in the short and longer term. An amendment to the 
budget framework would be presented in August or September 2020.  
 
Two key categories were affected by the current crisis: cashflow and the 
budget in relation to income and expenditure. The appendices to the report 
highlighted the potential financial impacts on budgets especially in relation to 
areas such as car parks and arts centres. They also highlighted less obvious 
areas such as planning and land charges, markets and commercial property 
income and commercial waste income. Several scenarios had been modelled 
based on potential timelines for easing of Covid-19 related lockdown 
restrictions. To date there were seven weeks of known figures, and longer 
projections would be utilised over the coming months when more information 
was known, with modelling updated accordingly.  
 
A fees and charges budget of £6.4m had been set in March 2020, however in 
the intervening period this had shown a loss of £365,000, with a total forecast 
loss in excess of £1m expected by the end of June. Depending upon the rate 
of recovery the full year impact could potentially be a loss of up to £3.5m. 
Although some costs could be offset, for example as the arts centres were 

5



 
 

closed there were no artists’ booking costs, there were several fixed costs 
which could not be reduced or mitigated. When the budget was originally set, 
£1m of savings had been included, but due to Covid-19 many programmes 
which would have delivered savings had been postponed. 
 
Appendix 1 to the report provided further scenario modelling. The scenarios 
had been shared across Lincolnshire with neighbouring authorities and 
partners to ensure a consistent methodology for both the pessimistic and 
optimistic figures. These would be reviewed on a regular basis and adjusted 
as necessary. 
 
The cashflow modelling at Appendix B had been agreed countywide with all 
authorities working collaboratively to ensure a consistent methodology. It 
showed greater detail in the main cash flow areas from both income and 
expenditure. The cashflow modelling had been compiled to ensure the Council 
continues to meet its responsibilities; specifically, contractual obligations, 
staffing costs, precept payments and supplier payments. Council Tax and 
Business Rates collections were reduced in April by £806,000 but this impact 
had been offset by the Government accelerating grant payments to the 
Council.  
 
The modelling had been stress tested with mitigating actions being taken, and 
investment balances placed in easy access funds where appropriate, should 
access to those investments be necessary. The Government had deferred the 
payment from the Council of Business Rates pooling for the months of April, 
May and June. Creditor payments had reduced as a result of the deferral of 
the capital programmes so the forecast average creditor payments of £5.2m 
were due to reduce to £3m until the programmes restarted.  
 
Council Tax and Business Rates were key income sources for the Council and 
were being monitored carefully. Council Tax income for April had been 
expected to be £8.501m however, the actual income was £8.137m, a shortfall 
of £364,000. Over 1,800 accounts had asked that instalments be deferred 
until later in the year. The Government had recently announced an expanded 
Retail Relief Scheme which meant that the number of accounts that were 
eligible for 100% business rate relief had increased. This had reduced the 
collectable amount of Business Rates from £43.319m to £27.101m, a 
reduction of £16.218m. The additional Section 31 grant would fully reimburse 
the Council for this shortfall; this was due to be received on a monthly basis. 
Over 50 businesses had asked for the instalments to be re-profiled for later in 
the financial year. The income expected from both Business Rates and 
Council Tax was monitored on a weekly basis so any impacts could be 
identified.  
 
The report also identified additional expenditure that had been incurred due to 
the response to Covid-19. Attention was drawn to the increase in bed and 
breakfast usage following the directive to provide housing for all homeless 
people in the district. £15,000 had been spent in one month on an additional 

6



 
 

346 nights of accommodation. Adaptations to Housing Revenue Account 
properties to accommodate more bedsits had resulted in 15 conversions at a 
total cost of £37,000. 
 
To date there had been two Government funding tranches to all local 
authorities totalling £3.2billion. In the first tranche the Council had received 
£64,622 but a larger sum was received in the second tranche following a 
review of the methods used to distribute the grant to lower tiered councils. 
Over £1.4m was received in total. Further funding would be required as the 
wider and longer-term impact of the crisis became clearer. A survey had been 
distributed from central Government for local authorities to complete to better 
understand the impact of Covid-19 across the sector. The Council has 
responded to the survey. 
 
Capital programmes for both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue 
Account have been re-profiled, with most schemes being deferred to later in 
the year. Large scale projects would be re modelled and phased in the context 
of the changes to the medium-term financial outlook, following the impact of 
the Government’s Covid-19 Recovery Strategy. 
 
The Government had announced several schemes during April and May to 
help businesses during the crisis and the Council had administered the 
schemes with the support of InvestSK. Schemes included the Extended Retail 
Relief Scheme - to date the Council had awarded £17.4m in grants under this 
scheme to 686 businesses. Funding to help small, rural, retail, leisure and 
hospitality businesses with their on going business costs during the crisis had 
been administered between two funds, a Small Business Grant Fund of 
£10,000 per business and a Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund of 
between £10,000 and £25,000 per business, depending upon its rateable 
value. To date £26m had been passed to 2,147 eligible businesses. A further 
announcement had been made by Government to extend the grant scheme 
for Councils to develop a discretionary scheme to support businesses that fell 
outside of the criteria for existing grant schemes. 
 
The Council had also been allocated £924,000 to provide financial support to 
working age claimants who were eligible for Council Tax support under the 
Council Tax Hardship Fund, with eligible claimants receiving £150. The 
remainder of the grant would be used for the discretionary hardship fund as it 
was anticipated that there may be an increase in applicants during the 
financial year. 
 
Members raised several comments and questions in discussion of the report, 
with additional information provided in response: 
 

 InvestSK worked with the Council to distribute business grants, using 
their business intelligence knowledge. The Council administered the 
grants whilst InvestSK encouraged and supported businesses to apply 
for the grants.  

7



 
 

 The Future High Street Fund submission would be presented to 
Council in July 2020 for approval ahead of it being presented to the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government for 
consideration. It was noted that currently the Future High Street Fund 
bid was in relation to Grantham although colleagues were working in 
partnership on how this could be used to help with other towns. 

 Officers confirmed that the Council Tax precept had already been set 
for the year, and the budget amendments would consider spend 
against available income – the Council Tax rates for the current year 
would not change from those previously agreed. 

 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources confirmed the 
Council’s commitment to leisure centre provision and the continuation 
of the project to refresh leisure provision in the district. He had also 
written to Robert Jenrick MP, Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, outlining concerns with funding 
considering the crisis and would keep the Committee updated. 

 South Kesteven District Council was in a better financial position than 
many other authorities, however lobbying of Central Government to 
offset costs associated with the Covid-19 crisis would continue.  

 An updated report on the financial position would be presented to the 
Cabinet at its meeting scheduled for 16 June 2020. The impact on the 
Arts Centres was unknown at this point and the assumptions made in 
the report were reasonable but would be kept under review.  

 All local authorities were being encouraged by the Government to log 
every cost both indirectly and directly attributable to the Covid-19 crisis, 
however there was no guarantee that every single cost lost through 
Covid-19 would be reimbursed. Sectors were being supported where 
possible, so they were not currently disadvantaged. Work was ongoing 
with the Government who had recognised that lower tier authorities, 
which were billing authorities, had been significantly impacted in key 
funding streams such as planning, car parking, leisure and land 
searches, and had amended the funding criteria accordingly to benefit 
lower tier authorities.  

 The Council had discretionary reserves of £12m, however if reserves 
were used to offset losses this would impact choices that the Council 
could make going forward. 

 A cost of £675,000 associated with the Grantham cinema was a one-off 
cost to reimburse the cinema for furniture. A commercial lease 
arrangement was in place with the Grantham cinema. The Council was 
supporting specific commercial tenants with deferred rentals for the 
period April to June 2020, which would be reviewed and reprofiled. The 
longer-term impact was unknown. 

 84% of businesses had applied for and received grants totalling over 
£26m so far. The remaining 16% of business either did not apply or 
were not eligible; a 100% response was not anticipated. Unspent grant 
funding would be returned to Government. 

 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources shared with the 
Committee that the Cabinet Member for Communities was keen to 

8



 
 

continue the Community Hub and discussions were taking place to see 
how the Hub could work in the future.  

 In connection with the deferral of rents it was confirmed that the rents 
were only suspended for the period April to June 2020, and the amount 
would be due later in the year. The funding provided by the 
Government contained no caveats as to how businesses used the 
money. 

 The work to Housing Revenue Account (HRA) properties which had 
seen them converted to bedsits could be reversed if necessary. 

 Members raised concerns regarding the continuing financial viability 
and pressure on funding streams for arts centres, car parking and 
commercial income should social distancing continue. Further 
comments were made about the income deficits and the cash flow, 
referencing the business rates and pressures on the HRA and capital 
schemes which may need to be deferred. It was felt that more clarity 
was needed to understand the underlying financial risk and the future 
viability of services. 

 The assumptions contained in the modelling had been used following 
consultation with Section 151 Officers in Lincolnshire and the Section 
151 Financial Officer Group. 

 Examples provided in modelling could not be absolute as the impact 
and ongoing recovery was unknown at the present time.  

 
Members requested clarification on costs relating to personal protection 
equipment (PPE). The Interim Director of Finance would circulate detail in 
relation to PPE to Members after the meeting.  
 
The Chairman thanked the Interim Director of Finance and his team for their 
work in administering and distributing the grants. The Chairman asked for 
more information on the impact that Covid-19 would have on larger projects 
such as St Martins Park and he asked for a register indicating what projects 
would not be happening going forward and what costs were involved with 
delaying projects. 
 
The Interim Director of Finance was thanked for answering Members’ 
questions and was asked to provide a more detailed updated cashflow at 
future meetings of the Committee. The Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources extended his thanks to the Finance Team for its work 
 
Action points 
 

 More detail on costs associated with Personal Protection 
Equipment (PPE) to be circulated to Members. 

 A register was requested detailing which large projects would not 
be progressed at the current time and what costs would be 
incurred from any delays.  

 A financial and operation risk register and a detailed cashflow 
position were requested. 

9



 
 

 
67. Work Programme 

 
A draft Work Programme had been circulated to Members prior to the 
meeting, and Members were asked to comment on the draft and offer 
suggestions for additional items. Following discussion and in considering 
requests made earlier in the meeting, the following items were confirmed by 
the Chair: 
 
June Future High Street Fund 
 Financial Impact 
 Outturn 2019/20 
 Performance 2019/20 
 
July Welland Procurement annual report 
 
September  Quarter 1 Financials 
 Quarter 1 Performance 
 Car Park Review 
 Economic Development Strategy and role of InvestSK 
 
November  Quarter 2 Financials 
 Quarter 2 Performance 
 Review of Grantham Town Centre 
 Review of St Martins Park 
 
January Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 
 Special Expense Areas 
 
February  Quarter 3 Financials 
 Quarter 3 Performance 
 Development Infrastructure 
 
April  Quarter 4 Financials 
 Quarter 4 Performance 
 2020/21 Review and 2021/22 Work Programme Planning 
  
 
Unscheduled:  Proposed development brief for land at Stamford North 
   Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
 Leisure Services Proposals 
 
Members also requested that all meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic 
should include a financial risk register or current status in relation to cash flow 
projections. 
 

10



 
 

 Action Note 
 
That a Financial Risk Register outlining cash flow projection be included 
on the agenda going forward. 
 

68. Close of meeting 
 
Meeting closed at 12:20pm. 
 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

30 June 2020 

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson, Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Leisure 

   

         
  

 

Future High Street Fund 

A report recommending the submission of a Business Case for a Future High Street Scheme for 
Grantham on 31 July 2020 

 

Report Author 

Liz Bates, Head of Regeneration & Visitor Economy, InvestSK 

 
07971 722495 

 liz.bates@investsk.co.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Key Grantham St Wulfram's 

 

Reviewed by: Ken Lyon, Assistant Chief Executive 17 June 2020 

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director for Growth 18 May 2020 

Signed off by: Cllr Barry Dobson, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Growth and Leisure 

19 May 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To support the submission of a Future High Street Business Case for Grantham 
Town Centre and recommend that the Cabinet proceeds with the submission.  

13

Agenda Item 6

mailto:liz.bates@investsk.co.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Following a successful expression of interest, South Kesteven District Council was invited 

to submit a Business Case to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) for funding from the Future High Street Scheme for Grantham town 

centre. The objective of the scheme is to revitalise town centres across England by 

investing in key capital projects that will increase footfall, diversify the use of buildings and 

public spaces and provide a safe and welcoming environment.  

1.2 For Grantham, the vision set out in the expression of interest was that it will become a 

‘living town’, with a thriving, connected high street comprising a mix of retail, residential, 

employment and leisure uses. Given its connectivity and assets, Grantham has significant 

potential to play a prominent economic role in South Kesteven, but it is currently 

underperforming and struggles to attract footfall. Through the creation of high quality and 

inclusive spaces, Grantham will become a town in which all people want to live, shop and 

visit. Ultimately, the creation of a more engaging and attractive town centre will attract 

diverse business, residential and leisure opportunities, which will lead to greater economic 

sustainability and resilience going forward. This investment will reshape Grantham into a 

successful and vibrant town meeting the requirements of the 21st century.  

1.3 Following their work on the first-round submission, InvestSK was commissioned to 

develop the full business case. A revenue grant from MHCLG allowed for the required 

appointment of an external consultancy team who were tasked with developing a 

masterplan for the town centre, identifying key strategic projects to be funded and 

producing the business case. A full programme of internal and external consultation was 

undertaken to inform the Draft Business Case, which was submitted in March 2020. 

1.4 The consultancy team collated a long list of projects through research and consultation 

and refined this down to a number of recommended projects based on the criteria of the 

Future High Street scheme and the council’s priorities for Grantham. The final preferred 

option, as expressed in the Draft Business Case, included: 

- Public realm enhancement schemes 

- Developments within the town centre  

- Third party grants that bring vacant spaces within the town centre back into use 

These schemes fit into a wider strategic vision for Grantham Town Centre, which is 

expressed within the Masterplan (see Appendix 1).  

1.5 The total cost of the bid, as set out within the original draft Business Case, was 

£27,398,063 with a contribution from the Future High Street Fund of £12,296,034. The 

revenue contribution from SKDC was included at £379,092 over the proposed 4-year 

programme. The project costs for the original draft submission are attached in Appendix 2.  

1.6 The Draft Business Case received the following feedback from MHCLG: “This proposal 

gives a clear outline of the problems facing the high street in Grantham, and a detailed 

analysis of the underlying causes. The stakeholder engagement that has been carried out 

is helpful, and feeds into the strong overarching narrative. It is clear that a holistic 

approach has been taken to the vision of the area.” MHCLG noted that more information 

was required for the Final Business Case on the individual interventions, co funding and 

the exact nature of the public realm enhancement costs.  

14



 

 
 

1.7 The Draft Business Case is included as Appendix 6 to this report. This appendix is exempt 

under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 

because it contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual 

or organisation.  

1.8 The Final Business Case is due for submission on 31 July 2020. The consultancy team 

have been briefed based on feedback received from MHCLG and they are working to 

develop the additional evidence required for the Final Business Case. 

1.9 Advice received from MHCLG indicates that they will only consider grants of over £10 

million if a local authority can demonstrate an exceptional case for support. Therefore, it is 

considered the level of scrutiny and competition for bids above this threshold will be 

significantly higher. The project interventions included in the bid for Grantham will 

therefore be reviewed to enable the Future High Street grant contribution to be under the 

£10 million threshold.  

1.10 As of the date of this report, the final project intervention figures have still not been 

received as further work is required to develop the schemes and to ensure that the bid is 

under the £10 million threshold. This work includes review of the public realm projects by 

Lincolnshire County Council Highways Team as allowances within the draft were deemed 

to be too low for delivery. There was also concern over capital intervention costs for the 

one of the third-party grants, so this is also being reviewed and we are still awaiting the 

outcome. If these cannot be reduced, some projects may have to be removed from this 

bid. 

1.11 A further update on the final bid figures will be given at Full Council, including the 

proposed contribution from South Kesteven District Council. 

1.12 As noted within Section 7 below (7.2 and 7.4) the Council is required to provide match 

funding for the scheme, to demonstrate commitment and capacity to deliver the scheme to 

a high standard. The Business Case sets out the Council’s proposal to establish a ‘Town 

Team’, which will be a partnership body, initially resourced by the match funding provided 

and involving key stakeholders within the town such as landowners, businesses, 

community groups and representatives. The ‘Town Team’ would be chaired by a Council 

Member and tasked with co-ordinating activities that improved and rejuvenated the town 

centre according to an agreed action plan. The activities noted within section 7.4 below 

are those which have been highlighted within external consultation as priorities for this 

action plan. The intention would be for this body to become independent following the 

Future High Street scheme, to continue to work on the sustainability of the town centre in 

the longer term. For further information on this approach, the Into Places website provides 

further information and a case study on the regeneration of Altrincham, which was led by a 

similar body called ‘Altrincham Forward’ (https://www.intoplaces.co.uk/).  

1.13 The match funding also includes for a Town Centre Manager role, so that there is an 

officer employed by the Council with a full-time remit of delivering the action plan set out 

and agreed by the ‘Town Team’. The cost of administering the scheme, including 

monitoring and evaluation throughout the 4-year programme, is also allowed for within the 

budget. 

1.14 The combined impact of the proposed capital interventions within the scheme and these 

complimentary initiatives has been set out within the Business Case. MHCLG assesses 

economic impact on the basis of land value uplift. This uplift can be associated with a 

change of use, including bringing derelict or underused assets back into use. Alternatively, 

15

https://www.intoplaces.co.uk/


 

 
 

it can be driven by increased footfall, which can have a positive impact on spend, turnover, 

rents and therefore ultimately, land value.  

1.15 Evidence drawn from empirical research and case studies from the UK and beyond shows 

that encouraging walking in and around a town centre can increase retail and commercial 

values by between 10-30%. Public realm improvements are also shown to boost 

commercial trade and values by up to 40%. Good quality urban design and quality green 

spaces are also shown to increase property prices on rents by between 20-50%. 

Research by Historic England also shows that investment in regeneration schemes that 

enhance the historic built environment of a place has a positive impact on people’s 

decisions to live, work and visit.  

1.16 The proposals seek to address some of the current challenges faced by Grantham 

including poor accessibility, a poor town centre experience, a declining retail offer and 

limited diversification of uses. Town centre traffic congestion and pedestrian safety also 

currently has a negative economic impact. Each individual project intervention has been 

designed to address one or more of these factors and seeks to access this external 

investment in order to deliver schemes that would otherwise be unachievable due to 

market failure or lack of resource at a local authority level.  

1.17 The key indicator of economic benefit as set out in Economic Case within the bid is the 

value for money assessment, expressed as a Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR). This calculation 

analyses the benefits of the proposed project interventions in terms of the cost per £1 

generated in the local economy. The higher the ratio, the greater the return per pound 

invested in the project. The option expressed within the Draft Business Case had a BCR 

of 2.1 which (based on government guidance) represents high value for money.  

1.18 On the basis that South Kesteven District Council is bidding for a grant of c.£10 million 

and contributing a total fund of c.£460,000, this also represents a return of £21.74 on 

every £1 invested by the Council.  

1.19 A full monitoring and evaluation programme will be undertaken at key milestones within 

the scheme and on completion. This will be aligned with MHCLG guidance and will 

measure impact on footfall, business diversification and public perceptions of the impact of 

the scheme. Improvements to the high street experience will be measured in addition to 

an assessment of economic growth and impacts on longer term sustainability.  

1.20 This approach to town centre regeneration is being advocated at a national level by the 

High Streets Taskforce. The Taskforce is a consortium of organisations with the expertise, 

data insights and case studies to inform those towns who have not been able to access 

the Future High Streets programme. The Council is therefore able to work with InvestSK 

and key stakeholders within all towns in South Kesteven to prepare their own action plans 

and to identify the external resource they require to deliver these. Lessons learned from 

Grantham’s experiences, if successful with the funding, will be shared in order to ensure 

that the benefits of the scheme are also evident, in the longer term, in Market Deeping, 

Bourne and Stamford.  

1.21 The impact of Covid-19 on communities and businesses has put into sharp focus the 

importance of the regeneration of our town centres. South Kesteven District Council has a 

critical role to play in ensuring a safe return to our high streets in the short term and to 

increase confidence for businesses and investors in the longer term. The Council has 

recently adopted its Recovery Plan, which includes an aim to stimulate activities to support 

wider businesses with sector specific support. Our ambition for Grantham is that it 

16



 

 
 

becomes a catalyst for growth within the district and the County, by capitalising on its good 

transport links and significant potential for development. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 A Project Board was created for the Future High Streets and High Street Heritage Action 

Zone schemes. The membership of the board included the Leader, Deputy Leader and 

Cabinet members; SKDC senior officers, and representatives from Lincolnshire County 

Council and Historic England. The Board has met in November 2019, January 2020 and 

February 2020, as well as informally between those meetings, to review information 

provided by the consultancy team, advise on the strategy within the bid and to take key 

decisions as the development of the bid progressed. 

2.2 Technical consultation meetings were held with SKDC officers on housing, highways, 

planning, master planning, project management and governance.  

2.3 InvestSK promoted the opportunity and invited feedback and input at events such as 

Business Breakfasts and Annual Review meetings.  

2.4 Consultation meetings were held with key stakeholders including Buckminster Estates, 

Grantham Estates and Linpet properties.  

2.5 In addition, InvestSK commissioned Soundings, a community engagement consultancy, 

through the MHCLG-funded bid preparation budget, to undertake a public survey on views 

of the town centre, and 441 surveys were completed. Analysis of the results of this survey 

was undertaken and this analysis was provided with this report (see Appendix 3). 

2.6 Soundings also worked with InvestSK to organise and deliver two workshops for local 

businesses and stakeholders and these were attended by 44 people. The Grantham 

Engagement Report, provided with this report (see Appendix 4), has been produced to 

demonstrate how the feedback gained from these engagement activities has fed into the 

design of the Future High Streets scheme.  

2.7 The Final Business Case has been discussed by the Project Board on 2 June, and by 

Cabinet on 16 June. The budget allocation from SKDC will also be considered by Full 

Council on 16 July.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Option 1 ‘Do nothing’. This would have involved not preparing a bid for the Future High 

Streets Fund. Given the Council’s clear imperative to boost Grantham’s economic, social 

and cultural performance, and the rare opportunity of Government funding of this scale 

that the Future High Streets Fund presents, the ‘Do nothing’ option was not considered an 

appropriate option to pursue. 

3.2 Option 2 ‘Preferred Option’. As noted above, a clear set of criteria was used to consider a 

long list of projects that were considered as part of the development of this bid. This 

consideration included reference to the following factors:  

 Future High Street Fund criteria such as deliverability and building the town’s 

resilience to external factors; 

 Improving access into Grantham town centre, and perceptions of the town to 

celebrate its unique identity of Grantham and the visitor experience; 

 Improving key infrastructure to support local businesses and the enjoyment of public 

spaces to promote well-being; 

17



 

 
 

 Increasing the role and prominence of Grantham’s cultural offer was considered 

important to promote a longer daytime and evening economy; 

 Bringing derelict and underused buildings and sites back into productive use, in key 

locations, to drive economic activity. 

3.3 Option 3 ‘Alternative Option’. Other projects on the long list of potential interventions were 

carefully considered but have not been taken forward as the preferred option, on the basis 

that they would have weakened the bid on the following grounds: 

 They would have undermined the Benefit Cost Ratio of the bid, which is a critical 

aspect of MHCLG’s assessment of any bid for funding; 

 Viability and deliverability were weaker than the preferred projects which would have 

reduced MHCLG’s confidence in the scheme coming forward within the 4-year 

timeframe; 

 Alternative projects would have resulted in lesser impact on the economic or physical 

infrastructure of the town centre. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The process of applying the above criteria and the analysis of the consultation data and 

feedback has informed the preferred option, as set out in sections 1 and 3.2 above.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The recommendation is for the Finance, Economic Development Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee to support this bid as i) if successful, the grant from 

MHCLG will offer a high rate of return on the Council’s investment and ii) that the positive 

social and economic impact that has been forecast would be beneficial primarily for  

Grantham town centre but also in informing the regeneration of other town centres in 

South Kesteven.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Full Council in July will be asked to approve SKDC’s financial commitments on 16 July. 

The final version of the Business Case will be reviewed and approved by members of the 

Project Board before submission on 31 July.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial implications for this project are detailed in Appendix 2. Clarification is being 

sought from MHCLG that the Council, as the accountable body, can transfer the grant 

associated with the public realm works on Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) assets to 

LCC to complete the works as this will remove any potential VAT implications. 

7.2 The cost for a Future High Street Manager and Project Officer have been capitalised and 

apportioned against the project interventions.  

7.3 The Council’s contribution towards this project is £379,092 of revenue cost which includes 

the cost of a full time Town Centre Manager, the establishment of a Town Team (or 

equivalent) and administrative costs. A proportion of this is to cover administration and 

overheads of InvestSK as the delivery body for the Future High Street Scheme, estimated 

at £75,596. This is envisaged as being met from existing InvestSK budgets over the 4 

years of the programme.  

18



 

 
 

7.4 The revenue costs do not include funding for street greening, public art, seating, urban 

lighting or wayfinding; all of which have been deemed as high priorities within the 

consultation process. The Council could apply for external funding for these costs, but it is 

estimated that one-off match funding of £80,000 would be required.  

7.5 There will be on-going maintenance costs associated with the public realm works, once 

these costs have been established, they will be included in future reports. 

The total of the Future High Street Fund contribution is not yet determined at the time of 

compiling the report. However, the contribution of the Council is expected to remain at the 

level set out in the report. It is further expected that certain elements of the schemes will 

be delivered by third parties. As the Council will be the accountable body for the grant, it is 

important to ensure that robust governance arrangements are in place with those third 

parties to ensure there are no increases in costs.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison HallWright, Head of Finance & 

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The management case within the Future High Street bid sets out the governance 

structures and management procedures involved in the delivery of the scheme. This is 

was included within the draft bid and will be shared as a Final Draft before submission.  

8.2 As noted in section 10.2 below, SKDC needs to ensure that any State Aid implications 

arising from the scheme are mitigated.  

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Implications of the proposals for the town centre have been fully considered. There are no 

safeguarding implications arising from the bid, but equality is relevant in terms of the 

improvements proposed. 

9.2 An Equality Impact (Initial) Assessment (see Appendix 5) has been carried out and this did 

not identify any potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to 

promote equality have been taken.  

9.3 The public realm enhancements will have a positive impact in terms of age and disability 

due to improvements in accessibility, pedestrian safety and amenity. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The impact of Covid-19 on the local economy, businesses within the town centre and our 

private sector partners is being fully considered within the bid. The Final Business Case 

will acknowledge the impact on the market engagement proposals with the private sector 

and there will be an emphasis on the support the Council can offer to facilitate this where 

necessary. A full assessment of risk and mitigation strategies will be included within the 

Final Business Case and this will be based on: 

a) an assessment of the impact on the economy at a national level 

b) intelligence from the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership at a more local 

level 

c) results from the recent Business Survey undertaken by InvestSK. 

19



 

 
 

10.2 There are some land ownership issues to be addressed. For the Final Bid submission 

there is a requirement for Heads of Terms to be signed by both the Council and the 

relevant property owners. Mitigation - the SKDC Property Team is working closely with 

officers on the development of the bid to ensure the acquisition is secured.  

10.3 The proposed route to market for the proposed new development within the Business 

Case will need to be State Aid compliant. There are several delivery models that could be 

used to facilitate compliance, and SKDC will secure legal opinion before submission of the 

Final Business case. Mitigation – the SKDC Legal and Property Team have sought 

external legal advice to ensure compliance.  

10.4 The following financial risks could affect the FHSF project in Grantham:  

10.4.1 Market appetite for released land and sites does not materialise. Mitigation – monitor 

market conditions and undertake soft market testing in line with public procurement 

procedures  

10.4.2 Existence of small unregistered parcels of land complicates acquisition process. Mitigation 

- land ownership pattern already established and initial discussions with landowners have 

already occurred.  

10.4.3 Capital costs exceed initial estimates. Mitigation – capital costs have been prepared by a 

professional quantity surveying practise. Appropriate contingencies have been included 

and examined by the relevant Section 151 officer.  

10.5 A Project Risk Register has been created in draft and will be refined in advance of the final 

submission.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 Community safety, in terms of crime and disorder, has been fully considered in the 

development of the Future High Street bid.  

11.2 The capital projects proposed will involve increased lighting and will ensure that public 

spaces are open, ensuring that no ‘blind spots’ are created in terms of CCTV coverage.  

11.3 As the capital projects are developed in more detail, the Architectural Liaison Officer from 

Lincolnshire Police will be involved in the design to advise further.  

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a ‘climate emergency’? 

12.1 The developments proposed within the Future High Street Scheme will increase the 

carbon footprint due to the construction involved in these capital projects. However, there 

are mechanisms to monitor and reduce this impact, such as using sustainable materials 

and construction methods.  

12.2 The introduction of street greening and other carbon efficiency initiatives through the 

activity elements of the scheme could also help to reduce the carbon footprint created in 

delivery phase. 

12.3 In the longer term, the interventions are intended to encourage increased pedestrian 

movement through the town centre and the increased use of public transport. By 

improving the gateways into the town and pedestrian access around the town, this will 

reduce traffic and therefore reduce the carbon footprint further over time.  

20



 

 
 

12.4 The Council’s political ambition to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint by at least 30% 

and to endeavour to be net-zero carbon as soon as viable before 2050 will be included 

within the job description for the Town Centre Manager and the constitution of the 

proposed ‘Town Team’ body, so that measures are implemented during the project 

programme and in forward strategies. 

12.5 Rehabilitation and reuse of currently under-utilised brownfield land, with appropriately 

designed new development, will contribute to the environmental efficiency of Grantham. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 None 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1: Grantham Town Centre Spatial Masterplan 

15.2 Appendix 2: Future High Street Project Costs (Draft Business Case) 

15.3 Appendix 3: Grantham Engagement Report 

15.4 Appendix 4: Grantham Engagement Appendices 

15.5 Appendix 5: Equality Assessment (Initial) 

15.6 Appendix 6: Draft Business Case (this appendix is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 

12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) because it contains information 

relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual or organisation) 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

4 June 2020 

Previously Considered by: Cabinet 16 June 2020 

Final Decision date   30 June 2020 

 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Grantham Future High Street Fund (FHSF)
Town Centre Spatial Masterplan 
Prepared for InvestSK
March 2020

Alan Baxter

23

A
ppendix 1



Alan BaxterGrantham FHSF/  March 2020

24



Grantham Future High Street Fund (FHSF) 
Town Centre Spatial Masterplan 
InvestSK
March 2020

Contents
1.0 Introduction ..................................................................................................1
1.1 Background ....................................................................................................... 1

2.0 Context and character ..............................................................................3
2.1 Local Planning Context ................................................................................ 3
2.2 Town Centre Evolution ................................................................................. 5
2.3 Grantham Town Centre today................................................................... 7
2.4 Town Centre Land ownership  ................................................................11

3.0 Summary SWOT analysis ......................................................................13
3.1 Town Centre Strengths ..............................................................................13
3.2 Town Centre Weaknesses .........................................................................15
3.3 Town Centre Opportunities .....................................................................19
3.4 Town Centre Threats ...................................................................................22

4.0 FHSF project identification ...............................................................................................23
4.1 FHSF long list of projects .........................................................................................................23
4.2 Critical Success Factors .............................................................................................................25
4.3 Review of long list projects against critical success factors.  .....................................26
4.4 FHSF options appraisal .............................................................................................................31

5.0 Spatial Masterplan ................................................................................................................33
5.1 Public realm Strategy ................................................................................................................35

6.0 Shortlisted project details  ................................................................................................37
6.1 Station Approach ........................................................................................................................37
6.2 George Centre ..............................................................................................................................41
6.3 Above the shop conversion ...................................................................................................42
6.4 Westgate backlands...................................................................................................................43
6.5 Public realm projects .................................................................................................................45

Appendix A:  Landuse plans (GOAD plans)

25



Alan Baxter1Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

1.0  Introduction

The findings are summarised in a SWOT analysis (key strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities and threats) in relation to land use, vacancy rates, character 
and urban form, pedestrian and vehicle movement patterns, heritage assets, 
landscape and public realm. The analysis has been used to refine the scope of 
the FHSF programme and to identify the long list of projects and initiatives.

The second part of this report presents an initial Spatial Masterplan for 
Grantham, and design details for individual projects which have been included 
within the FHSF Business Case. 

The Spatial Masterplan will be refined through further community engagement 
and design testing, and will provide a long-term spatial vision for Grantham 
informing future planning policy.

1.1 Background
InvestSK is South Kesteven District Council’s economic growth and regeneration 
company and is leading on the development of the Future High Street Fund 
(FHSF) bid for Grantham. InvestSK has commissioned Alan Baxter, together with 
Avison Young, Hatch Regeneris, Andrew Morton Associates and Soundings, to 
develop a Business Case and a Spatial Masterplan for the Grantham FHSF bid. 
This report summarises our spatial analysis of the town centre leading to the 
identification of key transformational projects which are to be considered for 
inclusion in the FHSF bid. 

A review of the available evidence base has been undertaken to understand the 
baseline conditions affecting the town centre.  Sources of information include 
national and local policy documents, South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) 
Local Plan, Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) transport proposals, findings 
from the Historic England Urban Panel, FHSF Expression of Interest, High Street 
Heritage Action Zone bid and previous consultant studies.

Our findings have been informed by: 

•	 Site visits to the town centre

•	 1:1 meetings with the Planning Policy team, Growth team, LCC Highways, 
and key town centre landowners

•	 Briefing sessions with InvestSK (the client) and the wider project team

•	 Stakeholder visioning workshops and street survey engagement (see 
separate consultation report by Soundings) 

1.0  
Introduction

26



Alan Baxter2Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

1.0  Introduction

Fig. 1: Grantham Town Centre Aerial Image

W
es

tg
at

e

Wharf  Road

Station  Road

St  Wulfram’s 
Church

St  Peter’s Hill

H
igh Street

Conservation Area Boundary

FHSF town centre boundary

27



Alan Baxter3Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

2.0  
Context and character

The Grantham town centre boundary and the Primary Shopping frontages are defined on the 

Policies Map.

Within the town centre, development or reuse of buildings for a range of uses including retail, 

leisure, offices, food and drink, cultural and residential will be supported.

Within the Primary Shopping frontages proposals for new premises, conversions or change of 

use to A1 retail (shops) will be encouraged, subject to the proposal contributing positively to 

the character and appeal of the town centre.

Other A-uses will be supported provided that they positively contribute to the Town Centre 

either through generating footfall or providing supplementary uses, i.e. banks, cafes.

Within the town centre boundary, proposals for A–uses will be supported, as well as proposals 

for Offices (B1), Health Care, Day Nurseries, (D1) and leisure and tourism related uses, i.e. 

cinema, recreation facilities (D2) and appropriate residential development on upper floors, 

provided that the use does not cause undue harm to the  character and appeal of the town 

centre, nor generate “dead shopping frontages”.

2.1 Local Planning Context
2.1.1 Local Plan, 2020
The South Kesteven Local Plan was adopted by South Kesteven District 
Council (SKDC) on 30 January 2020.  The Plan seeks to strengthen Grantham’s 
role as a Sub-Regional Centre through significant employment growth and 
the allocation of sites for 4,979 homes, supported by the delivery of a new 
junction to the A1 and a Southern Relief Road. A Sustainable Urban Extension 
is proposed to the south of the town at Spitalgate Heath, with further housing 
growth to the north and north west of the town. 

Policy GR4 deals with Grantham Town Centre:

Other adopted guidance documents covering the town centre are: 
•	 Grantham Townscape Character Assessment

•	 Grantham Conservation Area Appraisal, 2009

•	 Greyfriars Development Brief SPD, 2012

•	 Wharf Place Development Brief SPD, 2012

A number of masterplanning studies have been undertaken for the town 
centre including the 2007, draft Grantham Town Centre Masterplan and the 
2020, Grantham Prospectus which presents a list of potential development 
opportunities in Grantham. Neither have formal planning status.  

The preference is for A1 retail uses to be located within the Primary Shopping frontages.

Proposals for A1 retail uses in the wider town centre boundary will be supported provided that 

they positively contribute to the town centre.

Proposals supporting the generation of an evening economy within the Town Centre will be 

encouraged. The re-development of the St Peter’s Hill area will be supported provided that 

proposals encourage footfall into the town centre and support the evening economy.

A sequential approach will be applied to the location of proposals for main town centre uses 

which prioritises sites within the town centre ahead of edge of centre sites. Out of centre 

locations will only be considered if sequentially preferable sites are not available.

Retail impact assessments are required to accompany proposals for main town centre uses 

in edge of centre or out of centre locations where the gross floorspace proposed is above 

1,000sqm. 

28



Alan Baxter4Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

Fig. 2: SKDC Local Plan Town Centre Policies Map

N

29



Alan Baxter5Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

The town continued to prosper in the 19th century with the construction of the 
railways; the new passenger line between Grantham and Nottingham opened  
in 1850, followed by the Great Northern Railway line in 1852 which connected 
the town with London, Peterborough and Doncaster. The railway boosted 
the engineering industry and Grantham became an important manufacturing 
centre with Westgate as the centre of rural commerce with agricultural service 
industries.

In the 20th century the town continued to grow with the development of outer 
residential suburbs. Within the town centre, Sankt Augustin Way and Greyfriars 
housing estate were created to the east of the railway line, with the later 
addition of large format retail uses including ASDA and Next. Conduit Lane and 
Union Street were reconfigured to create a vehicle connection to Market Place. 

Land to the north of Wharf Road including historic north-south streets was 
cleared, to enable the development of the Isaac Newton Shopping Centre, 
Morrisons supermarket, bus station and multi-storey car park. Other historic 
areas of the town centre have remained largely intact and are protected by 
designation as a conservation area with many listed buildings. 

2.2 Town Centre Evolution
The market town of Grantham lies about 24 miles southwest of Lincoln along 
the course of the River Witham and is surrounded by the undulating Kesteven 
Uplands and a high proportion of historic woodlands. Archaeological evidence 
indicates that the town was populated by isolated farmsteads during the Bronze 
and Iron Ages. 

The medieval town developed around St Wulfram’s Church between the River 
Witham to the east and Mowbeck to the west (beyond today’s railway line) 
and extended southwards to St Peters Hill. It consisted of five main streets 
which continue to lie at the heart of the modern day town centre: Swinegate, 
Castlegate, Westgate, Market Place and Watergate (earlier called Walkergate). 
Tenement buildings lined the eastern edge of Swinegate with shops on the 
ground floor and gardens, orchards, stables, wood yards and malt-floors to the 
rear whilst burgage buildings were located to the west of Swinegate and along 
Westgate.

The town began to expand rapidly during the 18th century; many small and 
medium sized houses were built along Castlegate and Westgate and new 
streets with terraced housing were built on the outskirts of the town centre. The 
Great North Road, the main coaching route between London and Edinburgh, 
ran through the town along High Street from 1600 until the mid 19th century.

30



Alan Baxter6Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

Fig. 3: Grantham Town Centre 1888 Fig. 4: Grantham Town Centre today

31



Alan Baxter7Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

2.3 Grantham Town Centre today
Grantham town centre is within the adminstration of South Kesteven District 
Council in south west of Lincolnshire. It is well-connected by strategic transport 
links: the A1 lies to the west of the town; and the East Coast mainline station, 
with fast connections to London and the North, lies just to the south of the town 
centre. The town centre and its immediate surroundings comprise the following 
land uses and facilities:

Retail
•	 Retail is the predominant land use within the core of the town centre. 

Westgate has an attractive historic townscape with a range of small-scale 
independent shops including convenience and comparison retail, cafes, 
pubs and restaurants. To the north around Market Place there is an emphasis 
on food and drink, but it is affected by a number of poorly maintained and 
vacant properties. A small shopping mall, the George Centre is located in this 
area, and has high levels of vacancy. 

•	 The retail offer along High Street and the Isaac Newton Centre is focused 
on high street multiples, including Morrison’s supermarket, large discount 
retailers, banks, post office, cafes and restaurants and the town library. 
The Isaac Newton Centre presents a blank frontage to Wharf Road, which 
together with the adjacent multi-storey car park, bus station, high volumes 
of traffic, and low grade  retail units on the street’s southern side create a 
poor quality environment at the southern edge of the town centre. 

•	 Beyond the core of the town centre, retail uses stretch south along London 
Road with a mix of small convenience outlets and retail parks. Towards the 
west comparison retail at Sankt Augustin/A52, turns its back to the centre 
despite being adjacent to the town centre core. Further west, beyond the 
railway line, are larger retail units including TKMaxx.

Cultural Quarter
•	 The town centre has an established Cultural Quarter located at St Peter’s Hill. 

It is a destination within the town centre with designated heritage assets and 
landmark buildings though it is separated from the rest of the town centre 
by traffic on St Peter’s Hill /High Street.  It comprises the Guildhall Arts Centre 
hosting a range of performances and films, the Museum which has a local 
history focus, the new Savoy Cinema and University Centre, the Council’s 
civic centre, together with other leisure facilities and restaurants. St Peter’s 
Hill Gardens is a large formal green space, but is dilapidated and difficult 
for pedestrians to access due to the busy A52 and parallel road outside the 
Guildhall. 

Station Approach
•	 Grantham railway station is located to the south of the town centre. 

Adjacent land uses are dominated by surface parking, Jewsons builders’ 
merchants and a vehicle tyre depot. This is one of the key entry points to the 
town centre but has particularly poor townscape character, with little visible 
relationship to the town centre.

Housing and mixed use
•	 To the west of the town centre lies the Greyfriars housing estate, a late 

20th century social housing estate. The surrounding area has a fragmented 
character, with a mix of uses including retail sheds fronting the A52, offices 
and office accommodation and large areas of surface car parking and 
underutilised service areas to the rear of Westgate. 

•	 There is limited housing within the core of the town centre itself, 
the exception being Greyfriar’s Estate. Inner residential suburbs to 
the immediate east, north and south of the town centre comprise 
predominantly, 2-3 storey housing from the early 20th century and earlier, in 
a terrace or semi-detached form.

32



Alan Baxter8Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

Fig. 5: Town Centre and hinterland, predominant land use

N

33



Alan Baxter9Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

Light industry
•	 The railway line forms a hard boundary due to a limited number of crossing 

points. Further west, the land beyond the railway line is occupied by light 
industry and retail sheds and the Grantham Canal to the south. This area 
forms another important, but poor quality approach to the town centre from 
the western side.

St Wulfram’s Church and its surroundings
•	 To the north of the town centre is the Grade I listed Norman church located 

within a green space with mature trees. It is a landmark building having 
one of the highest spires in England with key views from various locations 
especially along Westgate. The views are often lost at the street level.

•	 The church area is bounded by attractive historic buildings on Church Street, 
Castlegate, Swinegate and Bluegate. In total there are almost 200 listed 
buildings within the town centre, including the Grantham House, Kings 
School and School House and the Angel and Royal Public House and the 
Grade II* George Hotel (now part of the George Shopping Centre) and Vine 
House. Much of this area is designated as the Grantham Conservation Area.

River corridor
•	 To the east of the town centre lies the River Witham lined with mature 

trees and flanked by allotments and rear gardens. Towards the north of this 
corridor is Wyndham Park, a First World War memorial park comprising a 
range of leisure and recreational uses. The blue/green corridor of the River is 
an important asset close to the town centre, which provides green amenity 
space to the local community. Links to the town centre are currently limited 
but have potential for improvement. 

The current GOAD land use plans for the town centre are included in the 
Appendix. 

Market Place

Guildhall Arts Centre, Cultural Quarter

34



Alan Baxter10Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

River Witham

Wyndham Park

Station Road Morrisons multi storey car park

High Street Westgate 

35



Alan Baxter11Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

2.4 Town Centre Land ownership 
South Kesteven District Council are significant public sector landowners within 
the FHSF town centre boundary area, with control of larger sites at the edge 
of the centre including Greyfriars housing estate, Council offices and facilities 
within the Cultural Quarter and other smaller parcels of land. 

There are a number of major private landowners including Buckminster, 
Morrisons, and Grantham Estates, with whom InvestSK have a positive dialogue. 

Morrisons control a large area of land to the north of Wharf Road including 
the Isaac Newton Shopping Centre and adjacent car park. Buckminster 
landownership is predominantly along Westgate, Market Place and High Street, 
but also includes the retail park on Sankt Augustin Way.  

There a large number of smaller private landholdings in the historic core of the 
town centre reflecting historic property boundaries.36



Alan Baxter12Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

2.0  Context and character

Fig. 6: Town Centre Land ownership

N

37



Alan Baxter13Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

Good schools
There are a number of secondary schools in the town; two Grammar schools, 
including the 16th century King’s School located within the town centre and 
a Further Education College. There are also a number of future opportunities 
emerging on the educational front with the new University Centre being set 
up in the cultural quarter and interest expressed by landowner, Buckminster 
Estates, to set up a new school in Poplar Farm.

Blue-Green River Witham Corridor
The Blue-Green River Witham Corridor towards east of the town centre offers 
valuable green space and there is potential to strengthen east-west connectivity 
by linking the river corridor to the town centre. 

Engaged landowners
The Council shares a positive relationship with many of the town centre’s major 
landowners who have been actively engaging with the regeneration process 
in the town centre. The Council themselves have the freehold or leasehold of a 
number of land parcels within the town centre. 

Strategic connectivity
The town centre is strategically located next to the A1 and the East Coast 
mainline - providing excellent connections both by road and rail. London and 
Leeds are just over an hour away by train, and the A52 provides fast connections 
to the Midlands. 

Positive impact of the Relief Road
The Southern Relief Road, currently under construction, and due for completion 
in 2022/23 would potentially create a positive impact by alleviating traffic 
congestion and removing heavy good vehicles (HGVs) from the centre of the 
town.

3.0  
Summary SWOT analysis
This section summarises the town centre’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities 
and threats  (SWOT) drawing on our town-wide analysis and feedback from 
stakeholder engagement, and informs the prioritisation of projects for the FHSF 
bid and the longer term masterplan strategy. 

3.1 Town Centre Strengths
Grantham’s key strengths include: 

Historic townscape quality
The town centre contains a rich built heritage including a high proportion of 
designated heritage assets and many 18th and 19th century buildings making 
positive contribution to the townscape character particularly along Westgate 
and Castlegate. 

The Grade I listed Wulfram’s Church and its immediate setting are highly valued 
within the town centre conservation area. St Wulfram’s spire dominates the 
skyline and the views to the spire are one of the defining characteristics of 
Grantham, being visible from both long distance and short distance.

Independent retailers
There are a healthy number of independent retailers particularly along 
Westgate which suggests passive/latent catchment spend potential. Retailers 
have contributed positively towards improving the quality of the historic 
environment through the Partnership Scheme in Conservation Areas (PSICA). 

Cultural quarter
The cultural quarter within the town centre forms another focal point and 
contains a wide range of positive assets including the Guildhall Arts Centre, 
museum, the Savoy Cinema and the emerging University Centre. 

38



Alan Baxter14Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

Fig. 7: Town centre strengths

N

39



Alan Baxter15Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

3.2 Town Centre Weaknesses
The town centre’s weaknesses that need to be taken into consideration are as 
follows:

Poor perceptions 
Perceptions of the town centre are mixed, with some negative perceptions in 
comparison to other nearby centres including Newark, Nottingham, Lincoln and 
Peterborough, resulting in market leakage.

Poor first impressions upon arrival
The main entry points into the town centre - the Station approach, the St Peter’s 
Hill/London Road junction, the ASDA roundabout, the Watergate Road / North 
Street junctions and to the south the London Road / Springfield Road junction 
are all of poor quality due to traffic dominated intersections and large surface 
car parks, poor pedestrian connectivity to the town centre, poor public realm 
and lack of intensive use or activity. 

In particular, the Station approach entry into the town centre is a dark, low 
quality route leading to a traffic dominated 5-arm intersection. The railway 
station building itself is surrounded by underutilised brown field land, surface 
car parking and narrow alleyways at the back of the residential properties which 
have a poor quality townscape character. There is no sense of arrival and limited 
visibility of the town centre from the Station Road. 

The northern approaches and London Road junctions have also been 
highlighted as poor quality entry points in the consultation. 

Low quality townscape areas
Although there are many areas of fine historic townscape, the townscape 
character around arrival zones and along the main approach Station Road is of 
poor quality. The Isaac Newton car park and the adjacent bus layover facility 
creates a loose open character to Wharf Road, while Morrisons presents a blank 
wall to the street. Many other streets within the town centre also have a broken 
frontage particularly along A52 where the road is flanked by surface car parking 
and underused service areas. There are significant areas of vacant/underutilized 
land, particularly to the west of Westgate around Greyfriars. The Market Place 
lacks a sense of enclosure as a result of the widening of Conduit Lane. 

High vacancies 
Vacancy rates within the town centre are as high as 16% with a high proportion 
of vacant units on the High Street and The George Centre.

Lack of Town Centre Management 
The town centre does not have a Town Centre Management Company (TCM) 
and narrowly voted against establishing a Business Improvement District (BID).

Multiple land ownerships & limited public sector land
The town centre is under multiple land ownerships with limited public sector 
ownership. 

No detailed Town Centre Policy 
There is no adopted town centre masterplan to guide development and 
encourage investment in the town centre.

40



Alan Baxter16Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

Fig. 8: Town centre weaknesses

N

41



Alan Baxter17Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

Traffic and parking
The key streets within the town centre including Wharf Road and the High 
Street are overly dominated by traffic, in particular HGVs, resulting in poor air 
quality, high noise levels and significant severence to pedestrian connectivity. 
The situation is exacerbated by the presence of on-street parking on the main 
roads. 

Barriers to movement & legibility
The railway line acts as a barrier to movement between the industrial and 
housing development towards west of the railway line and the town centre to 
the east. The High Street, with its 4-lane carriageway along St. Peter’s Hill and 
on-street parking also acts as a barrier to movement, disconnecting the cultural 
quarter with the rest of the town centre. In general, the town centre lacks legible 
pedestrian routes. 

Disjointed public transport
The railway station and the bus station are situated in separate locations making 
it difficult for commuters and visitors to take advantage of modal interchanges.

Large area of surface parking
The town centre contains a number of surface car parks with unappealing, large 
areas of tarmac often fronting the street. The car parking supply in and around 
the town centre is anecdotally below capacity (a car parking strategy is to be 
prepared by the County Council to review this). 

Poor quality approach to town via Station Road

42



Alan Baxter18Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

Fig. 9: Existing transport and movement issues 

N

43



Alan Baxter19Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

Opportunities for transformational change
There are a number of potential transformative development sites within the 
town centre, which include (with reference to figure 10):

A - Station Approach
The Station Approach (which includes Station Road, the adjacent underutilised 
Jewson and Tanvic sites and surface car parks) provides an opportunity for 
creating a distinctive arrival point to Grantham driving footfall in the direction of 
the town centre and providing a mixed-use offer which could act as a catalyst to 
stimulate development activity in other parts of the town centre.

B - Wharf Road and Greenwood Close
A centrally located opportunity to redevelop and re-configure the street layout 
of sites to the north of Wharf Road, including the Isaac Newton shopping centre, 
the adjacent surface car parking, multi-storey car park, bus station and the post 
office to provide a high quality mixed-use offer with commercial and office 
space fronting Wharf Road and enhanced pedestrian connections to the High 
Street and Westgate.  
 
The Greenwood Close car park behind the shopping centre provides an 
adjacent potential area for development which would bring life into the heart of 
the town centre and improve east-west links.

C - Westgate backlands and Greyfriars
An opportunity to develop unused and derelict land around Westgate 
backlands for high value mixed-use or residential offer which could help in 
revitalising northern parts of the town centre, together with the regeneration of 
Greyfriars housing estate.

D – Watergate 
An opportunity to improve the northern approach to the town centre 
through the creation of new built frontage to Watergate and public realm 
enhancements.

3.3 Town Centre Opportunities
Taking on board Grantham’s strengths and weaknesses, there are a range 
of opportunities to deliver positive change which the FHSF programme and 
Masterplan can support including: 

Establish the town centre’s role
Through the FHSF regeneration programme, there is an opportunity to 
strengthen Grantham’s role as sub-regional centre within Lincolnshire with the 
aim of bringing the town centre back to life and creating a place where people 
from different communities could live, work, shop, access services and enjoy 
spending their leisure time.

Strategic growth areas
The SKDC Local Plan strategic site allocations for housing and employment in 
and around Grantham provide an opportunity to capture the spending power 
of the town’s growing population. The Designer Outlet Village along with the 
Downtown Retail Village are anticipated to attract around 3 million visitors to 
the southern doorstep of Grantham whilst major development in Belton House 
presents a good catchment potential to the north.

LEP’s Local Industrial Strategy (LIS)
The LEP’s LIS is supportive of bringing in new business opportunities, industries 
and infrastructure to the town centre.

Inform future transport strategy
An opportunity to work alongside LCC Highway’s team to develop transport 
and public realm related proposals within the town centre which could form 
a part of the town centre’s regeneration strategy and at the same time could 
inform the future transport strategy for the town.

Take a longer term approach embedded in policy
An opportunity to develop a long-term regeneration strategy and masterplan 
for the town centre to inform the future town centre policy including the 
next iteration of the Local Plan and become a source of guidance for future 
development and investment in the town centre. 

44



Alan Baxter20Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

Fig. 10: Town Centre Opportunities

N

45



Alan Baxter21Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

E - Opportunities to reinvigorate the historic core 

 - Introduce new uses - An opportunity to introduce a wider-range of uses 
in the historic core through the conversion of existing buildings including 
The George Centre, Westgate Hall and the upper floors of retail units. 

 - Reinforcing strengths within the historic core - An opportunity to 
protect and enhance Grantham’s assets, including its historic townscape, 
Market Place and listed buildings, reinstate lost street connections, 
reinforce key views including those towards St Wulfram’s Church and the 
Guidhall Arts Centre, and better connect with the River Witham corridor. 

 - Enhancing public realm - Opportunity for public realm improvements 
within the town centre, in particular, of the Station Approach, St Peter’s 
Hill and Market Place to St Wulfram’s Church and opportunities to better 
connect with the River Witham.

 - Supporting community activities and events - An opportunity to build 
on the momentum established by SKDC for events, markets and festivals. 
Gravity Fields, for example is a biannual science festival that draws 
thousands to Grantham town centre.

G/H - Longer term zones of change 
In the longer term, there is an opportunity to consider a change in landuse 
and density at the periphery of the town centre moving from industry and 
retail parks to higher density uses including residential. This would support 
increased footfall to the town centre and improve the quality of the town 
centre approaches. 

St Peter’s Hill Gardens

46



Alan Baxter22Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

3.4 Town Centre Threats
In achieving the opportunities, there are a number of threats that will need to 
be managed:

Potential lack of market demand/viability for all sectors
There is potential lack of market demand across all sectors within the town 
centre owing to viability and deliverability of the key projects.

Impact of proposed out-of-town retail
The emerging out-of town retail developments including the Downtown Retail 
Village and the Designer Outlet Village could pose a threat to the town centre in 
terms of attracting visitors/residents. However, the impact will be mitigated as 
additional visitors would be brought to Grantham and S106 agreements related 
to the developments include a comprehensive scheme of signage, visitor 
information and transport to and from the town centre.

Site availability 
One of the key threats to the town centre’s regeneration is the lack of available, 
ready-made sites for development. Since the majority of landholdings within 
the town centre are under multiple ownership, site assembly will be required to 
bring forward a comprehensive regeneration plan.

Securing local stakeholder buy-in
It will be important to continue to engage with local businesses, residents and 
stakeholders to obtain their buy-in in supporting the successful delivery of FHSF 
projects along with wider town centre benefits.

Ongoing impact of north-south traffic 
The proposed Southern Relief Road will help in relieving east-west movement 
within the town centre.  However, there will be still a need to carefully manage 
north-south traffic particularly in relation to the High Street.

Continued reliance on car based travel
With Grantham’s growing population, it will be important to encourage 
sustainable modes of travel into the town centre to support an improved 
pedestrian environment, and create an attractive town centre offer ensuring 
Grantham is not simply a commuter town.

47



Alan Baxter23Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Connectivity: opportunities to improve access for pedestrians and cyclists 
across the town centre and  increase footfall and dwell time through a series of 
public realm and movement enhancements

Cultural: potential enhancements to the town centre’s cultural offer focused 
on the cultural quarter as well as interspered cultural activities such as pop-up 
galleries etc. 

Business incubation space: opportunities to introduce business incubation 
space within the town centre to support business start-ups

Digital technology:  projects which use technology to future-proof the town 
centre and support increased footfall 

4.0  
FHSF project identification
4.1 FHSF long list of projects
Discussions with InvestSK, SKDC and stakeholders, together with our SWOT 
analysis of the town centre has led to the collation of a long list of possible 
projects within the town centre. This illustrates the significant scale of potential 
long term change in the town centre if all projects are delivered. 

Projects can be classified under the following headings: 

Station approach: opportunities to improve first impressions of Grantham 
through the redevelopment of large underutilised sites adjacent to the station

Town centre retail/commercial: opportunities for high quality, mixed use 
development supported by new connected streets and public realm within the 
heart of the town centre 

Residential: opportunities for land use change to increase opportunities to live 
within the town centre and support increased footfall and the evening economy

48



Alan Baxter24Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Fig. 11: FHSF Long List of Projects

49



Alan Baxter25Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

4.2 Critical Success Factors
The long list of projects has been assessed against a set of critical success factors 
which have been developed to measure the success rate of the projects towards 
achieving the objectives of Future High Street Fund programme and the locally-
led objectives for Grantham.  The rationale behind these factors is explored 
further in the Strategic Case. 

Grantham FHSF Critical Success Factors:

•	 Deliverability within the FHSF timescale

•	 Resilience to external factors

•	 Improve access into Grantham town centre

•	 Improve town centre identity, specifically first impressions and legibility

•	 Improve visitor experience 

•	 Improve investment climate for new businesses

•	 Promote work/life balance in town centre

•	 Increase the role and prominence of Grantham’s cultural offer

•	 Bring derelict and underused buildings back into productive value

The projects performing well against these factors were taken forward for 
design development and options testing to inform the bid. Details of individual 
shortlisted projects are presented in chapter 6.0.

50



Alan Baxter26Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Critical Success Factors

 Project Description Deliverability 
(High/Low)

Resilience 
to external 
factors (Yes/
No)

Improve 
Access into 
Town Centre 
(Yes/No)

Bring derelict 
and underused 
buildings 
back into 
productive 
value (Yes/No)

Improve 
investment 
climate for new 
businesses 
(Yes/No)

Promote work/
life balance in  
town centre 
(Yes/No)

Improve Town 
Centre identity 
- specifically 
first 
impressions 
and legibility 
(Yes/No)

Improve visitor 
experience 
(Yes/No)

Increase 
the role and 
prominence 
of Grantham’s 
cultural offer 
(Yes/No)

Summary Short term 
(FHSF) project 
or longer term 
(inclusion in 
spatial plan)?

STATION APPROACH

1 Station 
Approach – 
Phase I 

Phase I includes Jewson site (builders 
merchant) and land owned Autumn Park 
(car park with 31 spaces), located off Station 
Road. Potential to develop residential-led 
mixed use scheme (apts and town houses),  
business space, café and other food and 
beverage uses along with public realm 
improvements to Station Approach. Potential 
to explore relocation of Council Offices to 
this site.

High - subject 
to Jewson 
relocation

Yes -Mixed use 
development; 
Flexible scheme 
and not reliant 
on retail.   Office 
space could 
be delivered 
for the Council 
and will not be 
speculative. 

Yes -Main 
approach to 
the town centre 
(i.e. Station 
Approach)

Yes - Project 
will bring this 
area into higher 
value intensive 
use

Yes - the project 
will improve a 
key gateway 
site into the 
town centre

Yes 
-encouraging  
new town 
centre 
residential offer 
/ living 

Yes - Improves 
first impression 
of the town 
centre and 
provides 
improved route 
into the heart of 
the town centre. 

Yes - creates 
improved 
approach 
drawing people 
into town 
centre

Not Applicable Station 
Approach is a 
Council priority. 
Phase I presents 
a potentially 
deliverable 
scheme 
within FHSF 
timescales.

Short term

2 Station 
Approach - 
Phase II 

Phase II fronting Wharf Road includes Tanvic 
site (tyre merchant) and potentially also NCP 
parking (owned by Grantham Estates) and 
Network Rail land adjacent to the station. 
Potential for similar mix to phase I. Separate 
proposals to convert Tanvic to car park under 
consideration by SKDC.

Low – Medium 
– Subject 
to further 
land owner 
discussions. 
May not be 
deliverable 
(land 
availability) in 
FHSF timetable

Yes - potential 
mixed use 
scheme

Yes - Provides 
an alternate 
approach route 
to the town 
centre

Potentially 
brings this area 
to  higher value 
intensive use  - 
although noted 
that current 
plans for use 
of Tanvic site 
for car park use 
will also deliver 
higher value 
use.

as above Yes - 
encouraging  
residential offer 
within town 
centre

as above Yes - creates 
improved 
approach 
drawing people 
into town 
centre

Yes - potentially 
provides greater 
access towards 
cultural quarter

Station 
Approach is  
Council Priority, 
but the phase 
II may not 
be available/
deliverable 
within FHSF 
timescales. 

Long term

TOWN CENTRE RETAIL/COMMERCIAL 

3 Issac Newton 
Centre 

Redevelopment of shopping centre and 
Morrison’s for retail / leisure focused, mixed 
use developed. 

Low - private 
ownership. 
Currently no 
viable scheme. 

No - potential 
focus on retail. 
Potential impact 
of out-of-town 
retail schemes. 

Yes  - could 
improve 
connections 
into heart of 
town centre 
and east-west 
links

No - already in 
productive use

Yes - large site 
with potential 
for significant 
transformation 
of overall town 
centre offer. 

Yes - could 
include element 
of leisure / 
residential.

Yes - could 
provide 
enhanced 
legibility and 
east-west links

Yes -  highly 
visible (ugly 
frontage) site, 
heart of the 
town centre

Yes - could 
strengthen 
connectivity 
towards cultural 
quarter. 

Important 
part of the 
town centre 
regeneration, 
but difficult to 
bring forward

Long term

4 Issac Newton 
Car Park 

Mixed use opportunity associated with Isaac 
Newton Centre redevelopment. 

Low - private 
ownership. 
Currently no 
viable scheme. 
Need for car 
parking strategy 
to undestand 
potential 
for land use 
change. 

No - potential 
focus on retail. 
Potential impact 
of out-of-town 
retail schemes. 

Yes  - could 
improve 
connections 
into heart of 
town centre 
and east-west 
links

No - already in 
productive use

Yes - large site 
with potential 
for significant 
transformation 
of overall town 
centre offer. 

Yes - could 
include element 
of leisure / 
residential.

Yes - could 
provide 
enhanced 
legibility and 
east-west links

Yes - highly 
visible site, 
heart of the 
town centre

Yes - could 
strengthen 
connectivity 
towards cultural 
quarter. 

Important 
part of the 
town centre 
regeneration 
and should 
be considered 
alongside Isaac 
Newton Centre, 
but difficult to 
bring forward

Long term

4.3 Review of long list projects against critical success factors. 

51



Alan Baxter27Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Critical Success Factors

 Project Description Deliverability 
(High/Low)

Resilience 
to external 
factors (Yes/
No)

Improve 
Access into 
Town Centre 
(Yes/No)

Bring derelict 
and underused 
buildings 
back into 
productive 
value (Yes/No)

Improve 
investment 
climate for new 
businesses 
(Yes/No)

Promote work/
life balance in  
town centre 
(Yes/No)

Improve Town 
Centre identity 
- specifically 
first 
impressions 
and legibility 
(Yes/No)

Improve visitor 
experience 
(Yes/No)

Increase 
the role and 
prominence 
of Grantham’s 
cultural offer 
(Yes/No)

Summary Short term 
(FHSF) project 
or longer term 
(inclusion in 
spatial plan)?

5 Greenwood’s 
Row / rear 
car parks and 
service yards.

Potential development opportunity 
associated with reconfiguration of Isaac 
Newton Centre. Opportunity for new east-
west connections, public space, mixed use 
development. 

Low - Multiple 
ownerships. 
Need for car 
parking strategy 
to undestand 
potential 
for land use 
change. 

No - potential 
focus on retail. 
Potential impact 
of out-of-town 
retail schemes. 

Yes  - could 
improve 
connections 
into heart of 
town centre 
and east-west 
links

No - already in 
productive use

Yes - large site 
with potential 
for significant 
transformation 
of overall town 
centre offer. 

Yes - could 
include element 
of leisure / 
residential.

Yes - could 
provide 
enhanced 
legibility and 
east-west links

Yes - as part of 
wider scheme 
with Isaac 
Newton Centre. 

Yes - could 
strengthen 
connectivity 
towards cultural 
quarter from 
Westgate

There is an 
opportunity 
to develop the 
unused derelict 
land and service 
areas at the 
back of the Issac 
Newton Centre 
in the long 
term.

Long term

6 Former Post 
Office and 
current sorting 
office to the 
rear

Conversion to hotel or change of use 
(possible site for Council offices).

Site currently 
unavailable. 
Would require 
relocation of 
sorting office. 

Yes, market 
demand based 
on interest from 
Doubletree.  
Unclear 
whether this is 
still an active 
requirement.  
Wider demand 
for hotel 
operators not 
identfied yet. 
Site could be 
utilised for 
Council offices.

No Yes -Bringing 
the building to 
higher value 
intensive use

Yes - the project 
will improve a 
highly visible 
corner site, at a 
gateway to the 
town centre

No Yes -First 
impression 
into the town 
centre

Yes - new hotel 
for vistors

Yes - Relates to 
and supports 
the cultural 
quarter uses

Potential to 
provide a 
higher value 
use acting as a 
gateway into 
the high street 
but subject to 
availability

Long term

7 Westgate Hall Change of use to Food & Beverage or a 
cultural use

Subject to 
further testing 
and discussion 
with potential 
operators

Unclear - Reliant 
on finding the 
right operator. 
(The cinema 
resturant 
units have not 
attracted an 
operator to 
date but this 
proposal is 
slightly different  
- more multiple 
street foods 
across multiple 
outlets.) 
 - HAZ funding 
is being 
targeted for 
the external 
building repairs

No Yes -Bringing a 
vacant building 
into higher 
value intensive 
use

Yes - could 
become a 
destination 
and USP for the 
town centre

Yes - supports 
night time 
economy

No Yes - could 
become a 
destination for 
visitors 

Yes - supports 
reuse of historic 
built fabric of 
Grantham and 
adjacent Market 
Square

Potential to 
provide an 
anchor point in 
this part of the 
town centre, 
but no concrete 
plans yet

Long term 
(operator 
options not 
explored yet) 
or non-FHSF 
delivery

52



Alan Baxter28Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Critical Success Factors

 Project Description Deliverability 
(High/Low)

Resilience 
to external 
factors (Yes/
No)

Improve 
Access into 
Town Centre 
(Yes/No)

Bring derelict 
and underused 
buildings 
back into 
productive 
value (Yes/No)

Improve 
investment 
climate for new 
businesses 
(Yes/No)

Promote work/
life balance in  
town centre 
(Yes/No)

Improve Town 
Centre identity 
- specifically 
first 
impressions 
and legibility 
(Yes/No)

Improve visitor 
experience 
(Yes/No)

Increase 
the role and 
prominence 
of Grantham’s 
cultural offer 
(Yes/No)

Summary Short term 
(FHSF) project 
or longer term 
(inclusion in 
spatial plan)?

 RESIDENTIAL 

8 Watergate Car 
Park Site

Residential scheme on Council car park Medium 
– Requires 
resolution of 
car parking 
requirement 
through 
town centre 
car parking 
strategy. 

No  - Affected 
by demand for 
town centre 
living 
 - Car park 
requirement 
to be resolved 
through 
car parking 
strategy. 

No Yes -Bringing 
this area to 
higher value 
use (subject to 
findings of car 
park surveys)

Yes - provides 
opportunity for 
higher quality 
residential 
within the town 
centre 

Yes - 
encouraging 
residential offer 
in  town centre

Yes - highly 
visible site on 
approach to 
town centre

Yes - highly 
visible site on 
approach to 
town centre

No A strong 
opportunity 
but constrained 
due to lack of 
a car parking 
strategy

Longer term, 
subject to 
resolution of car 
parking issue

9 Above 
the shop 
conversions

Convesion of upper floors to residential 
or offices above existing shops. Various 
properties (many historic) within the heart of 
the town centre eg. Westgate upper floors

High-
dependent 
upon individual 
landowners, 
however 
dialogue 
suggests there 
is interest in 
progressing 
this. 

No  - affected by 
demand for this 
type of town 
centre living / 
office space

No Yes - Bringing 
underused 
spaces into 
higher value use

Yes - provides 
opportunity for 
higher quality 
residential 
within the town 
centre 

Yes - 
encouraging 
residential offer 
in town centre

No No No Potential 
opportunity 
but subject to 
availability

Short term   

10 George Centre Existing small shopping and former hotel 
with high vacancy rates. Potential for a mixed 
use scheme, with conversion of upper floors 
to residential use.

High - high 
vacancy rates, 
current owner 
has developed 
proposals.

Yes – potential 
for a range of 
uses. Residential 
led scheme 
could be 
affected by 
demand for 
town centre 
living.

Yes - Potential 
enhanced east-
west links

Yes - Bringing 
the building to 
higher value 
intensive use

Yes - creating 
high quality 
residential 
within the town 
centre

Yes - 
encouraging 
residential offer 
in town centre

Yes - Potential 
enhanced east-
west link

No No A priority due 
to high vacancy 
rates and 
demand for 
more residential 
development 
within the town 
centre. 

Short term

11 Westgate 
backlands

Redevelopment of vacant land to the rear 
of Westgate for residential development. 
Multiple ownerships. 

Medium – Initial 
discussions 
suggest 
landowner 
interest. Could 
be delivered 
in phases to 
simplify site 
assembly

No - affected 
by demand for 
town centre 
living

No Yes - historic 
vacant burgage 
plots to the rear 
of Westgate. 
Potential to 
consolidate to 
bring forward 
significant scale 
of development. 

Yes - creating 
high quality 
residential 
within the town 
centre

Yes - 
encouraging 
residential offer 
in town centre

Yes - enhance 
east-west 
connectivity 
through the 
sites.

No No Significant 
potential, 
requiring a 
sensitive design 
response in 
proximity 
to Westgate 
historic 
townscapes. 
Relates well 
to objectives 
of HAZ 
programme.

Potential for 
a first phase 
in the short 
term, within 
a longer term 
masterplan

53



Alan Baxter29Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Critical Success Factors

 Project Description Deliverability 
(High/Low)

Resilience 
to external 
factors (Yes/
No)

Improve 
Access into 
Town Centre 
(Yes/No)

Bring derelict 
and underused 
buildings 
back into 
productive 
value (Yes/No)

Improve 
investment 
climate for new 
businesses 
(Yes/No)

Promote work/
life balance in  
town centre 
(Yes/No)

Improve Town 
Centre identity 
- specifically 
first 
impressions 
and legibility 
(Yes/No)

Improve visitor 
experience 
(Yes/No)

Increase 
the role and 
prominence 
of Grantham’s 
cultural offer 
(Yes/No)

Summary Short term 
(FHSF) project 
or longer term 
(inclusion in 
spatial plan)?

12 Greyfriars Regeneration and redevelopment of social 
housing estate to rear of Westgate

Low – level of 
change to be 
determined 
through a 
masterplan 
which will 
require 
comprehensive 
engagement 
with existing 
residents. 
Potentially 
could 
involve some 
rehousing. 

No - affected 
by demand for 
town centre 
living. 

Yes - potential 
to consider 
rail bridge 
(aspirational) 
to provide 
east-west 
connection. 

Yes - improved 
layout to 
maximise use of 
the land. 

Yes - uplift 
in quality of 
townscape 

Yes - increasing 
residential offer 
in town centre

Yes - uplift 
in quality of 
townscape

No No Potential 
oppportunity 
for residential 
development 
and forming 
connections to 
the west of the 
railway

Long term

 CONNECTIVITY AND MOVEMENT 

13 5-arm junction Public realm enhancements or major 
reconfiguration and downgrading of existing 
junction at Wharf Street / Station Approach / 
Westgate and associated gyratory. 

Medium – 
Significant 
reworking of 
junction reliant 
on Transport 
model and 
strategy (to 
be delivered 
by 2022) and 
completion 
of relief road 
(2023). However 
short term 
public realm 
enhancements 
are deliverable. 

No – Major 
reworking liking 
to be reliant 
on results of 
transport model 
and delivery 
of relief road 
(2023). This is 
not the case 
for interim 
public realm 
enhancements.

Yes - Currently 
this juction is 
very difficult to 
cross. Removing 
bollards will be 
beneficial.

No Yes - enhances 
connectivity 
between the 
station and 
town centre

Yes - enhances 
connectivity 
between the 
station and 
town centre

Yes- Arrival 
point to the 
town centre

Yes - enhances 
connectivity 
between the 
station and 
town centre

No Important 
component 
of Station 
Approach 
to Westgate 
route, but short 
term work to 
pedestrian 
priority 
enhancements

Short term 
pedestrian 
enhancements, 
and longer 
term junction 
remodelling. 

14 Bus station Relocation of bus station functions. Release 
of site for mixed use development

Low - greatest 
potential if 
considered 
alongside Isaac 
Newton centre 
redevelopment

No - reliant 
on support 
of transport 
stakeholders, 
and wider 
transport 
strategy. 

Yes - enhanced 
public transport 
service

Yes - central site 
with current low 
value use

Yes - significant 
transformation 
potential in 
conjunction 
with adjacent 
sites

Yes - potential 
leisure element

Yes - highly 
visible site 
 

Yes - improved 
access by public 
transport

No Potential for 
transformative 
redevelopment 
as part of wider 
Isaac Newton 
scheme. 

Long term

15 St Peter’s Hill 
Gardens

Reconfiguration of the Gardens and adjacent 
High Street to improve the public realm and 
pedestrian connectivity

High - scheme 
under 
development 
by LCC

Yes - Council led Yes - enhances 
east-west 
connectivity

No - although 
potential for 
increased use 
of Gardens for 
events

Yes -potential 
uplift of a highly 
visible public 
space 

Yes - supports 
night time 
economy

Yes - highly 
visible public 
space

Yes - relates 
to key visitor 
attractions

Yes - relates 
to key cultural 
attractions in 
the Cultural 
Quarter

Key public 
realm scheme, 
with proposals 
being 
developed by 
the County 
Council. 

Short term

54



Alan Baxter30Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Critical Success Factors

 Project Description Deliverability 
(High/Low)

Resilience 
to external 
factors (Yes/
No)

Improve 
Access into 
Town Centre 
(Yes/No)

Bring derelict 
and underused 
buildings 
back into 
productive 
value (Yes/No)

Improve 
investment 
climate for new 
businesses 
(Yes/No)

Promote work/
life balance in  
town centre 
(Yes/No)

Improve Town 
Centre identity 
- specifically 
first 
impressions 
and legibility 
(Yes/No)

Improve visitor 
experience 
(Yes/No)

Increase 
the role and 
prominence 
of Grantham’s 
cultural offer 
(Yes/No)

Summary Short term 
(FHSF) project 
or longer term 
(inclusion in 
spatial plan)?

16 Market Place 
to St Wulfram’s 
Church

Enhancements to public realm connecting 
Market Place and St Wulfram’s Church

High - Council 
led scheme, link 
with HAZ 

No - although 
Council led, 
extent of 
reworking 
potentially 
limited by lack 
of transport 
strategy 

Yes - improves 
east-west 
approaches

No - although 
enhances use of 
Market Place for 
events

Yes- potential 
uplift of key 
public spaces

Yes - supports 
night time 
economy

Yes - highly 
visible public 
space

Yes - provides 
connection 
between Market 
Place and 
Church / River

Yes - Enhances 
links between 
historic and 
landscape 
assets

Key public 
realm scheme 
connecting 
heritage assets. 

Short term

17 Accessibility 
within the 
town centre

Range of wider improvements to accessibility 
for all modes of travel; and at town Centre 
gateways/junctions; Sustainability modes - 
EV charging points

Low. Radical 
change to traffic 
flows limited 
by the lack of 
transport model 
until 2023. 

No - major 
reworking 
requires traffic 
model

Yes No Yes - increased 
access improves 
potential for 
night time 
economy

Yes - increases 
access to town 
centre

Yes - reduced 
dominance 
of cars

Yes - reduced 
dominance of 
cars, greater 
legibility for 
pedestrians

No A priority, but 
in the short 
term potentially 
limited by lack 
of transport 
model

Short / Long 
term

18 Public realm 
enhancements 

Wider package of public realm 
enhancements including lighting, signage, 
street furniture, public art, paving, planting. 

High Yes - Council 
led. However 
for maximum 
value, should 
align with 
longer term 
accessibility 
enhancements. 

Yes No Yes  - improves 
appearance of 
town centre

Yes - creates 
setting for night 
life and culture

Yes  - improves 
appearance of 
town centre

Yes - improves 
legibility and 
usable public 
spaces

Yes - creates 
setting for night 
life and culture

Council priority 
to improve 
public realm 
within the town 
centre and 
improve visitor 
experience

Short term

 CULTURAL QUARTER 

19 Museum Improve and enhance museum offer, 
through FHSF investment funding to update 
the building and use. 

High Yes - although 
it currently 
relies on 
Museum Charity 
continued 
interest, and 
agreement to 
ongoing lease 
arrangements. 

No No - but 
safeguards the 
future use of a 
building. 

1 Yes - improves 
key cultural 
offer of the 
town.

No Yes - improves 
key cultural 
offer of the 
town.

Yes - improves 
key cultural 
offer of the 
town.

Council priority 
to improve 
and enhance  
cultural offer 
within the town 
centre. Could 
be considered 
as a USP of 
Grantham. 

Potential short 
term (but 
may be better 
delivered 
outside FHSF 
programme)

 BUSINESS INCUBATION SPACE 

20 Business 
incubation 
space

Potential to provide business incubation 
space in Finkin street, council offices, and the 
station building

Low - reliant on 
private sector 
(except for 
Council Offices 
element)

No - affected by 
market demand

No Yes - potential 
intensification 
of use

Yes - supports 
new business 
growth

Yes - supports 
local 
employment / 
entrepreneurs

No No No Important for 
bringing new 
businesses and 
investment 
but difficult to 
deliver

Long term

 DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY 

21 Digital 
technology 
enhancements

Package of measures which could include 
WIFI provision, collection of data for place 
management and consumer use (eg. apps).

Low No - requires 
long term 
funding 

Yes - potentially 
provides 
information for 
visitors 

No Yes - 
infrastructure 
support for 
business 

Yes - greater 
information for 
town centre 
users

No Yes  - WIFI No Important 
component 
but subject to 
funding and 
operational 
arrangements

Long term

55



Alan Baxter31Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

4.4.2 Preferred Option
This option is the preferred way forward that would offer best public value 
to Grantham’s town centre including social and environmental benefits and 
economic value. The projects shortlisted under this scenerio include:

SNo Projects

13,15,16 Public Realm (Station road and 5-arm junction, St Peter’s Hill and Market 
place)

1 Station approach phase I (Jewson/Autumn Park Ltd site)

9 Above the shop conversion within the town centre

10 George Centre

4.4 FHSF options appraisal
Based on the critical success factors and appraisal of the long list of projects, the 
FSHF options appraisal considers the merits of three alternative options: 

4.4.1 Do minimum
This option includes a realistic and achievable ‘do minimum’ scenerio that 
would meet the essential requirements of the FHSF bid, is cost effective and 
deliverable within the FHSF timeline. The projects shortlisted under this 
scenerio include: 
 

SNo Projects 

13,15,16 Public Realm (Station road and 5-arm junction, St Peter’s Hill and Market 
place)

9 Above the shop conversion within the town centre

Fig. 12: Do minimum option projects Fig. 13: Preferred option projects

56



Alan Baxter32Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

4.0  FHSF project identification 

Fig. 14: Do maximum projects

4.4.3 Do maximum
The do maximum option covers a wide range of projects including short-term 
and long-term projects which would lead to transformational change within the 
town centre. The projects include:

SNo Projects

13,15,16 Public Realm (Station road and 5-arm junction, St Peter’s Hill and Market 
place)

1 Station approach phase I (Jewson/Autumn Park Ltd site)

2 Station approach phase II (Tanvic site)

9 Above the shop conversion within the town centre

10 George Centre

11 Westgate backlands

57



Alan Baxter33Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

5.0  Spatial masterplan 

•	 A transformed heart to the town centre, with new streets and public spaces 
fronted by mixed use development replacing the Isaac Newton shopping 
centre and car parks. The plan shows the potential to knit this area back into 
the street network of the town connecting Westgate, High Street and the 
Cultural Quarter and Wharf Road and enhancing east-west connectivity.

•	 The creation of a new residential district in the town centre on the historic 
burgage plots west of Westgate. The development would retain elements 
of the historic east-west plot alignment and connect via existing pedestrian 
alleys and gateways back into Westgate.

•	 Increased activity on Westgate and High Street, through the conversion of 
upper floors to residential and commercial accommodation and new uses 
for Westgate Hall and the George Centre.  

•	 The longer term opportunity to work with the community to shape the 
regeneration of Greyfriars housing estate. 

•	 Strengthening of the cultural quarter including investment in the town’s 
Museum and St Peter’s Hill Gardens.

•	 A town-wide public realm enhancement strategy including street greening 
within the town centre. The strategy is explored in further detail overleaf.

•	 Potential to develop Grantham as a strategic hub for other vistor attractions 
such as  Designer Outlet Village and Belton House with enhanced transport 
connectivity from the town centre.

Figure15 provides a long term spatial masterplan for Grantham Town Centre. 
This is an initial vision  which will developed in more detail through public and 
stakeholder engagement over the coming months and will be used to inform 
future planning policy. 

The plan provides an overall spatial framework showing how, by delivering 
individual projects in a joined-up way, there is the potential for significant 
transformation to Grantham’s town centre to support its long term role as a 
destination, service centre and heart for Grantham’s community.  

It is a long term plan, which incorporates the short term projects which could 
be delivered through the FHSF programme and the Heritage Action Zone 
programme, and longer term opportunities which could attract a range of 
future funding sources or be delivered by the private sector. 

Key elements of the spatial masterplan include: 

•	 The creation of attractive arrival points to Grantham including:

 - the redevelopment of key sites between the station and town centre and 
a new station square

 - creation of attractive new street frontage to Watergate to the north of the 
centre

5.0  
Spatial Masterplan

58



Alan Baxter34Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

5.0  Spatial masterplan 

Fig. 15: Spatial Masterplan

N

59



Alan Baxter35Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

5.0  Spatial masterplan 

5.1 Public realm Strategy
Enhancements to Grantham’s public realm are a focus for both the FHSF and 
HAZ programmes, addressing current weaknesses which affect the visitor 
experience and footfall across the town centre. 

By investing in the quality of Grantham’s streets and spaces, and enabling easy 
access into and around the town centre we will:

•	 Create an attractive environment in which people want to dwell, supporting 
greater spend in the town centre

•	 Support the use of public spaces including Market Place, St Peter’s Hill and 
Westgate for events, community gatherings and markets

•	 Make it easier for all abilities to access the town centre by foot and by bike, 
reducing the need to travel into Grantham by car and the space required for 
car parking 

•	 Reconnect the historic street network of the town centre and improve east-
west connections between High Street, Wharf Road and Westgate,

•	 Enhance access for all to heart of the town centre, for example through the 
provision of centrally located disabled parking

•	 Create an attractive arrival experience and positive first impressions.

•	 Create enhanced public space created in conjunction with residential or 
mixed-use development

60



Alan Baxter36Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

5.0  Spatial masterplan 

N

Fig. 16: Public realm strategy

61



Alan Baxter37Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

6.1 Station Approach
Land to the east of the railway station and south of Wharf Road has been 
idenfied as a potential residential-led scheme, with an enhanced public realm 
providing an attractive gateway to Grantham and a strong connection towards 
the town centre. Current land uses include a builders’ merchant, tyre merchant 
and station car parking and present an unattractive first impression of the town.  
Land is in a number of ownerships, some of which may not come forward in the 
FHSF timescale. As a result a phased approach has been adopted as follows: 

•	 Phase 1 public realm works focused on improving the link between the 
station and Westgate via the 5-arm junction that can be delivered in 
advance of the completed Grantham southern relief road. 

•	 Phase 1 residential-led mixed use development of land owned by Jewson 
and Autumn Park creating an attractive frontage to Station Road. This 
phase includes the relocation of Jewson to a new site within Grantham, and 
potentially the reprovision of Autumn Park’s 31 car parking spaces within 
the scheme. 

•	 Phase 2 residential-led use development of land owned by Tanvic fronting 
Wharf Road. This is included within the do maximum FHSF option.

•	 Phase 3 new public square outside the station and mixed use development 
on car parks owned by Network Rail and Grantham Estates. This is reflected 
in the Spatial Masterplan for delivery in the longer term. 

6.0  
Shortlisted project details 

Fig. 17: Station Approach land ownership

62



Alan Baxter38Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

Top: view north across Tanvic tyre merchants
Bottom: view north along Station Road

Fig. 18: Proposed phases and constraints

Phase 1 
development

Phase 2 
development

Phase 3 
development

Phase 1 
development

Longer term 
development 
opportunity

Traffic dominated 
streets

Grade II listed 
buildings

Property fronts

Poor quality 
frontage

Railway station 
entrance

Landmark building

63



Alan Baxter39Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

N

Fig. 19: Station Approach proposed layout 
for Phase 1 development and public 
realm. Phase 2 indicative development 
frontages shown. 

Fig. 20: Alternate layout, should 
replacement Autumn Park car parking not 
be required. This delivers an additional 4 
houses and improved connection to phase 2. 

64



Alan Baxter40Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

Phase 1 indicative development schedule

Phase 2 indicative development schedule

Phase 1 
Phase 1 is included in the preferred option and will deliver a residential-led 
development of approximately 23 units including the conversion of the historic 
red-brick industrial building as flats. Two locations for employment, commercial 
or retail space are identified at the northern and sourthern ends of the site to 
provide a focus for activity  on the route to the town centre. 

New townhouses fronting Station Road will be a mix of 2 and 3 storeys in 
height, in response to the scale of the existing listed cottages, and will take 
advantage of the level change between Autumn Park and Jewsons in their 
internal layout or rear gardens (for example through the creation of a semi-
basement level addressing the garden).

Private parking areas are identified to the rear (assuming 1 space per unit) to 
enable the frontage to Station Raod to be kept free from parking.

Parking owned by Autumn Park (31 spaces) is relocated to the rear of the site. If 
this is not required, an additional 4 houses could be provided. 65



Alan Baxter41Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

6.2 George Centre
The George Centre, which includes the Grade II* former George Hotel, occupies 
a central position within the town centre and forms an important link between 
Westgate, High Street and Guildhall Street in terms of footfall, connectivity and 
economic linkages. The centre currently is underutilized with a high proportion 
of vacant units. 

The proposal is to provide a mixed-used offer by partly retaining the existing 
retail on the ground floor and partly accomodating alternative retail uses 
including convenience stores, bars/restaurants, health provision/pharmacy, 
offices/workspace. The remaining ground floor space will be converted into 
residential. The upper floors are proposed to be converted to residential with an 
element of new build on the second floor.

The proposed scheme will help not only to preserve the historical significance 
of the building but also improve levels of footfall by diversifying the town centre 
offer and strengthening the existing east-west links.

Indicative development schedule
•	 Potential ground floor conversion - 970 sqm
•	 Potential first floor conversion - 1017 sqm
•	 Potential second floor conversion - 977 sqm
•	 New Build on second floor - 283 sqm

The George Centre

The George Centre interior

66



Alan Baxter42Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

3.0  Summary SWOT analysis

6.3 Above the shop conversion
The proposal aims to increase footfall and support the evening economy of the 
town centre by converting the upper floors of existing shops to residential flats 
or office space.  This is particularly appropriate for historic, characterful buildings 
along High Street, Westgate and around Market Place. 

InvestSK are working with key private landowners to develop this opportunity. 

Potential to convert upper floors into residential along Westgate

67



Alan Baxter43Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

6.4 Westgate backlands 

The spatial masterplan indicates the long-term 
potential for significant development on vacant 
and underutilised land to the west of Westgate, 
accessed from Greyfriars. The land is in a number of 
private ownerships, in long east-west strips. Land 
assembly will be required to deliver an efficient use 
of the land, however this can be achieved in a series 
of phases. 

A potential phase 1 has been identified at the 
northern end of Greyfriars which could be delivered 
within the FHSF and makes use of SKDC car parking 
and highways land, together with land owned by a 
small number of private owners. 

The intention is to deliver a residential scheme 
around a public green square.  There is potential 
to narrow Conduit Lane, simplify the junction 
with Greyfriars and route through traffic via a new 
junction at the south onto Sankt Augustin Way.
This would more appropriately reflect the historic 
relationship between Conduit Lane and Market 
Place and allow for new development enclosing 
the view towards Greyfriars from Market Place.  
Remodelling of the highways and access is subject 
to further detailed design testing and modelling 
and agreement regarding the southern access. 

Fig. 21: Westgate and Greyfriars ownerships

68



Alan Baxter44Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

Top: view from Greyfriars towards Westgate across vacant backland plots]
Bottom: view from Greyfriars housing estate across potential phase 1 site area 
including Council owned car park

Fig. 22: Indicative phase 1 scheme

Indicative phase 1 development schedule. 

69



Alan Baxter45Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

Fig. 23: Public realm projects identified within the town centre

6.5 Public realm projects
As part of the Grantham Transport Strategy, the Southern Relief Road is now 
well underway with Phase 3 commencing construction in 2020, and the road 
due to be operational in 2022/23. Upon completion and with the relief road in 
operation it will assist with rerouting through-traffic and particularly HGVs out 
of the town centre. This provides the opportunity to improve the character of 
the streets within the town centre, to support a healthier and more amenable 
place for workers, shoppers’ visitors, and residents to spend time.

The three shortlisted public realm projects seek to initiate an improvement in 
character and pedestrian amenity. The projects are situated at the three anchor 
points and gateways to the town centre; whilst improving the pedestrian 
experience of the Cultural Quarter, connectivity to Vine Street and St Wulfram’s 
Church, and the experience and wayfinding for those arriving by train. 

70



Alan Baxter46Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

Station approach phase I public realm
The aim of the public realm intervention here is to increase pedestrian 
connectivity and wayfinding between the station and town centre destinations., 
via Station Road and the 5-arm junction.  These proposals are seen as a 
precursor to more comprehensive reconfiguration of the area as the sites 
adjacent to the station are brought forward for development. There is an 
opportunity for improvements to the pedestrian crossings and flank walls 
of buildings to incorporate public art in highly visible locations to assist with 
identity and wayfinding between the station and town centre at decision 
thresholds. This creates an opportunity to engage with local stakeholders, and 
link with local enterprises, artists, makers, and other initiatives in the project 
design.

Precedent images

N

Phase 1 boundary

Housing

Pedestrian links

Improved footway

Painted surface treatment

Block paved traffic island

Flank wall treatment

Wayfinding totem

Existing retaining wall and 
level change

FUTURE HIGH STREET FUND  
GRANTHAM
DEVELOPMENT OPTION

STATION APPROACH
Jewson and Autumn Park Development
Phase 1 and Public Realm

1211/130  Rev B

MARCH 2020 Alan Baxter

Raised zebra crossing

Arboricultural survey to 
confirm trees for retention

Existing retaining wall levels difference (assumed 1-2m to be 
accommodated within terraced gardens or within internal layout)  

Assume some excavation or fill and releveling for access roads

Ground floor: commercial/retail
Upper storeys: workspace

New 3m footway 
Carriageway narrowed to 6.5m and painted footway removed 

continues 120m to station entrance

New raised surface carriageway at station forecourt

Footway widened 
to 3m and lighting 

columns relocated to 
back of footway

Primary pedestrian 
route into town centre

Potential  later phase  
public realm

New 3 no 
deciduous trees

Pedestrian crossing improved with painted 
surface treatment, lowering footway in 
traffic islands, removal of traffic barriers, and 
conservation pillars and bollards

Flexible(workspace/commercial)

Pedestrian route to be 
opened with Phase 2

Relocated 
Autumn Park 
car park

Residential

conversion 

0 50

(1:1,000 @ A3)

metres
DRAFT

Draft

Fig. 24: Station road and 5 arm junction improvements

Brant road - Newark road junction 
(lowered crossing points)

Creative  Croydon Crossings, Croydon Europa’s identity facade, 
Loughborough

Cornhill Quarter, Lincoln (flank wall 
public art)

71



Alan Baxter47Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

Fig. 25: St Peter’s Hill Gardens

Digital Wayfinding, Grantham Leicester Cathedral Gardens 

New Road, Brighton Station Street, Nottingham

 St Peter’s Hill Gardens
The proposals seek to create a traffic calmed, pedestrian dominated space and 
redesigned formal Gardens which are attractive to all ages and socio-economic 
groups. The works will enhance the setting and pedestrian amenity of the 
Cultural Quarter, and accommodate a new Margaret Thatcher statue. The 
proposals would be delivered alongside highway works to the High Street to be 
delivered by LCC as a accompanying scheme to the opening of the Southern 
Bypass Relief Road.  

Precedent images

72



Alan Baxter48Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

6.0  Shortlisted project details

Fig. 26: Market place to St Wulfram’s Church

Gravity Fields Festival, Grantham Film screening Market Place, Derby

Creative Croydon Crossing Newark royal market

Market Place to St  Wulfram’s Church
Enhancement to the public realm of Market Place includes raising the 
carriageway to create a level surface, but with the carriageway still clearly 
delineated. The provision of seating, planting, cycle parking, and wayfinding 
seek to activate the underutilised public realm of the Market Square to provide 
a pleasant, and intimate space for shoppers, workers and visitors and support 
new destination activities. Additionally, a level surface would also better 
facilitate the potential to host larger markets or events in the square.

Prcedent images

73



Alan Baxter49Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

Appendix A: Landuse Plans

Appendix A:  
Landuse plans (GOAD plans)

74



Alan Baxter50Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

Appendix A: Landuse Plans

50 metres

Experian Goad Plan Created: 22/11/2019
Created By: GVA

Copyright and confidentiality Experian, 2019. © Crown copyright and database rights 2019. OS
100019885

For more information on our products and services:
www.experian.co.uk/goad | goad.sales@uk.experian.com | 0845 601 6011

Grantham

75



Alan Baxter51Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

Appendix A: Landuse Plans

50 metres

Experian Goad Plan Created: 22/11/2019
Created By: GVA

Copyright and confidentiality Experian, 2019. © Crown copyright and database rights 2019. OS
100019885

For more information on our products and services:
www.experian.co.uk/goad | goad.sales@uk.experian.com | 0845 601 6011

Grantham

76



Alan Baxter52Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

Appendix A: Landuse Plans

50 metres

Experian Goad Plan Created: 22/11/2019
Created By: GVA

Copyright and confidentiality Experian, 2019. © Crown copyright and database rights 2019. OS
100019885

For more information on our products and services:
www.experian.co.uk/goad | goad.sales@uk.experian.com | 0845 601 6011

Grantham

77



Alan Baxter53Grantham FHSF/  March 2020

1.0  Introduction

Alan Baxter
Prepared by  Garima Nayyar 
Reviewed by  Clare Coats 
Draft issued March 2020

T:\1211\1211-130\12 DTP Data\2020-10 FHSF Stage I Report\2020-01_Grantham FHSF Stage I_Rev C.indd

This document is for the sole use of the person or organisation for whom it has been prepared under the terms of an 
invitation or appointment by such person or organisation.  Unless and to the extent allowed for under the terms of such 
invitation or appointment this document should not be copied or used or relied upon in whole or in part by third parties 
for any purpose whatsoever.  If this document has been issued as a report under the terms of an appointment by such 
person or organisation, it is valid only at the time of its production.  Alan Baxter Ltd does not accept liability for any loss or 
damage arising from unauthorised use of this document. 
If this document has been issued as a ‘draft’, it is issued solely for the purpose of client and/or team comment and must 
not be used for any other purpose without the written permission of Alan Baxter Ltd. 

Alan Baxter Ltd is a limited company registered in England and Wales, number 06600598.  
Registered office: 75 Cowcross Street, London, EC1M 6EL.

© Copyright subsists in this document.

78



79



75 Cowcross Street
London EC1M 6EL
tel 020 7250 1555
email aba@alanbaxter.co.uk
web alanbaxter.co.uk

80



Future High Street Fund  

Appendix 1 : Draft Business Case Project Costs 

Project 
Interventions 

Funding 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Public Realm 
Scheme 1 
 

FHSF £322,916 £645,832 £645,832 £ -  £ -  £1,614,580 

Private Sector £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  

Total £322,916 £645,832 £645,832 £ -  £ -  £1,614,580 

Public Realm 
Scheme 2 
 

FHSF £ -  £ -  £793,370 £798,370 £ -  £1,596,739 

Private Sector £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  

Total £ -  £ -  £793,370 £798,370 £ -  £1,596,739 

Public Realm 
Scheme 3 
 
 

FHSF £ -  £413,820 £413,820 £ -  £ -  £827,640 

Private Sector £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  £ -  

Total £ -  £413,820 £413,820 £ -  £ -  £827,640 

Conversion of 
vacant space 
(change of 
use) 1 

FHSF £157,500 £131,250 £105,000 £ -  £ -  £393,750 

Private Sector £250,000 £250,000 £250,000 £ -  £ -  £750,000 

Total £407,500 £381,250 £355,000 £ -  £ -  £1,143,750 

Strategic 
Development 
Site 

FHSF £ -  £3,159,283 £ -  £ -  £ -  £3,159,283 

Private Sector £ -  £4,609,869 £4,609,869 £ -  £ -  £9,219,737 

Total £ -  £7,769,152 £4,609,869 £ -  £ -  £12,379,020 

Conversion of 
vacant space 
(change of 
use) 2 

FHSF £ -  £4,684,042 £ -  £ -  £ -  £4,684,042 

Private Sector £ -  £2,376,600 £2,376,600 £ -  £ -  £4,753,200 

Total £ -  £7,060,642 £2,376,600 £ -  £ -  £9,437,242 

  FHSF (inc 
project 
management 
and 
monitoring 
costs) 

£485,416 £9,039,227 £1,968,022 £803,370 £ - £12,296,034 

Private Sector 
Match 

£250,000 £7,236,469 £7,236,469 £ -  £ -  £14,722,937 

Public Sector 
Match 

£104,328 £89,861 £86,625 £88,268 £10,000 £379,092 

Total £839,744 £16,365,556 £9,292,125 £891,638 £10,000 £27,398,063 

 

i. The public realm projects are proposed as 100% funded and the private sector 

will match fund projects to convert vacant properties within the town centre.  

ii. The Strategic Development Site will receive a contribution of £3,159,283 from the 

Future High Street Fund. The match funding for this project will be the cost of 

delivering a development to completion, which could be delivered through a 

public/private sector partnership.  

iii. The professional fees involved in developing these schemes following the funding 

decision has been capitalised and apportioned against the project interventions.  

iv. The cost for a Future High Street Manager and Project Officer has been 

capitalised and has been apportioned against the project interventions. Both are 

full time roles. 

81

Appendix 2



v. The £379,092 revenue cost includes the cost of a full time Town Centre Manager, 

the establishment of a Town Team (or equivalent) and administrative costs. 

vi. Please note that revenue costs do not include funding for street greening, public 

art, seating, urban lighting or wayfinding; all of which have been deemed as high 

priorities within the consultation process. The Council could attract external 

funding for these costs, but a match fund would be required to secure these. A 

town centre ‘fund’ of £80,000 would be sufficient to achieve the priorities raised 

during the consultation process, which could be ringfenced subject to external 

funding.  

 

82



 Grantham Town Centre

May 2020

ENGAGEMENT 
SUMMARY REPORT

83

Appendix 3 and 4



PAGE 2

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Contents
1. INTRODUCTION 3

1.1. Project Context 4

1.2. Engagement Approach 5

1.3. Engagement summary 7

2. SURVEY FINDINGS 9

2.1. Survey summary 10

3. WORKSHOP FINDINGS 13

4. CONCLUSION 23

4.1.  Project Identification  24

4.2. Next Steps  27

84



This Chapter provides an overview of the project and 
outlines the engagement approach undertaken to inform 
the preparation of a business case.

CHAPTER 1
INTRODUCTION

PAGE 3

85



Figure 2. Photo from Workshop 1

PAGE 4

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Soundings have been engaged by Alan Baxter and 
InvestSK to facilitate a wide-reaching stakeholder 
and community engagement programme to 
inform the preparation of a business case for the 
Future High Street Fund (FHSF) in support of the 
regeneration of the Grantham Town Centre.

A targeted period of community and stakeholder 
engagement took place between February and 
March 2020 involving 2 x visioning workshops, 
community surveys, data analysis and reporting 
(refer to timeline below).

The engagement activities sought to understand 
local perceptions, challenges and opportunities for 
the Grantham Town Centre to inform and support an 
evidence base for a business case to regenerate the 
Town Centre.

1.1. PROJECT CONTEXT

The objectives of the engagement are summarised 
as follows:

• to gather feedback about local perceptions 
associated with Grantham Town Centre;

• to identify existing challenges and potential 
opportunities that could be considered as part of 
future regeneration of the Town Centre; and

• to identify emerging priorities to inform the 
development of a spatial masterplan and support 
the preparation of a business case for the FHSF.

This report provides a summary of the workshop 
feedback and the survey findings. It is noted that 
additional one to one stakeholder engagement has 
been undertaken separately as part of the broader 
project objectives and the findings of this process 
are reported separately.

Figure 1. Timeline of Engagement

FEBRUARY

SURVEY 
BRIEFING/ 

WORKSHOP

SURVEY 
OPENS

STREET 
SURVEYS

2 X VISIONING 
WORKSHOPS

DRAFT 
ENGAGEMENT 

REPORT

SURVEY 
CLOSES

FINAL 
ENGAGEMENT 

REPORT

MARCH MAY

86



PAGE 5

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

1.2. ENGAGEMENT APPROACH

Street Surveys 
Community engagement has been a key to 
informing the initial draft business case for the 
FHSF. In particular, the project team were seeking to 
understand local perspectives of residents, visitors 
and other key user groups of the Grantham  
Town Centre. 

Working closely with InvestSK and lead consultant 
Alan Baxter, Soundings prepared an online 
community survey which posed a number of quick 
response and open-ended questions about the 
Town Centre. To amplify the responses, the survey 
was designed to be conducted in a ‘roaming’ format 
whereby team members could directly approach 
people on the street for their feedback. A summary 
of street survey dates and times is provided in the 
table opposite.

Prior to engaging with the community ‘on the 
street’, Soundings carried out a Survey Briefing 
Workshop with InvestSK staff to provide support and 
assistance to those undertaking the street surveys. 
As part of this workshop, Soundings shared some 
insights and techniques for the team to consider 
when conducting the street surveys. These included 
suggestions around approachability, how to access 
hard to reach groups and maximising visibility and 
footfall to increase response rates. 

The Survey Briefing Workshop was also an 
opportunity for the project team to discuss the 
proposed questions that would be asked, ensuring 
that the vision and aims of the survey aligned with 
the overall project objectives. 

Due to the nature of the ‘roaming’ format, the 
surveys were designed in a digital format, using the 
platform ‘Survey Monkey’. In addition to members 
of InvestSK carrying out surveys on the streets of 
Grantham Town Centre, the survey link was also 
shared publicly to allow people to complete the 
surveys at home.

The findings of these surveys have been analysed 
and summarised in this report and are presented 
in Chapter 2. Please refer to Attachment A for a 
question-by-question analysis and summary. 

DATE (FEB 2020) TIME LOCATION

Friday 21st 11am - 2pm M&S

Friday 21st 11am - 2pm
Isaac Newton 
Centre

Monday 24th 8am -10am Station

Monday 24th 4pm - 5pm Station

Tuesday 25th 11am - 2pm St Peters Hill

Tuesday 25th 1.30am - 4.30pm
Isaac Newton 
Centre

Wednesday 26th 11am - 2pm St Peters Hill

Wednesday 26th 1.30pm - 4.30pm M&S

Figure 3. Street Survey Times

87



Figure 4. Photo from Workshop 2

PAGE 6

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Visioning Workshops
Two visioning workshops were organised as 
part of the engagement process which provided 
an opportunity to bring local businesses and 
key stakeholders together. The purpose of the 
workshops was to:

• introduce the project and feedback information 
gathered from the preliminary survey data;

• discuss and identify key issues, challenges and 
opportunities for the Grantham Town Centre; and

• provide an open forum for local business and 
other community stakeholders to share their 
perspective on future priorities for the Town 
Centre.

The two workshops were aimed at separate groups 
as follows:

• Workshop 1: Local business owners
• Workshop 2: Local stakeholders 

(including community members and council 
representatives)

Each workshop was structured in two parts: 
looking at Grantham today and identifying positive/
negative aspects and then identifying priorities 
and improvements that could form part of future 
regeneration of the Town Centre.

The workshops were conducted in round table 
format, with each table provided with a map, 
some images of the Town Centre, and a series of 
questions for them to consider (refer to Appendix B 
for agenda). 

The workshops began with a short presentation 
by InvestSK and Soundings which shared a brief 
overview of the project, engagement so far, and the 
objectives of the workshop. Each session was then 
opened up for structured round table discussions, 
led by a project team member. At the end, each table 
nominated a spokesperson to share their thoughts 
and ideas with the rest of the attendees. Feedback 
from the workshop sessions is provided in Chapter 
3 of this report.

88



PAGE 7

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

A total of 441 surveys have been completed. The results provide a rich source of primary data for the project 
team to consider and incorporate into future spatial planning and identification of key priorities/projects 
to bring forward as part of the regeneration of Grantham Town Centre. Below is a summary of the key 
engagement undertaken and the themes that have been identified as part of the initial analysis of the survey 
findings. For further summaries and detailed feedback, please refer to Attachments A and B within the 
Appendices Report. 

1.3. ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY

on street 
engagement 
events8

Workshop 
attendees44441

Surveys 
completed

Workshops
2

How we engaged

Who we engaged*

*These statistics have been gathered from the survey responses only.

Themes & what we heard

75% 
were local 
residents

49% 
worked in 
Grantham

50% 
visited 

Grantham 
daily

62% 
drove to 

Grantham

Existing car parking 
arrangement is confusing 
and causing congestion in 

the Town Centre

Grantham has a lot  
of potential to be a  

great place

More greening in the Town 
Centre would enhance its 

aesthetic appeal

Improvements to 
movement and wayfinding 

could improve the Town 
Centre experience

Refurbishment of shop-
fronts would enhance the 

retail experience

More activities are needed 
for families and during  

the evening

A more pedestrian friendly 
environment is needed

Better opportunities for 
new businesses is required

89



Figure 5. Street Surveys

Figure 10. Photo from Workshop 1

Figure 7. Photo from Workshop 1

Figure 6. Photo from Workshop 1

Figure 8. Photo from Workshop 2

Figure 9. Photo from Workshop 1

PAGE 8

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

90



PAGE 9

This chapter outlines the key findings from the survey results. 
The findings have been databased, analysed and have been 
presented in this chapter thematically. For further summaries and 
a ‘question by question’ breakdown, please refer to Appendix A.

CHAPTER 2
SURVEY FINDINGS

91



PAGE 10

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

2.1. SURVEY SUMMARY

Local perceptions
The survey posed a number of questions to draw out 
perceptions of local residents and users of the Town 
Centre. 

Key findings are summarised below.

• When asked to describe Grantham Town Centre 
in one word, the majority of responses indicated 
that local perceptions are currently negative and/
or apathetic towards the Town Centre.

• The most commonly cited words included 
‘boring’, ‘tired’ and ‘disappointing’. Conversely, 
there were some more constructive words shared 
such as ‘potential’ and ‘busy’. 

• When asked ‘what is Grantham best known 
for’, the majority of responses identified that 
Grantham is best known for its heritage assets. 
‘Shopping’ was the second most selected 
response. 

• Again, a number of open ended responses 
suggested that Grantham is known for ‘nothing’ 
or had no particular identity or character. 

• The majority of respondents (94%) did not 
agree that Grantham Town Centre was an 
exciting place to be. Additionally, the majority of 
respondents thought that Grantham Town Centre 
was a ‘boring’ place and only a small number of 
respondents (12%) felt that they would like to live 
in Grantham.

• The majority of respondents (57%) thought that 
Grantham was a good place to work however 
there was mixed feedback about Grantham being 
a good place for families with 35% in support and 
65% in disagreement.

 Grantham is best known for...

1. Heritage
2. Shopping
3. Nothing
4. Margaret Thatcher
5. Charity Shops

Below are some of the key 
statistics about local perceptions 
which came out of the street 
surveys. 

One word to describe Grantham...

1. Boring
2. Tired
3. Empty
4. Busy
5. Potential

 Grantham Town Centre is...

A GOOD PLACE 
TO WORK

HISTORICALLY 
IMPORTANT

EXCITING BORING

94%

58% 86%

78%

92



PAGE 11

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Town Centre usage
Survey findings have identified some clear patterns 
of usage and visitation of the Town Centre. Key 
findings are summarised below.

• The majority of respondents who completed the 
survey have identified as local residents (75%). 

• Work and employment are key draws to the  
Town Centre, with more than 49% of respondents 
indicating that they were visiting Grantham for 
work.

• It is clear that Grantham is very much a place 
for local people and the community and is seen 
as a permanent home and a place of work. The 
fact that a large proportion of the population of 
Grantham is both living and working in the Town 
Centre makes it important for the needs of both 
residents and workers to be met. 

• Consistent with the reason people visit the 
Town Centre (i.e. work), a similar proportion of 
respondents (50%) visit Grantham each day, 
during the week. Occasional visits, either once or 
twice a week or on weekends, were the second 
most commonly selected response (combined 
approximately 36%).

• When asked what would encourage you to 
use the Town Centre more often, the highest 
frequency of results indicated a better shopping 
experience with more local and independent 
shops was a key priority.

Below are some of the key 
statistics about Town Centre 
usage which came out of the 
street surveys.

What would encourage you to 
come to Grantham more often?

1. Better shopping
2. More local + independent 

shops
3. Traffic improvements
4. Better pedestrian environment
5. More evening activities

93



PAGE 12

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Access and movement
Access and movement in and around the Town 
Centre is predominantly car based. Key findings are 
summarised below.

• Vehicles are the predominant mode for people 
accessing Grantham, with more than 62% 
of respondents indicating that they travel to 
Grantham by car.

• Although Grantham has a train station which 
links to many towns and cities, it does not appear 
to be a popular form of transport amongst 
respondents with a very low proportion traveling 
by public transport. Bus users represented 5% 
of responses, while train users represented only 
2.5% of responses.

• Local perceptions about traffic issues, lack of 
clarity or information about car parking and 
general access issues were commonly cited 
across the suite of questions asked.

How you access Grantham...

1. Car
2. Walk
3. Bus
4. Train
5. Cycle

Below are some of the key 
statistics about access and 
movement which came out of the 
street surveys. 

94



PAGE 13

Two visioning workshops were held with local business 
owners and other local stakeholders. A summary of 
combined feedback from both workshops is provided in 
this chapter.

CHAPTER 3
WORKSHOP FINDINGS

95



PAGE 14 PAGE 15

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTGRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

Culture

Community

KEY:

Figure 11. Feedback map based on comments made at the workshops

WHAT WE HEARD

London Road

• St Wulframs and the 
surrounding area is 
culturally very important.

• Creating wayfinding that 
highlights heritage routes 
could encourage walking 
and celebrate heritage.

• Natural heritage is 
important to people. 
The river and ‘Grantham 
Oak’ could be celebrated 
further.

• Grantham is known for its 
engineering and science 
heritage. Opportunity for 
this to be celebrated at 
gateways to the Town 
Centre.

HERITAGE

• The George Centre 
identified as a great space 
for start-ups and small 
businesses.

• Encouraging smaller local 
businesses in the Town 
Centre is important  
to people.

GEORGE CENTRE

• Some people said that the 
Cultural Quarter is good 
at night. However, it is 
unclear what it’s ‘offer’ is.

CULTURAL QUARTER

• The cinema is well liked 
and used, people would 
like to see more activities 
like this, especially  
for families.

LEISURE

• There are good 
independent and small 
shops on Westgate. 
Supportive of more 
incentives to encourage 
this.

WESTGATE

• Maintain and enhance 
markets, festivals, events 
and pop-ups in the Town 
Centre.

THE MARKETPLACE

• There are a lot of historic 
buildings along Westgate 
and the character of the 
area should be enhanced. 
Standardised signage to 
respect character should 
be explored.

WESTGATE

• St Augustine’s roundabout 
and Station Approach are 
gateways to Grantham. 
Opportunity for heritage 
to be showcased to 
encourage visitors.

ST AUGUSTINE’S

• People wondered where 
the ‘heart’ of Grantham 
is. No defined ‘centre’ of 
place for people to meet/
congregate.

HEART OF GRANTHAM

• More residential units 
along the High Street and 
Westgate was suggested 
by using the spaces  
above shops

RESIDENTIAL

W
es

tg
at

e High Street

96



PAGE 16

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

COMMUNITY

BUSINESS

HOUSING

SOCIAL

LEISURE + EVENTS

RETAIL

Challenges Opportunities
Some attendees stated that the units within 
the Town Centre are not affordable which 
has resulted in higher vacancies. 

The number of large supermarkets that 
‘ringfence’ the Town Centre was viewed 
as negative as it decreases the number of 
people using the Town Centre. 

The number of high-quality job 
opportunities in the area was commented 
on, as well as the potential for incentives to 
allow start-ups and new businesses  
to grow. 

Discussions were also had around the 
potential for more early evening activities 
and socialising for the working community 
that will help attract people to Grantham.

The need for more ‘living’ in the Town 
Centre was supported by attendees.

A number of people praised the affordability 
of housing in Grantham. 

Using the spaces above shops on the high 
street and Westgate as residential units 
would make the centre feel more lived in. 

Some respondents felt that the Town 
Centre lacked a ‘community and friendly 
feel’ and that there needs to be more focus 
on this. 

There is potential for there to be more of  
a focus on the younger generations in  
the area. 

A number of comments were made around 
the potential for more ‘experiences’ in 
the Town Centre, including after school 
activities, festivals, craft markets and family 
experiences.

Vacancy rates in the Town Centre and 
the George Centre was remarked on 
negatively. 

The historic look and feel of Westgate was 
viewed positively as well as the number of 
independent shops, with some attendees 
stating that there should be more done to 
encourage these. 

97



PAGE 17

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

CULTURE

CULTURE

IDENTITY

HERITAGE

Challenges Opportunities
 The ‘offer’ of the Cultural Quarter was 
commented on as some attendees were 
unsure of what this was and its role.

Some people felt that the new cinema was 
a great asset but there was a need to build 
on the ‘Cultural Quarter’ to offer more than 
just this and the Guildhall events.

A number of people said that there is ‘no 
reason to come to Grantham’ and that it 
does not have a clear identity or purpose as 
a place. 

People highlighted the potential of 
Grantham as a place and the opportunity 
to make it a destination through promotion 
and showcasing its history, heritage and 
the character of the buildings. Improving 
the identity through creating standardised 
branding for shops was suggested, as well 
as enhancing the programme of cultural 
activities and festivals.

Some people felt that there was room 
to do more to highlight various assets. 
People suggested looking into other 
forms of heritage in the area such as 
green/ natural heritage as well as the 
science and engineering history of the 
area. Suggestions were made around 
showcasing these at entry points to the 
Town Centre to encourage people to visit 
Grantham. 

98



PAGE 18 PAGE 19

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTGRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

Figure 12. Feedback map based on comments made at the workshops

Access & Movement

Public Spaces

KEY:

WHAT WE HEARD

London Road

• High Street and London 
Road are too busy and 
need to be more  
pedestrian focused

PEDESTRIAN PRIORITY

The river is seen as an 
important destination for 
people, it’s use could be 
increased through wayfinding 
to show its proximity to the 
Town Centre

CONNECTED TO NATURE

High Street

W
es

tg
at

e
CAR DEPENDENCY

• People are very car 
focused and not walking 
around the area. This 
means that traffic is very 
bad and there are parking 
issues

• Improved and increased 
public transport would also 
decrease car usage

• When looking forward 
to minimising car usage, 
suggestions were made 
around repurposing car 
parks as active social 
spaces

SOCIAL SPACES

• People wanted to see 
improvements to station 
approach

• The route to the Town 
Centre from the station is 
seen as a barrier and is not 
welcoming

STATION LINKAGES

• Many people wanted to 
see car parks become pay 
on exit to prevent  
limiting time

CAR PARKING

• The Market Square is not 
well used enough and 
like Westgate, could be 
improved through planting, 
seating and greening

• Market Square could be 
improved to increase 
vibrancy of the Town 
Centre

MARKET SQUARE

• This route needs to be 
better for pedestrians to 
help link from High Street 
to Westgate

• Pedestrianise Westgate

• Planting trees along 
Westgate would increase 
enjoyability and spending 
along the street

WESTGATE

• High Street and Westgate 
do not feel interlinked or 
connected

• The George Centre could 
be a great link between 
High Street and Westgate

• Wayfinding in the Town 
Centre could be improved, 
this could lessen car 
usage. It is a small centre 
but feels larger as it is not 
accessible.

THE HIGH STREET

99



PAGE 20

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT MAY 2020

Challenges Opportunities

PEDESTRIANS

WAYFINDING

DISABILITY

CARS

ROUTES

PUBLIC TRANSPORT

The prioritisation of cars in the Town Centre 
negatively impacts the experience for 
pedestrians and that the focus should be 
shifted more towards the latter, and that 
this would increase the number of people 
walking around Grantham. 

A number of comments were also 
made about improving the pedestrian 
connections between Westgate and  
High Street.

Multiple comments were also made about 
giving more priority to pedestrians crossing 
the High Street.

Attendees identified room for improvement 
regarding wayfinding in the Town Centre, 
specifically in relation to pedestrians. 
Suggestions were made to create 
digital wayfinding, and to use signage to 
showcase assets within Grantham, and 
highlight to people how close by  
everything is.

Attendees said that Grantham should 
make use of its location on the A1 and 
use signage and other interventions to 
encourage people to stop for a day/half  
day visit. 

Some comments were made around the 
opportunity for improved disability access 
including ramps, access to shops and 
audio tours. 

The Town Centre is seen as car dominated, 
causing congestion and large amounts  
of traffic. 

Car parks were also mentioned with many 
of them becoming full or being paid on 
entry as opposed to exit, which limits the 
amount of time that people can stay. 

Specific routes were stated as ‘barriers’ 
and do not benefit the perceptions of 
Grantham as a place, such as Saint 
Augustine’s Way roundabouts, Station 
Road, Wharf Road and London Road.

The lack of transport in the evenings 
and late at night was mentioned as this 
discourages evening socialising and 
increases car dependency.

The links to London were stated as a 
major positive for Grantham, but there is 
opportunity for improved and increased 
public transport in and around the  
Town Centre. 

Some attendees said that electric car 
charging points would be useful. 

ACCESS AND MOVEMENT

100



PAGE 21

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Challenges Opportunities

GREEN SPACE

OPEN SPACE

Although there is a lot of green space 
surrounding Grantham, attendees said that 
there was a lack within the Town Centre, 
which discourages people from spending 
time there. 

People felt that there was potential for 
more pocket parks and seating spaces for 
people within the Town Centre, with one 
group saying that improving and increasing 
planting along Westgate would increase 
enjoyability of and therefore time shopping.

People said that the Market Square is not 
well used enough and like Westgate, could 
be improved through planting, seating  
and greening. 

The George Centre was highlighted by a 
number of people as an opportunity space 
that should be better used and that could 
improve links from Westgate to High Street. 

Some people suggested that when looking 
forward and minimising car use in the 
Town Centre, that car parks could be re-
purposed with active frontages and rooftop 
bars

PUBLIC SPACE

101



PAGE 22

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

This page has been left intentionally blank

102



PAGE 23

CHAPTER 4
CONCLUSION
This Chapter draws together the findings from the 
workshops and surveys and evaluates the key ‘take aways’ 
and potential priority areas arising from the engagement 
feedback.

103



PAGE 24

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

4.1. PROJECT IDENTIFICATION

The proposed Grantham Masterplan, prepared by 
Alan Baxter (2020), proposes a long-list of projects 
and assesses each against a suite of ‘critical 
success factors’ having regard to the objectives 
of the FHSF. A review of each theme on this 
long-list has been undertaken with regard to the 
feedback recieved from community and stakeholder 
engagement.

The long list of projects are broadly categorised into 
the following themes:

• The Station Approach
• Town Cetre/ Commercial
• Residential
• Connectivity and Movement
• Cultural Quarter
• Business Incubation Space
• Digital Technology.

Station Approach
Despite the lower levels of public 
transport usage amongst locals (i.e. 
most people drive), general feedback 
identified the Grantham Train Station 
is a key asset and plays an important 
role in connecting the town to the 
wider region. 

The main areas of concern around 
the Station Approach related to the 
connectivity between the station 
and the Town Centre as well as the 
existing ‘hard’ barriers (e.g. the A52).  
The existing car dominance also was 
perceived as making the pedestrian 
environment uninviting and unsafe. 
Some feedback from the Visioning 
Workshops identified a further 
opportunity to re-purpose some of 
the existing car parking spaces in 
this area into social spaces including 
meeting spaces and cafe.

Potential Priority Areas

• Creating a gateway to the Town 
Centre. Many respondents felt that 
Grantham lacked identity. A number of 
entrance sites to the Town Centre were 
identified as locations to celebrate and  
highlight the heritage assets of the Town 
Centre, particularly to people passing 
through or by Grantham. These locations 
included at St. Augustine’s roundabout 
and along Station Road. Opportunities 
to commission local art or installations 
were discussed as ways to welcome 
more people to the Town Centre.

• A need for improvement to the 
movement network. Around the 
station approach, suggestions included 
provision of cycling routes, improving 
the bus stations, more public transport 
and initiatives to help reduce the car 
dependency within the Town Centre

• Creating a more pedestrian friendly 
environment. This was a commonly 
recurring theme cited by a number of 
respondents, particularly in creating 
more places for people to meet and 
socialise.

104



PAGE 25

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Town Centre Retail/
Commercial

Feedback from respondents in both the 
survey and workshops highlighted a range 
of views and opinions in relation to the 
Town Centre retail and commercial offering.

A large portion of feedback identified the 
need to reactivate the shopping experience 
along the high street and better support 
local businesses to operate more efficiently.  
Notably, the presence of many charity 
shops along the high street was seen 
as both a positive and negative aspect. 
Feedback indicated that charity shops 
added character to the high street and 
contributed to the town’s identity, while 
other feedback suggested there was a 
need to improve the quality and diversity of 
shops.

A strong thread which carried across all 
engagement activities and feedback was 
the desire to make Grantham a more 
exciting place to live, work and play. A 
large quantum of feedback suggested that 
the Town Centre was ‘boring’, ‘lack-lustre’ 
and offered little in the way of activities 
or events for people to get involved in, 
including at night time.

When asked if Grantham is a good place 
to live, only a small proportion of residents 
agreed (circa 10%). Conversely, Grantham 
was seen as a good place to work and do 
business by the majority (circa 58%).

Residential
There was not much feedback relating to 
residential uses in Grantham, as many of 
the survey questions specifically focused 
on the Town Centre. Some feedback from 
the visioning workshops did however 
identify opportunities to activate the Town 
Centre with living over the shop housing 
and more residential uses along the high 
street and around Westgate. 

Potential Priority Areas

• Improve the high street experience. 
This could be done through a variety 
of large- and small-scale initiatives. 
Respondents provided suggestions 
about improving wayfinding signage 
around the Town Centre, preserving 
the heritage aesthetic and unlocking 
potential in underutilised spaces, such 
as around Market Place.

• Redevelop and revitalise important 
buildings, including the George 
Centre and the Post Office, which 
were mentioned as potential assets to 
the community and could be options to 
explore as part of future regeneration. 

• Increasing local activities. Local 
residents strongly felt that there were 
not enough ‘things to do’ in Grantham. 
Ideas for pop ups, markets, more 
cultural events and night time activities 
were all identified as opportunities to 
activate the Town Centre and increase 
visitation.

• Improve the shopping experience. 
A local priority is to improve the 
shopping experience, including 
providing more support to local shops 
and promoting more diverse business 
uses.

• More retail choice and greater 
flexibility in retail opening 
hours. The existing retail offer is 
not considered adequate for local 
needs. The number of charity and 
independent shops in the Town Centre 
is something that is seen as a positive 
and to be maintained, however 
there is sentiment for more diverse 
shopping experiences. Creating 
subsidised rent for independent shops 
was suggested as an opportunity 
to encourage smaller and creative 
retailers. 

105



PAGE 26

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Connectivity and 
Movement
Improving existing connectivity throughout 
the Town Centre was a key priority for 
many. There were a high volume of 
responses that shared a range of ideas 
to improve the pedestrian environment 
throughout the Town Centre. Parking 
improvements, public realm enhancements 
and better public transport links were also 
cited as key factors that would encourage 
people to visit Grantham more often.

Potential Priority Areas

• Public realm enhancements. 
Opportunities to improve way finding, 
and enhance connectivity between 
key locations was supported by many 
residents. The scope of improvements 
identified ranged from smaller 
interventions such as improving 
paving and potholes to developing 
lighting and wayfinding strategies to 
improve legibility throughout the Town 
Centre.

• Reduce reliance and dominance of 
motor vehicles in the Town Centre. 
One of the issues that discourages 
people from spending time and 
walking around the Town Centre is the 
quantity of cars and traffic. Introducing 
wayfinding to promote active transport 
and more walking could enhance the 
pedestrian experience and contribute 
to creating a more inviting and safer 
environment for all. 

• Review car parking issues. 
Interestingly, although the Town 
Centre has been described as too 
car focused and unpleasant for 
pedestrians, rationalising and car 
parking (for drivers) was one of the 
most commonly improvements. 
Specifically there were requests to 
provide better information about 
location of car parking, review 
timings and restrictions, reduce cost 
and make more parking available 
throughout the Town Centre.

106



PAGE 27

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

Cultural Quarter
Emerging from the engagement feedback 
were perceptions that Grantham lacked 
diversity or interest. While many liked 
the Cultural Quarter, some thought there 
opportunities to improve it’s purpose and 
function.

Over sentiments about Grantham are also 
linked to the perceptions that there is little 
to do in Grantham with regard to activities, 
events and programmes for people to get 
involved in. 

Potential Priority Areas

• Revitalise the existing cultural 
offering. The enhancement of existing 
cultural and social activities and 
spaces to Grantham was frequently 
mentioned. Introducing more cultural 
events such as markets, fairs and 
events can draw people into areas 
and improve perceptions of a place. 
A regular programme of events and 
markets should occur on a frequent 
basis to build reach and increase 
visitors over time. 

• Enhance the programme of local 
events and activities. There is 
great potential for Grantham to be 
a more vibrant and inspiring place 
to live, work and visit. A more active 
programme of local events will 
contribute to changing perceptions 
around Grantham being ‘boring’, ‘dull’ 
and ‘tired’ and encourage more people 
to visit the Town Centre. In particular, 
findings indicate that weekend 
visitation to the Town Centre is limited 
and there are further opportunities to 
consider how improvements the Town 
Centre can increase activation of 
public spaces. 

107



PAGE 28

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Business Incubation 
Space
There was support for improving the 
business environment in Grantham. 
Several comments suggested that reduced 
business rates and cheaper rents for local 
business would attract them to Grantham. 
The George Centre was identified as a 
potential location for new start ups.

Digital Technology
Opportunities to integrate digital technology 
throughout the Town Centre were identified 
by some of respondents, however it was 
not a key priority.

Potential Priority Areas

• Create a better environment for 
businesses to thrive. Business 
support was raised multiple times, with 
people keen to attract new innovation 
and business. Implementing incentives 
and initiatives to draw in creativity 
would help boost creative industry in 
the Town Centre. The vacant sites 
throughout Grantham were noted as 
sites for these potential businesses, 
adding to the on-street activity and 
improving overall perceptions.

• Respondents described Grantham 
using the word ‘potential’, indicating 
that people see opportunity in the 
Town Centre and would like these to 
be harnessed and better utilised. This 
could be addressed through small 
interventions and improvements such 
as standardising and improving shop 
fronts, adding to the historic elements 
of the Town Centre or increasing 
maintenance of existing spaces.

• Promote Grantham as a good place 
to live and work. Grantham has been 
identified as a good place to work by 
the majority of respondents and this 
could potentially be linked to a number 
of lifestyle and environment factors 
such as quality and way of life, access 
to nature and proximity to services. 
Supporting and investing in the local 
business community to thrive provides 
an opportunity to address existing 
challenges.

££

108



PAGE 29

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORTMAY 2020

4.2. CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS 

The engagement and consultation findings 
presented in this report have provided a summary 
of feedback received from the community and local 
stakeholders about Grantham Town Centre.

This report has been prepared to inform the 
preparation of the final business case to be 
submitted to the FHSF. The findings from the final 
Engagement Outcomes Report will also be shared 
with the community.

As InvestSK and the project team continue to finalise 
the business case over the coming months, ongoing 
communication with stakeholders who attended 
the workshops will continue. Additionally, wider 
consultation with key stakeholders and partners will 
also continue on a 1 to 1 basis. 

All feedback will then be shared with the wider 
project team to inform the final business case 
submission to the MHCLG in June/July 2020.

109



Produced May 2020

110



 Grantham Town Centre

ENGAGEMENT 
SUMMARY APPENDICES
May 2020

111



PAGE 2

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES MAY 2020

PAGE 2

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT

on street 
engagement 
events8

Workshop 
attendees44441

Surveys 
completed

Workshops
2

HOW WE ENGAGED

WHO WE ENGAGED*

*These statistics have been gathered from the survey responses only.

WHAT WE HEARD

75% 
were local 
residents

49% 
worked in 
Grantham

50% 
visited 

Grantham 
daily

62% 
drove to 

Grantham

Existing car parking 
arrangement is confusing 
and causing congestion in 

the Town Centre

Grantham has a lot  
of potential to be a  

great place

More greening in the Town 
Centre would enhance its 

aesthetic appeal

Improvements to 
movement and wayfinding 

could improve the Town 
Centre experience

Refurbishment of shop-
fronts would enhance the 

retail experience

More activities are needed 
for families and during  

the evening

A more pedestrian friendly 
environment is needed

Better opportunities for 
new businesses is required

SUMMARY ON A PAGE

A total of 441 surveys have been completed. The results provide a rich source of primary data for the 
project team to consider and incorporate into future spatial planning and identification of key priorities/
projects to bring forward as part of the regeneration of Grantham Town Centre. Below is a summary of 
the key engagement undertaken and the themes that have been identified as part of the initial analysis 
of the survey findings. For further summaries and detailed feedback, please refer to Appendix A and B.

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTREGrantham Town Centre Engagement

112



APPENDIX A

SURVEY RESULTS

PAGE 3

113



PAGE 4

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.1 I AM A...

Respondents were asked to identify their relationship to the Grantham Town Centre to help the project team 
inform the context in which survey responses were provided. 

Of the 437 responses, the majority of respondents (75%) identified as a local resident of Grantham. ‘Local 
workers’ formed the second highest group of survey respondents with 11% identifying as working locally in 
Grantham.

A smaller percentage of respondents identified as a ‘local business owner’ (4%) or visitor (5%). A small 
portion (5%) of respondents self-identified as ‘other’ which included a combination of ‘resident and worker’, 
‘student’ and ‘living nearby’. 

1.1. Survey Responses

Grantham Town Centre Survey

1 / 10

75.06% 328

3.89% 17

11.44% 50

5.03% 22

4.58% 20

Q1 I am a
Answered: 437 Skipped: 3

TOTAL 437

Local resident

Local business
owner

Local worker

Visitor

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

75.06%75.06%75.06%75.06%75.06%

3.89%3.89%3.89%3.89%3.89%

11.44%11.44%11.44%11.44%11.44%

5.03%5.03%5.03%5.03%5.03%

4.58%4.58%4.58%4.58%4.58%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Local resident

Local business owner

Local worker

Visitor

Other (please specify)

Q2 What brings you to Grantham town centre today?
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

114



PAGE 5

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.2 WHAT BRINGS YOU TO GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE TODAY?

To understand what attracts people to Grantham, respondents were asked to share their reasons for visiting 
the Town Centre.

From a total of 434 responses, almost half of respondents (49%) indicated that they were in the Town Centre 
for work. Approximately 25% of respondents indicated that they were in Grantham for ‘shopping’ whilst a 
further 9% were visiting for ‘leisure’ and 8% indicated that they visit Grantham for educational purposes. 
Almost 10% of respondents identified themselves as visiting for ‘other” reasons which included:

• Some were accessing essential services such as banks and dentist;
• Some were neighbouring residents to Grantham;
• Others were visiting for family reasons such as school run/collection and visiting family; and
• Others visiting for recreational and social purposes including meeting friends.

Grantham Town Centre Survey

2 / 10

48.62% 211

8.99% 39

8.06% 35

24.88% 108

9.45% 41

TOTAL 434

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%

8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%

8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%

24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%

9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please specify)

Q3 How often to you visit Grantham town centre?
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

Every day
(weekdays)

Weekends

Once or twice
a week

Once a month

Rarely

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%

4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%

31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%

7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%

5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%

115



PAGE 6

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.3 HOW OFTEN DO YOU VISIT GRANTHAM?

People were asked to indicate the frequency of their visits to Grantham Town Centre. 

Of the 438 responses, a majority of respondents (50%) visit Grantham ‘every day’ during the week and only 
a small percentage (5%) of respondents visiting on ‘weekends’. Almost a third of respondents (31%) visit 
Grantham ‘once or twice a week’. Only a small number of people visited the Town Centre once a month (8%) 
or ‘rarely’ (6%).

Grantham Town Centre Survey

2 / 10

48.62% 211

8.99% 39

8.06% 35

24.88% 108

9.45% 41

TOTAL 434

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%48.62%

8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%8.99%

8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%8.06%

24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%24.88%

9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%9.45%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Work

Leisure

Education

Shopping

Other (please specify)

Q3 How often to you visit Grantham town centre?
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

Every day
(weekdays)

Weekends

Once or twice
a week

Once a month

Rarely

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%50.46%

4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%4.61%

31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%31.11%

7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%7.83%

5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%5.99%

116



PAGE 7

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.4 HOW DID YOU GET TO GRANTHAM TODAY?

To get a clear picture of how people travel to Grantham, respondents were asked to make a selection from 
one of four pre-set options.

A total of 433 people responded to this question, of which 62% indicated they travel by ‘car’. ‘Walking’ was 
the second most common response, with 28% of respondents indicating that they walked to Grantham. Over 
7% of respondents travel by bus or train, while only a small percentage of respondents (less than 1%) cycle 
to Grantham. 

Grantham Town Centre Survey

3 / 10

50.46% 219

4.61% 20

31.11% 135

7.83% 34

5.99% 26

TOTAL 434

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Every day (weekdays)

Weekends

Once or twice a week

Once a month

Rarely

4.62% 20

61.89% 268

0.46% 2

28.18% 122

2.54% 11

2.31% 10

Q4 How did you travel to Grantham today?
Answered: 433 Skipped: 7

TOTAL 433

Bus

Car

Cycle

Walk

Train

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

4.62%4.62%4.62%4.62%4.62%

61.89%61.89%61.89%61.89%61.89%

0.46%0.46%0.46%0.46%0.46%

28.18%28.18%28.18%28.18%28.18%

2.54%2.54%2.54%2.54%2.54%

2.31%2.31%2.31%2.31%2.31%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Bus

Car

Cycle

Walk

Train

Other (please specify)

117



PAGE 8

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.5 PLEASE PROVIDE ONE WORD TO DESCRIBE GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE. (ONE 
WORD ONLY)

Respondents were asked to share one word to describe Grantham Town Centre. Quick response questions 
like this are an effective way of succinctly capturing local sentiment and perceptions at a point in time. The 
diagram below represents some of the words used to describe Grantham.

Based on a total of 400 responses to date, the most reoccurring word provided by respondents to describe 
Grantham was ‘boring’ and ‘tired’, indicating that there is room for improvements to both the physical and 
social aspects of the Town Centre. ‘Potential’ was also frequently used to describe Grantham.

The most commonly occurring words used to describe Grantham Town Centre include:

• Boring (20 responses)
• Tired (19 responses)
• Dull (15 responses)
• Empty (14 responses)
• Rundown (14 responses)
• Busy (13 responses)
• Poor (10 responses)
• Potential (8 responses)

118



PAGE 9

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.6 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE IS KNOWN FOR…

Respondents were asked to share their views on what they thought Grantham Town Centre was known for. 
The purpose of this questions was to gain different perspectives about local character and identity to inform 
future masterplanning. Respondents could select from their answer from four pre-set options (heritage, 
culture/arts, shopping, education) or provide an alternative ‘other’ response. Responses could choose 
multiple answers. From a total of 422, there have a been a mixture of responses across both the pre-
selected options and open ended ‘other’ responses. 

Of the pre-set options, the majority of responses (36%) indicated that Grantham Town Centre was best 
known for its ‘heritage’. The second most common response was ‘shopping’, which was selected by 21% 
respondents. ‘Art’s and culture’ was the least common response (10%).

Please note, these responses should be read in context with ‘other’ responses which were provided by 
respondents (see below).

Grantham Town Centre Survey

4 / 10

Q5 Please provide one word to describe Grantham town centre. (One
word only)

Answered: 400 Skipped: 40

36.02% 152

9.95% 42

20.85% 88

12.09% 51

39.81% 168

Q6 Grantham town centre is known for...
Answered: 422 Skipped: 18

Total Respondents: 422  

Heritage

Culture/ Arts

Shopping

Education

Other (please
specify)

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

36.02%36.02%36.02%36.02%36.02%

9.95%9.95%9.95%9.95%9.95%

20.85%20.85%20.85%20.85%20.85%

12.09%12.09%12.09%12.09%12.09%

39.81%39.81%39.81%39.81%39.81%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Heritage

Culture/ Arts

Shopping

Education

Other (please specify)

Q7 What would encourage you to visit Grantham Town Centre more
frequently?

Answered: 382 Skipped: 58

119



PAGE 10

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.6 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE IS KNOWN FOR… (CONT.)

In addition to the pre set options, there were a number of ‘other’ comments which were shared about what 
Grantham is known for. Most respondents only provided one or two word responses, so in this context, the 
word cloud below illustrates the number and type of other responses received. 

In summary:

• ‘Nothing’ was stated most frequently with many people saying that there is nothing significant that 
Grantham is known for. 

• Other commonly occurring sentiments ‘charity shops’ and ‘empty shops

120



PAGE 11

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.7 WHAT WOULD ENCOURAGE YOU TO COME TO GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE  
MORE FREQUENTLY?

To understand what some of the key priorities for residents and locals, respondents were asked to identify 
opportunities that might encourage people to visit Grantham Town Centre more frequently. Respondents 
could choose multiple answers for this question.

A total of 434 respondents answered this question. Consistent with the responses provided around the 
identity of Grantham Town Centre, the top priorities that would encourage people to visit were ‘better 
shopping’ (69%) and ‘more local, independent shops’ (57%). Respondents also felt that ‘traffic improvements’ 
and ‘improved pedestrian’ routes will encourage a visit to the Town Centre, representing 44% and 27% 
proportion of responses respectively.

Grantham Town Centre Survey

5 / 10

23.56% 90

69.37% 265

28.27% 108

57.33% 219

18.32% 70

44.24% 169

27.23% 104

26.96% 103

16.75% 64

Total Respondents: 382  

More community
events

Better shopping

More cultural
activities

More local,
independent...

More parks and
open spaces

Traffic
improvements

Improved
pedestrian...

More evening
activities

Improved safety

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

23.56%23.56%23.56%23.56%23.56%

69.37%69.37%69.37%69.37%69.37%

28.27%28.27%28.27%28.27%28.27%

57.33%57.33%57.33%57.33%57.33%

18.32%18.32%18.32%18.32%18.32%

44.24%44.24%44.24%44.24%44.24%

27.23%27.23%27.23%27.23%27.23%

26.96%26.96%26.96%26.96%26.96%

16.75%16.75%16.75%16.75%16.75%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

More community events

Better shopping

More cultural activities

More local, independent shops

More parks and open spaces

Traffic improvements

Improved pedestrian access

More evening activities

Improved safety

Q8 Quick response True or False
Answered: 434 Skipped: 6

121



PAGE 12

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

OTHER

In addition to the pre-set options provided, there was space for ‘other’ comments, which respondents were 
able to share. ‘Other’ comments were sorted into nine broad themes and the frequency of response is 
provided in the table below.

• Other comments most frequently cited fell into the category of ‘parking improvements’, with many 
people saying that they would like increased parking provision and more free parking around the time 
centre.

• ‘Public realm’ improvements were also mentioned a number of times with respondents asking 
for improved paving and walking routes, with some comments made around increased areas for 
pedestrian streets and places for people to sit. 

• The third most commonly reoccurring theme was retail enhancements, with comments suggesting 
‘better quality’ shops, improving the high street retailing expedience and a desire for more activation 
and ‘less empty shops along the main street.

Theme No. Responses

Parking improvements 18

Public realm improvements 12

Retail enhancements 11

More activities 6

Non-specific 5

Public transport improvements 4

Social improvements 2

Better business environment 2

Protect heritage 1

Total ‘Other Comments’ 61

122



PAGE 13

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.8 TRUE OR FALSE

The results from a quick response ‘true or false’ questionnaire are provided below. 

Grantham Town Centre Survey

6 / 10

True False

Grantham town
centre is...

Grantham town
centre is...

I would like
to live in...

Grantham town
centre is a...

Grantham town
centre is a...

I like how
Grantham tow...

Grantham town
centre’s...

Grantham town
centre provi...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%

21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%

87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%

42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%

65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%

82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%

13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%

47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%

6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%

78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%

12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%

57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%

34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%

17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%

86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%

52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%

Grantham Town Centre is exciting? 

Grantham Town Centre is boring?

I would like to live in Grantham 
Town Centre

Grantham Town Centre is a good 
place to work?

Grantham Town Centre is a good 
place for families?

I like how Grantham Centre looks 
and feels

Grantham Town Centre’s historic 
character is important

Grantham Town Centre provides 
the local services and facilities  

I need

Grantham Town Centre Survey

6 / 10

True False

Grantham town
centre is...

Grantham town
centre is...

I would like
to live in...

Grantham town
centre is a...

Grantham town
centre is a...

I like how
Grantham tow...

Grantham town
centre’s...

Grantham town
centre provi...

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%93.97%

21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%21.80%

87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%87.71%

42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%42.61%

65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%65.38%

82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%82.12%

13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%13.43%

47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%47.88%

6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%6.03%

78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%78.20%

12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%12.29%

57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%57.39%

34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%34.62%

17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%17.88%

86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%86.57%

52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%52.12%

123



PAGE 14

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.9 RATE YOUR EXPERIENCE IN GRANTHAM TODAY 1-5

Respondents were asked to rate their experience of Grantham. This question was to gauge Respondents 
were asked to share their views on what they thought Grantham Town Centre was known for. 

Quick response questions like this are an effective way of succinctly capturing local sentiment and 
perceptions at a point in time. The graph below shows the ratings given by respondents. 

Of a total of 427 responses:

• The majority of people said that their experience of Grantham is ‘average’ (43%);
• Moderate’ and ‘good’ were the next most selected answers, with 22% and 15% respectively; and
• The least selected response was ‘excellent’ (3%).

Grantham Town Centre Survey

7 / 10

6.03%
26

93.97%
405

 
431

 
1.94

78.20%
330

21.80%
92

 
422

 
1.22

12.29%
52

87.71%
371

 
423

 
1.88

57.39%
229

42.61%
170

 
399

 
1.43

34.62%
144

65.38%
272

 
416

 
1.65

17.88%
76

82.12%
349

 
425

 
1.82

86.57%
374

13.43%
58

 
432

 
1.13

52.12%
221

47.88%
203

 
424

 
1.48

 TRUE FALSE TOTAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE

Grantham town centre is exciting

Grantham town centre is boring

I would like to live in Grantham town centre

Grantham town centre is a good place to work

Grantham town centre is a good place for families 

I like how Grantham town centre looks and feels

Grantham town centre’s historic character is important

Grantham town centre provides the local services and facilities I need

Q9 Rate your experience in Grantham today 1-5 (1: poor, 5: excellent)
Answered: 427 Skipped: 13

16.39%
70

22.72%
97

43.09%
184

14.99%
64

2.81%
12

 
427

 
2.65

Poor Moderate Average Good Excellent

S

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

2.81%2.81%2.81%2.81%2.81%

14.99%14.99%14.99%14.99%14.99%

43.09%43.09%43.09%43.09%43.09%

22.72%22.72%22.72%22.72%22.72%

16.39%16.39%16.39%16.39%16.39%

 POOR MODERATE AVERAGE GOOD EXCELLENT TOTAL WEIGHTED AVERAGE

S

Q10 Would you like to be entered into the prize draw?
Answered: 431 Skipped: 9

124



PAGE 15

APPENDIX B

WORKSHOP 
MATERIALS
WORKSHOP MAP

WORKSHOP IMAGES

WORKSHOP PRESENTATIONS 1 + 2

WORKSHOP AGENDA

WORKSHOP FINDINGS (RAW DATA)

125



PAGE 16

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.1.1. WORKSHOP MAP

GRANTHAM
FUTURE HIGH STREET FUND

1211/130

FEBRUARY 2020 Alan Baxter

AERIAL IMAGE

 
0

N

 A
 52 (Sankt A

ugustin W
ay)

Dysart Road

B1174 (H
igh Street)

W
es

t g
at

e

Vin
e St

Elm
er St

Castlegate

River W
itham

Avenue Road

St Catherine Road

A607

Wyndham 
Park

Greyfriars

St Wulframs 
Church

Market 
Place

Cultural 
Quarter

St Peters 
Hill

Railway 
Station

Station Road

A 52 (Wharf Road)

A 52 (London Road)

A60
7 

(H
ar

la
xt

on
 R

oa
d)

Conduit Ln

Guildhall S
t

11

12

13

14

15

1.2. Workshop Materials

126



PAGE 17

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.1. WORKSHOP IMAGES

127



PAGE 18

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.2. WORKSHOP 1 PRESENTATION

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE

VISIONING 
WORKSHOP

27 FEBRUARY 2020

Welcome and
Introductions

Project Introduction

Engagement so far Feedback so far

Grantham in one word:

What would encourage them to visit more?

Improved safety

More evening activities

Improved pedestrian access

Traffic improvements

More parks and open spaces

More local, independent shops

More cultural activities

Better shopping

More community events 26%

60%

33%

54%

18%

31%

21%

28%

13%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

What is Grantham known for?

1. Heritage 
2. Shopping
3. Culture & Arts
4. Education
5. No unique identity
6. Poor infrastructure/lack of 

amenities
7. Connections
8. Margaret Thatcher

About the workshop

Workshop Activity 1

3 most positive things 3 most negative things

Where are key character areas in Grantham Town Centre?

Why? Why?

Workshop Activity 2

Challenges Opportunities

• Failing highstreets
• Attractive to work
• Sustainability
• Environment

• Social life
• Experiences
• Activities
• Community

Workshop Activity 2

What should Grantham be known for? What should Grantham offer?

What would encourage people to come 
to Grantham?

What are your priorities as a business 
owner/worker for yourself and for your 

customers?

Feedback Community Group 
Interest

128



PAGE 19

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.3. WORKSHOP 2 PRESENTATION

GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE

VISIONING 
WORKSHOP

27 FEBRUARY 2020

Welcome and
Introductions

Project Introduction

Engagement so far Feedback so far

Grantham in one word:

What would encourage them to visit more? What is Grantham known for?

1. Heritage 
2. Shopping
3. Culture & Arts
4. Education
5. No unique identity
6. Poor infrastructure/lack of 

amenities
7. Connections
8. Margaret Thatcher

Improved safety

More evening activities

Improved pedestrian access

Traffic improvements

More parks and open spaces

More local, independent shops

More cultural activities

Better shopping

More community events 26%

60%

33%

54%

18%

31%

21%

28%

13%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Walk & Talk About the workshop

Workshop Activity 1

3 most positive things 3 most negative things

3 opportunities as a…
young person/family member/working professional

Why? Why?

Workshop Activity 2

Challenges Opportunities

• Failing highstreets
• Attractive to work
• Sustainability
• Environment

• Social life
• Experiences
• Activities
• Community

Community Group 
Interest

Workshop Activity 2

What should Grantham be known for? What should Grantham offer?

What would encourage people to come 
to Grantham?

Thank you

Feedback

129



PAGE 20

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.4. WORKSHOP 1 AGENDA

WORKSHOP 1

8 – 9.30 AM

ITEM TIME / 
DURATION

Sign-in & breakfast 7.55 am (5 
mins)

Welcome (presentation structure below)
Project introduction – (short presentation by InvestSK)
General/ around the room introductions – each person:
Who you are?
What you do?
Where you work?
Recap on events & engagement so far
Survey feedback (pending timing)
Overview of workshop – each group is to nominate a spokesperson for feedback
Aims of the workshop

8.00 am
(20 mins)

Workshop activity 1 (current Grantham)
3 tables to have informal discussions about ‘your experience’ of the area, points to speak about:
3 best things – places you love & why? 
3 worst things – places you avoid & why?
Where are the key character areas in Grantham Town Centre?
‘What does Grantham offer?’

8.20 am
(20 mins for 
group work)

Workshop activity 2 (future Grantham)
Each table to discuss aspirations and opportunities for Grantham: 
‘What should Grantham be known for?’
 ‘What should Grantham offer?’
‘What would encourage people to come to Grantham?’ 
What are your priorities as a business owner/ worker? For yourself and for customers
Do you have any plans, ideas or proposals that would influence the Town Centre?
Groups are to consider challenges and restrictions when discussing 

8.40 am
(20 mins for 
group work)

Feedback 
Each group to feedback their key points for best, worst and opportunities – to be fed back in terms of their 
priorities 

9 am (20 mins) 

Local group register of interest & discussion
Show of hands who would be interested in joining a group that helped shape the future of the area. 
InvestSK to describe each group.
Would you be interested in being part of a group? 
Which type of group would you be most interested in?
Town Team
Business Improvement District
Community Review Panel

9.20am (10 
mins)

Close 9.30 am

130



PAGE 21

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.2.5. WORKSHOP 2 AGENDA

WORKSHOP 2

12.00 – 1.30PM

ITEM TIME / 
DURATION

Presentation
Project introduction – (short presentation by InvestSK)
General/ around the room introductions – each person:
Who you are?
I am a…resident, worker, from a community group
Survey feedback (pending timing)
Overview of workshop

12.00 pm
(20 mins)

Workshop activity 2 (Current Grantham)
3 tables to have informal discussions about ‘your experience’ of the area, points to speak about:
3 best things – places you love & why? 
3 worst things – places you avoid & why?
3 opportunities as a…. (young or old person/ family/ working professional)

12.20 pm
(20 mins for 
group work)

Workshop activity 2 (future Grantham)
Each table to discuss aspirations and opportunities for Grantham, including: 
‘What should Grantham be known for?’
 ‘What should Grantham offer?’
‘What would encourage people to come to Grantham?’ 
Groups are to consider challenges and restrictions when discussing 

12.40 pm
(20 mins for 
group work)

Feedback 
Each group to feedback their key points from above activities. 

1.00 pm
(20 mins)

Local group register of interest & discussion
Show of hands who would be interested in joining a group that helped shape the future of the area.
Would you be interested in being part of a group? 
Which type of group would you be most interested in?
Town Team
Business Improvement District
Community Review Panel

1.20 pm
(10 mins)

Close 1.30pm

131



PAGE 22

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

CHARACTER AREAS & INTEREST

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

History, heritage and culture Culture Heritage

Castlegate – heritage buildings Culture Heritage

River and historic character Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill – Guildhall and Cinema – cultural quarter Culture Heritage

St Wulfram’s Church and surrounding area Culture Heritage

St Wulframs – church, school, library Culture Heritage

Cultural Quarter (focus here is the new cinema though) Culture Leisure

River and historic character Public Spaces Green Space

Market Place Public Spaces Open Space

Market Place – Historic market square Public Spaces Open Space

Westgate Public Spaces Open Space

Westgate – historic street and independents Public Spaces Open Space

1.3. Workshop Findings

1.3.1. CHARACTER AREAS

132



PAGE 23

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

CHARACTER AREAS & INTEREST

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Westgate – pedestrianise it. Accessibility & 
Movement Pedestrian

More residential in town Community Housing

Local and boutique shops Community Retail

Co-ordinated approach that everyone contributes Community Social

Heritage and history are important Culture Heritage

Castlegate – heritage buildings Culture Heritage

Georgian railway terraces by the station Culture Heritage

Heritage Quarter - Market Place – Historic market square – the George 
across to St Wulfrhams Culture Heritage

Industrial heritage along London Road and Wharf Road – former Canal Culture Heritage

St Anne’s / London Road – Victorian terraces and a complete parade on 
London Road Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill – but make the most of tit Culture Heritage

St Peter’s Hill – cultural quarter Culture Heritage

Westgate – historic street and independents Culture Heritage

133



PAGE 24

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.1 WHAT IS GRANTHAM KNOWN FOR?

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

A great place, with a great history where people live, work and visit Community Social

People and environmentally friendly Community Social

Margaret Thatcher / Isaac Newton / famous visitors Culture Heritage

Engineering Culture Heritage

Gravity fields Culture Heritage

Should be known for being clean and water – collective partnership 
approach to the ‘beautifying’ wall hanging baskets etc. Culture Identity

Need for standardised branding – eg signage, shop fronts, design Culture Identity

Grantham in Bloom Culture Leisure

Gingerbread Other Other

1.3.2. GRANTHAM’S IDENTITY

134



PAGE 25

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.1 WHAT IS GRANTHAM KNOWN FOR?

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Well paid high spec jobs Community Business

Good / excellent education Community Education

Affordability Community Other

Retail choice / market Community Retail

Connectivity – location good place for families to live Community Social

Isaac Newton Culture Heritage

Margaret Thatcher Culture Heritage

Old meets new – from iron age, bronze age, Roman to medieval to today. 
Destination for a day / weekend / month Culture Identity

Culture / theatre Culture Leisure

Innovation (IT) Other Other

Green energy Other Other

135



PAGE 26

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.2 WHAT SHOULD GRANTHAM OFFER?

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Cycle parking and encouraging of cyclists Access & Movement Public Transport

Change the one-way system Access & Movement Routes

Make this a service station for the A1 – a place where people can stop off Access & Movement Routes

Attract people off the A1 into the Town Centre. Signage is needed towards 
Grantham Market Town Accessibility Wayfinding

More workspace and employers Community Business

Move businesses out to Westgate and Castlegate and Community Business

E.g. redevelop the George Centre as residential Community Housing

Residential development of the High Street corridor – living above retail Community Housing

Activities for after school and public transport home after Community Leisure

Events and activities (see what it would be known for), focused on lower 
footfall periods – e.g. Wednesday Community Leisure

More things to do at lunch time (attract council employees) Community Leisure

Things for children to do – e.g. playgrounds or similar Community Leisure

Pharmacies and useful services such as banks and dentists retained Community Other

A diverse retail offer supporting independent businesses = make it easy / 
attractive for people to support these businesses Community Retail

More independent shops Community Retail

Cater for different audiences Community Social

A positive environment for work to attract new businesses and employees Community Social

Diversity Community Social

Develop the post office site into a landmark project Culture Heritage

Create a cultural artistic space at the station Culture Identity

Welcoming gateways Culture Identity

More cultural activity at St Peters Hill Green Culture Leisure

1.3.3. GRANTHAM’S POTENTIAL

136



PAGE 27

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.2 WHAT SHOULD GRANTHAM OFFER?

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Parking Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrian friendly Access & Movement Pedestrian

More public transport Access & Movement Public Transport

Relief Road Access & Movement Routes

Affordable housing and a good mix of types Community Housing

Mixture of retail experience to suit different incomes (not Stanford) Community Retail

Social meeting space / community space Other

More public toilets Public Spaces Facilities

Street greenery – parklets, seating, street lighting (normally turn off at 
11pm) Public Spaces Open Space

…………cycle routes Access & Movement Public Transport

Parking Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrian friendly Access & Movement Pedestrian

More public transport Access & Movement Public Transport

Relief Road Access & Movement Routes

Affordable housing and a good mix of types Community Housing

Mixture of retail experience to suit different incomes (not Stanford) Community Retail

Social meeting space / community space Other

More public toilets Public Spaces Facilities

Street greenery – parklets, seating, street lighting (normally turn off at 
11pm) Public Spaces Open Space

Cycle routes Access & Movement Public Transport

Parking Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrian friendly Access & Movement Pedestrian

137



PAGE 28

MAY 2020GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

1.3.4. GRANTHAM’S ATTRACTIVENESS AS A DESTINATION

Q.3 WHAT WOULD ENCOURAGE PEOPLE TO VISIT GRANTHAM MORE FREQUENTLY?

WORKSHOP 1

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Shuttle bus service Access & Movement Public Transport

Increased footfall (people attract people) Access & Movement Pedestrian

Customers knowing where to park and for how long Access & Movement Cars

Pedestrianise Westgate Access & Movement Pedestrian

Issues with highways resolved Access & Movement Routes

Pedestrian friendly - easy to get around on foot with more pedestrian 
crossings on the High Street Access & Movement Public Transport

Multi-storey car parks with active frontages and roof top restaurants etc Access & Movement Cars

Improved car parking and ability to pay as you leave Access & Movement Cars

Information on car parking space availability Access & Movement Cars

High quality job opportunities Community Business

Proactive Town Centre management Community Management

Good marketing and promotion (Totally Local) Culture Identity

138



PAGE 29

MAY 2020 GRANTHAM TOWN CENTRE ENGAGEMENT REPORT - APPENDICES

Q.3 WHAT WOULD ENCOURAGE PEOPLE TO VISIT GRANTHAM MORE FREQUENTLY?

WORKSHOP 2

COMMENT THEME SUB-THEME

Using London connections by rail Access & Movement Heritage

Ability to park in more places for longer Access & Movement Cars

District hospital / social care prioritised and mental health care Community Other

Council should run George Centre (like Stanford Centre) Community Business

Encourage blue chip investment Community Business

Choice of more independent shops Community Retail

Community meeting spaces Community Retail

Retail opening hours to reflect shift working @ 7 days/week Community Retail

Employ local people – upskill Community Business

Heritage Centre Culture Heritage

Welcoming gateways (Asda, London Road) Culture Identity

Virtual High Street – promoting High Street businesses, amenities and 
services Culture Identity

Innovation Centre (light) Culture Identity

High Street uplift – look good / feel good Public Spaces Cars

Using London connections by rail Access & Movement Heritage

139



Produced May 2020

140



1 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Future High Street Scheme for 
Grantham 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Economic growth 
 

Lead officer:  
Liz Bates, InvestSK 
  

Date of Meeting  
 
26/05/20 

Assessors: 
Steve Bowyer, InvestSK 
 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 

  

141

Appendix 5



2 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

Future High Street Scheme for Grantham 
The Council is submitting a bid for a Future High Street Fund from the Ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government for capital improvements to 
Grantham Town Centre. These will include the enhancement of public realm and 
strategic property developments and are intended to create a more safe, welcoming 
and accessible environment for businesses and residents. By increasing footfall and 
encouraging a more diverse range of services and businesses, the town centre will 
be revitalised and more sustainable in the future. 

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  New  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 
 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strategy 
have a positive or negative 
impact on any of the equality 
groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or negative. 
If you consider this policy etc 
is not relevant to a specific 
characteristic please explain 
why   

Age 
 
 

Positive  The enhancement of public realm 
within the town centre will 
improve pedestrian access. It will 
also provide a safe and 
welcoming environment with 
seating to allow older people to 
rest as required. 

Disability 
 

 

Positive The enhancement of public realm 
within the town centre will be 
designed to be accessible, safe, 
legible, and inclusive. Further 
information is included in general 
comments below.  

Race 
 

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 
realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic 

142



3 

 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 
realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic 

Religion or Belief   Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 
realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic 

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 
realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic 

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 
realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic 

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 
realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic.  See 
also ‘other groups’ for related 
information 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 
realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic 

Carers Neutral This characteristic is not a 
determinant in the delivery of this 
project, however, the 
improvements made to the public 

143



4 

 

realm are intended to positively 
impact on people from all 
communities regardless of 
protected characteristic.  See 
age, disability and other groups 
for related information 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices of 
multiple 
deprivation) 
 

People using pushchairs/prams This group can be impaired in the 
same way as wheelchair users by 
uneven surfaces, high kerbs, and 
street clutter. The improvements 
made to the public realm within 
this scheme will therefore also 
have a positive impact for this 
group. 

General 
comments 

Design and specification will take full account of accessibility issues 
for those with physical mobility issues and dementia.  
This will include:  

 Tactile paving. 

 Dropped kerbs.  

 The design and frequency of seating.  

 Shared spaces (lack of kerbs).  

 Appropriate surfacing materials (avoidance of uneven 
surfaces). 

 The removal of street clutter and badly placed objects.  

 Disabled parking provision.  

 Footway gradients and crossfalls. 

 
 
3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 

the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 
Research was undertaken on the demographics and population of Grantham and its 
hinterland in order to inform the bid. Case studies on public realm enhancement 
schemes outside of South Kesteven have demonstrated the positive impact 
highlighted above and how it can be achieved. Consultation has been undertaken 
on improvements required to Grantham Town Centre and improved pedestrian 
access came out very strongly. Therefore, the schemes have been designed to 
enhance key locations in order to deliver this. 

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

Designs and cost estimates are at a concept stage and have included for the design 
and quality considerations highlighted in general comments above. Further 
consultation will be undertaken when detailed designs have been completed.  

 

144



5 

 

 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 
a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any potential 

for discrimination or for negative impact and all opportunities to promote 
equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead Officer 
and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality analysis or to 
better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality analysis 
has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 
b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

145



6 

 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Liz Bates 
(Name and title)   Head of Regeneration & Visitor Economy 
  

Date completed:  26/05/26  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

 
Date signed off:     28/05/20  

 

146



Document is Restricted

147

Appendix 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

30 June 2020 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources 

           

Financial Impact Report 

This report summarises the latest position on the 2020/21 Budget framework as a result of the 
financial impact of the Covid-19 crisis. This report provides further information to the report 
presented to the OSC on 26 May 2020. 

 

Report Author 

Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

 
 01476 406210 

  r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Budget and Policy 
Framework 

All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 12 June 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 12 June 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Resources  

16 June 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services OSC is asked: 

1) To review the latest financial position for 2020/21 and comment on the actions being 
taken as detailed in the report; 

2) To agree to continue to monitor the current 2020/21 financial position in preparation 
for the development of an amended budget framework which is due to be 
considered by Council on 17 September 2020. 

 

177

Agenda Item 7

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 This report builds on the report presented to the OSC at its meeting on 26 May 2020 and 

provides members with the latest actual financial position that the Covid-19 pandemic is 

having on the 2020/21 budget framework. 

2020/21 Financial Position 

1.2 The budget for 2020/21 was approved by Council on 2 March 2020. The Medium-Term 

Financial Plan has set out a plan to deliver savings to fund the identified General Fund 

budget gap. For 2020/21 the savings programme is approximately £1m and is set out in 

the Budget report presented to Council on 2 March 2020. The impact of Covid-19 on the 

Council’s finances as set out in this report has made the delivery of those plans more 

difficult to implement due to resources and activity being diverted to deal with the crisis. 

Therefore, the financial impact for both and subsequent financial years will potentially 

exceed the direct losses on income and the direct cost increases provided in this report. 

1.3 Several headings have been impacted upon as set out in the previous report to the OSC 

and this continues to be the case. The information in the report reports the actual position 

as at 12 June 2020 and it remains the case that scenario modelling is being undertaken to 

assess both the short term and medium term of the financial impact for the remainder of 

the year.  

1.4 This report is primarily focussed on income reductions, unforeseen expenditure items and 

the cash flow impact. However, it is important to note that there will be positive 

expenditure reductions occurring during this period following the temporary closure of 

offices and public buildings, changes to working arrangements, furloughing of identified 

staff and reduced levels of recruitment and training. These positive budget reductions will 

be identified through the budget monitoring and management and members will be 

provided with updated information as part of the budget framework amendment proposals.  

1.5 It will be necessary later in the year for Council to approve an amended budget framework 

and Cabinet will be considering the proposed amendments at their September meeting. 

The amended budget framework will also reflect the reduction in fees and charges 

income, Government grants received and emerging costs that were not included in the 

original spending plans. In order to contribute towards the development of the amended 

budget framework, a Joint Budget OSC is scheduled for 26 August 2020. 

Fees and Charges 

1.6 The Council, like many Councils, relies on fees and charges as a key component of its 

financial structure and they play a key role in enabling the Council to continue to provide 

quality services to its residents and support the delivery of the Council’s priorities. The 

impact of specific key areas that were identified in the previous report continue to be 

impacted upon and the latest position in outlined below. It is worth noting that there have 

been no material changes to the 3-month forecast since the last update although it is 

accepted that the longer-term full impact will not be known for many months. 

 

178



 
 

Service Area 
Gross Income 
Annual 
Budget (£) 

Actual Loss 
of Income 
for the 
period 1 
April – 12 
June (£) 

Forecast 
Impact (April 
to 
September) 

(£) 

Commentary 

Arts Centres 1,149,250 239,427 545,894 
Assumed 
closure but 
under review 

Building Control 657,900 79,220 197,370 

Assumed 50% 
reduction over 
6-month period. 
(This is the 
partnership 
impact). 

Car Parking 
fees 

1,293,000 268,193 549,525 

No charges for 
4-month period 
(April – July 
inclusive). 
Impact is 
approximately 
£100k per 
month 

Planning and 
Land Charges  

1,370,600 138,248 366,636 

Assumed 50% 
reduction – 3 
major 
applications 
received in 
June 

Markets 252,700 41,913 94,763 

Occupancy is 
averaging 10% 
of budgeted 
attendance. 
Occupancy is 
expected to 
increase from 1 
June 2020 

Licencing 282,500 23,204 45,906 

Currently a 
50% reduction 
in income 
compared with 
budget  

179



 
 

Service Area 
Gross Income 
Annual 
Budget (£) 

Actual Loss 
of Income 
for the 
period 1 
April – 12 
June (£) 

Forecast 
Impact (April 
to 
September) 

(£) 

Commentary 

Property 
Commercial 
Income 

1,107,850 52,571 132,942 

This represents 
one quarter 
deferred 
income but at 
the present 
time does not 
assume any 
increase in a 
deterioration in 
rent collection 

Trade Waste 366,500 32,361 59,556 

Assumes a 
recovery 
following initial 
reduction 
service use 

Treasury 
Investment 
Interest 

236,000 18,750 47,200 

0.5% interest 
received 
compared to 
0.9% budgeted  

Totals 6,716,300 893,887 2,039,792  

 

1.7 Up to and including 12 June 2020, the income loss has increased from £757k (as at 29 

May 2020) to £894k reflecting the 10 weeks of impact. Based on the actuals to date and 

the updated forecast up to 30 September 2020 the assumed income loss could be £2m. 

The details of the assumed reductions are shown at Appendix A. The model will continue 

to be updated on a weekly basis as the recovery phase is implemented as it is anticipated 

that the recovery (from both a national and local perspective) will start to have a positive 

impact on the forecasting position from July onwards.  

1.8 Income modelling is being undertaken based on different scenarios linked to the recovery 

of the services. The full year impact continues to be modelled and there has been a 

positive movement from £3.8m to £3.5m forecast income reduction following the 

introduction of different assumptions for the next quarter (July – September) and the 

remainder of the year (October – March). However, the recovery assumptions continue to 

be heavily dependent (amongst other factors) upon the easing of restrictive movements 

and the level of economic recovery. 

Cash Flow – Council Tax 

1.9 There are Covid-19 related cash flow pressures relating to core resources that are also 

monitored and modelled. The Council is the billing authority for Business Rates and 

Council Tax and as such raises the bills to residents and businesses but only keeps a 

small proportion of those payments. For Council Tax, the Council retains approximately 

180



 
 

9% or £7.8m out of the total £86m that has been billed. Payments to the preceptors 

(Lincolnshire County Council, Police and Crime Commissioner) are set by regulation in 

February of the preceding financial year and so are immune to any reductions in any 

volatility in cash collected by the Council. In other words, the Council carries all the 

financial risk with respect to collecting monies due.  

1.10 The assumed amount collectable and the actual amount collected will be impacted by 

residents’ ability to pay. The increase in the Council Tax support required by residents 

also reduces the amount of council tax collected. Since April there has been an increase 

of approximately 400 residents now receiving Council Tax support. Based on this 

projection the council tax income could reduce by £337k of which £30k will be a reduction 

for the Council. Bad debt provisions will continue to be reviewed during this period to 

assess the impact on the level budgeted. 

Cash Flow – Business Rates 

1.11 As a result of Covid-19 relief measures taken by the Government for businesses (in 

particular the retail reliefs) the collectable debit reduced from £43.3m to £25m although 

the difference will be compensated via section 31 grant. The Council is partly funded 

through Business Rates and retains a portion of the Business Rates based on an 

assessed need set by the Government. For 2020/21 this is £4.9m equating to 19.6% (11% 

pre reliefs) of the amount collected.  

1.12 The Council is currently part of the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool which has run 

successfully since 2013/14. Based on seven successful years and similar forecasts for 

2020/21, the Lincolnshire authorities agreed to run the Pool for 2020/21. Based on the 

business rates estimates prepared for the year, the Pool was expected to increase the 

retained financial resources locally by £7.3m (of which £900k was forecast for South 

Kesteven). Obviously, the current crisis will have an impact on the forecast local surplus 

and modelling has been undertaken by external financial support on behalf of all Pool 

members (Lincolnshire authorities). It is worth noting that at this stage it is extremely 

difficult to predict the impact on the Pool due to a high number of unknowns and the state 

of the local, regional and national economy once restrictions are eased. The analysis 

undertaken has been to show reductions in business rates income for individual 

authorities and at what point the Pool begins to make a loss. The analysis has been done 

on a uniformed basis assuming a consistent reduction in revenues across the Pool area 

although work has commenced to analyse individual authority impact by analysing the 

business rates base by sector type. The initial findings are: 

 A 5% reduction in forecast business rates reduces the surplus from £7.3m to £4.9m 

 A 15% reduction in forecast business rates reduces the surplus from £7.3m to zero  

 A 20% reduction in forecast business rates reduces the surplus from £7.3m to a 
loss of £3.5m  

Modelling will be undertaken at the end of quarter 1 (end of June) to assess the initial 

impact and to provide updated forecast for the remainder of the year. If a pooling gain is 

declared for the current financial year then it is suggested that the gain be used to 

contributes towards replenishing the budget stabilisation reserve as it is likely to be 

required.  

1.13 The business tax base for South Kesteven has also been analysed to assess the level of 

exposure to economic recovery. The Valuation Office has a business category list of 362 

types, and these have been broken down into low, medium and high risk relative to the 

181



 
 

sector (i.e. retail and hospitality is current classified as higher risk). This analysis reveals 

the following for South Kesteven and confirms that the business sector spread is below 

the regional average: 

Heading Percentage of tax base in each risk category 

 Higher Medium Lower 

South Kesteven 22% 28% 50% 

City of Lincoln 35% 28% 37% 

Lincolnshire 24% 31% 44% 

 

1.14 Appendix B shows the updated cash flow in more detail and includes April and May actual 

activity compared with forecast. Supporting notes are provided to provide a narrative. The 

cash flow modelling continues to be agreed County wide with all authorities working 

collaboratively to share approaches and good practice to ensure a consistent methodology 

is adopted.  

1.15 Based on the current profiling the cash flow does not anticipate any difficulties in the short 

term (based on the actual activity to date) and the modelling assumptions for the next 3-

month period. However, income activity with respect to Council Tax and Business Rates 

will remain a key focus. Whilst the recovery policy has been suspended for the current 

time, Council staff will continue to actively engage with residents and businesses to 

ensure that payments continue to be made where possible. More detail is provided in the 

next section of the report. 

Council Tax and Business Rates 

1.16 These funds are key income sources to the Council and as such are being carefully 

monitored to measure the impact of the current situation on collection rates. Overall 

collection rates up to the end of May are 

 Council Tax 19% (2019/20 20.04%). This reduction in collection equates to £895K 
when compared to 2019/20 level. 

 Business Rates 21.73% (2019/20 23.04%). This reduction in collection equates to 
£326k when compared to 2019/20 level.  

1.17 The direct debit rejection rates continue to be reviewed and compared across Lincolnshire 

to ensure there is a shared understanding of rejection levels and to help identify any 

adverse trends that may occur. However, for the immediate two-month period following 

the pandemic, rejection rates are broadly in line with our local authority neighbours. 

Overall this is a positive comparison and demonstrates the Council’s direct debit collection 

compares well with neighbouring authorities. This is set out below: 

Heading 
Amount Called 

(1st June) £ 
Amount 

Rejected £ 
Rejected 

Neighbouring 
Comparison 

Council Tax 4,883,970.92 16,190.81 0.33% 0.30%-0.40% 

Business 
Rates 

839,141.08 1,540.00 0.18% 0.20%-0.50% 

182



 
 

Rents 238,822.81 8,683.42 3.64% 3%-4% 

   

Other Financial and Cost Pressures  

1.18 Inevitably there has been a need to incur additional expenditure in response and these are 

being captured in order to ensure grant monies received are used to offset and to assist in 

information sharing across the local authority family and Government returns. The 

following is a summary of the main areas: 

Heading  Detail Financial Impact 

Formation of the 
Community Hub  

Redeployment of staff from 
non-essential areas into the 
Community Hub 

Cost neutral to date 

Furlough of staff 

12 officers from the Building 
Control partnership furloughed 
from 28 April and 58 arts 
centre staff furloughed from 23 
March. 3 Building control 
officers returned during May 
and a further 2 to return in 
June  

Overall saving March to May £80k. 
Forecast saving for June £41k 
Saving projection of average £29k 
per month thereafter but based on 
the number of furloughed staff 
each month.  

Key 
Expenditure 

Purchase of PPE equipment 
for specific essential workers, 
software changes to support 
new grant schemes, 
administration costs £68k 

PPE £37k 

Signage £3k 

Hand sanitisers etc £6k 

Homeworking telephones £6k 

ICT software £8k 

Administration £8k 

Changes to 
salaries 

Increase in remuneration to 
operatives and increase in 
overtime rates  

Forecast at £35k per month 
depending upon number of 
operatives and hours worked  

Bed and 
Breakfast 

Increase in demand and 
response to Directive to 
provide housing for all 
homelessness cases 

Spend to date £19k and expected 
a further £22k over next 2 months  

Leisure Provider 
claim  

Leisure provider has submitted 
a claim for financial losses. 
The council has appointed a 
specialist leisure consultant to 
review the claim which is part 
funded by a £5k grant from 
Sport England.  

At the present time the claim is 
being reviewed and challenged so 
it is not possible to specify the 
financial impact at this time.  

Adaptation of 
HRA properties 

Modifications to specific 
properties in order to 
accommodate more bedsits  

Projected 11 conversions for a cost 
£48k (there may be an option for 
Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government funding 

183



 
 

available)  

 

  

184



 
 

External Funding  

1.19 The impact of the pandemic on local authorities across the country is difficult to predict 

due to different demographics, resources and local demands. There has been lobbying to 

Government on behalf of Districts from the Local Government Association (LGA), the 

District Councils Network (DCN), Society of District Council Treasurers (SDCT) and the 

County Council Network (CCN) to ensure that adequate funding is given to Councils to 

cover their losses which are estimated to be £10bn across the sector. The Government 

has asked for three data collection exercises to assess the losses projected by Councils. 

The latest information request was 19 June, but no further funding announcements have 

been made. In summary the Government has allocated £3.2bn to the sector and the 

Council has received to date £1,480,912: 

 

Amount Allocated by 
Government 

Proportionate share to 
South Kesteven 

Basis of Allocation 

£1.6bn £64,622 

Mixture of Adult Social Care 
Relative Needs Formula 
(87%) and Settlement Funding 
Assessment (13%) 

£1.6bn £1,416,290 

Allocation based on a per 
capita basis, and a 65:35 split 
between county and district 
authorities 

 

This funding is designed to meet the costs of dealing with the current crisis, offsetting 
some of the budget shortfalls being experienced and help support short term cash flow. 
However, it is recognised that further funding will be required as the wider implications and 
longer-term impact of the crisis becomes clearer.  

The Council Tax Hardship grant allocation has now been awarded to 2,891 working age 
claimants based on the criteria set out by Government and individual credit amounts of (up 
to £150) has been made to those accounts. This totals £418k, leaving £506k available to 
award to new claimants that may come forward later in the year. 

Financial Options for Consideration 

1.20 The Council’s ability to meet the funding gap is largely dependent upon the level of losses 

sustained and the length of the impact. In the best-case scenario, the impact is contained 

in the three-month period April – June and so the losses set out in the modelling can be 

largely contained by the Government funding received to date. However, this is unlikely 

given the measured response to easing restrictions that will enable the economy to slowly 

recover. Options will be considered in order to respond to the difficulties in delivering the 

transformation and savings plans, the income losses and the cost pressures including  

 Fully utilising the Government funding 

 Utilising the Council’s budget stabilisation reserve in order to meet the budget gap 
once other interventions have been implemented  

It is important that the General Fund balances remain resilient during the pandemic 
because of the uncertainty around the cost and income factors that are set out in the 
report. However, there are a number of expenditure headings that will be positively 

185



 
 

impacted due to the level of non-activity or reduced expenditure over the recent period. 
This is being identified and will be captured as a key element of the amended budget for 
2020/21. 

The level of reserves is provided at Appendix C and provides the provisional balances as 
at 31 March 2020. At the current time the closedown of the 2019/20 accounts is underway 
in accordance with the updated closedown timetable so the balances shown are yet to be 
finalised. However, they provide an accurate summary of the projected reserves position. 
The reserves statement confirms the level of the discretionary reserves of £10.8m and the 
budget stabilisation reserve of £2.8m. This should provide members with reassurance that 
the Council is financially resilient and can respond to the challenges set out in the report 
without a significant detrimental impact. 

Capital Programme 

The currently approved capital programme has funding included which is from the Local 
priorities reserve (a revenue reserve) of £453k in 2020/21, £95k in 2021/22 and £897k in 
2022/23. This increase in revenue reserve contributions is a result of the capital reserves 
being fully utilised leaving only the revenue reserves available. If further reserve funding is 
required to respond to the financial gaps in the Medium-Term Financial Plan, then the 
financing of the capital programme (including a review of the programme itself) will be 
necessary including reviewing the timing of the programme as currently presented.  

Finance Risk Register 

1.21 A Risk Register has been prepared and is shown at Appendix C setting out the financial 

risk categories and the actions that are in place to mitigate those risks. The register is 

dynamic and responsive and will be updated and amended during this period to ensure 

appropriate actions are put in place when the need arises. 

Amended Budget 2020/21 

1.22 It will be necessary to seek approval for an amended budget later this year in order to 

make the necessary changes to both income and expenditure reflecting the changes 

detailed in this report. The amended budget proposals will be presented to a joint Budget 

OSC meeting provisional date is 26 August and then presented to Cabinet on 8 

September ahead of Council on 17 September 2020. 

Summary 

1.23 The report sets out the main headings of the financial impact of the current situation. It is a 

changing picture and the Council responses will be modified and adapted as the national 

easing of restrictions become clearer. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 A version of this report was presented to the Finance, Economic Development, Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 26 May 2020. The Committee requested 

that regular reports be presented at each OSC meeting to ensure members were kept fully 

updated on the changing situation. There were no direct recommendations to Cabinet 

arising from this meeting. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 No other options were considered, a financial update was requested by Councillors. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 As set out in the recommendations. 

186



 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 As set out in the report. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Feedback from Scrutiny Councillors will be fed back to Cabinet in readiness for the 

amended budget proposals for 2020/21. An amended budget framework will be presented 

to Cabinet prior to Council in September 2020. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 This report sets out the financial implications of the current position and informs members 

of the current volatility with both income losses and cash flow projections. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 As part of good governance, it is important members are kept updated in respect of the 

financial position of the Council expenditure during the year. This is particularly important 

during the current crisis. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 Not applicable. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The associated financial risks and mitigations in place are detailed throughout the 

narrative in the report and form the basis of the modelling that is in place. This is an 

explicit element of the cash flow modelling. A risk register is shown at Appendix C and will 

be updated as required. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

Not applicable. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a ‘climate emergency’? 

12.1 The report has a neutral carbon impact. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 The identified implications are referenced in the report. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Council Budget Report: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3827&Ver=

4 

Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee Report: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=3897&Ver=

4 

187

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3827&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3827&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=3897&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=3897&Ver=4


 
 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A – Potential of Financial Impact on Budgets 

15.2 Appendix B – Cashflow Modelling 

15.3 Appendix C – Finance Risk Register 

15.4 Appendix D – Reserves Statement 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

188



High Risk Area

20-21 

Budget

Realistic 

Impact 0-3 

months (April-

June)

Realistic 

Impact 4-6 

months (July-

September)

Assumed 

Monthly 

Impact

Pessimistic

Pessimistic 

Monthly 

Impact Optimistic

Optimistic 

Monthly 

Impact

Realistic 

Impact for 

Apr-June

Realistic 

Impact for 

July-Sept

REALISTIC 

IMPACT FOR 

MONTHS 7-

12 

REALISTIC 

FORECAST 

FOR MONTHS 

7-12

REALISTIC 

FORECAST 

REDUCTION 

2020/21

Arts Centres 1,149,250 100% 90% £95,771 £86,194 100% £95,771 100% £95,771 287,313 258,581 70% £402,238 948,131

Building Control 657,900 60% 60% £32,895 £32,895 70% £38,378 40% £21,930 98,685 98,685 50% £164,475 361,845

Car Parks 1,293,000 100% 70% £107,750 £75,425 100% £107,750 100% £107,750 323,250 226,275 60% £387,900 937,425

Planning and Land Charges 1,370,600 57% 50% £65,104 £57,108 70% £79,952 30% £34,265 195,311 171,325 40% £274,120 640,756

Markets 252,700 80% 70% £16,847 £14,741 90% £18,953 50% £10,529 50,540 44,223 60% £75,810 170,573

Licencing 282,500 35% 30% £8,240 £7,063 70% £16,479 30% £7,063 24,719 21,188 20% £28,250 74,156

Property Commercial Income 1,107,850 28% 20% £25,850 £18,464 50% £46,160 20% £18,464 77,550 55,393 20% £110,785 243,727

Commercial Waste 366,500 45% 20% £13,744 £6,108 60% £18,325 30% £9,163 41,231 18,325 20% £36,650 96,206

Treasury Investment Income 236,000 40% 40% £7,867 £7,867 60% £11,800 30% £5,900 23,600 23,600 40% £47,200 94,400

TOTAL INCOME AT RISK 6,716,300 £374,066 £305,865 £433,567 £310,834 £1,122,198 £917,594 £1,527,428 £3,567,219

High Risk Area

20-21 

Budget

Realistic 

Impact
Monthly 

Impact Pessimistic

Pessimistic 

Monthly 

Impact Optimistic

Optimistic 

Monthly 

Impact

HRA rents (assuming 50% benefits) 12,278,500 5% £51,160 10% £102,321 2% £20,464

Assumed Reduction

Potential of Economy Impact on Budgets
Assumed Reduction

189

A
ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2020/21 Cashflow Statement (£)

Forecast Actual Forecast Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

April April May May June July August September October November December January February March Total

Income

Council Tax 9,086,264 8,722,326 8,033,535 7,680,452 7,895,472 8,068,050 7,895,472 7,981,761 8,085,308 8,033,535 7,947,245 7,973,132 2,122,717 2,125,593 92,928,536

Business Rates 3,670,176 3,228,948 2,461,370 2,221,319 2,595,378 2,286,339 2,420,347 2,376,589 2,387,529 2,316,422 2,412,142 2,089,429 1,206,071 879,712 29,322,823

Rent 1,173,546 1,155,466 1,328,846 1,235,236 1,261,430 1,447,873 1,287,894 1,407,001 1,432,078 1,304,494 1,276,171 1,352,782 1,320,767 1,320,767 17,148,884

Invoices raised to customers 637,717 589,590 207,688 1,114,556 420,773 299,432 710,181 366,478 354,912 218,790 526,853 426,719 426,719 5,710,818

Housing Benefit Overpayments 30,082 24,988 28,820 18,778 22,176 18,097 18,384 23,823 24,813 18,369 12,644 22,756 27,762 27,762 294,266

Reimbursement of VAT 400,000 344,953 400,000 289,743 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 5,089,743

New Homes Bonus 453,000 0 453,442 453,000 453,000 453,000 2,265,442

Section 31 grant 200,000 2,232,587 1,545,455 1,714,975 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 1,545,455 18,914,975

Subsidy 1,386,000 1,386,421 1,386,000 3,107,249 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 1,386,000 19,739,249

Other (grants Covid19, subsidy) 1,734,689 1,859,392 3,594,081

17,036,785 17,685,279 17,126,402 18,580,585 16,220,467 16,025,586 15,252,983 15,830,810 16,080,660 15,359,187 15,198,446 15,749,406 8,435,491 8,112,008 195,008,817

Expenditure

LCC & PCC Precepts, Business Rates Pooling Payments 9,346,000 9,346,115 9,346,000 9,346,115 1,190,000 9,346,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 9,216,000 1,060,000 9,216,000 104,146,115

Government Bus. Rates Pooling Payments 1,800,000 58,740 58,738 58,738 58,740 1,936,305 1,721,160 1,721,162 2,659,943 2,659,943 2,659,945 2,659,944 2,659,944 2,659,943 23,314,505

Salaries 1,000,000 988,666 1,000,000 1,014,277 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 13,014,277

Benefit payments 885,000 852,154 850,000 844,820 850,000 1,650,000 840,000 840,000 810,000 890,000 860,000 800,000 790,000 790,000 11,699,820

Public Works Loan Board Loan Repayments 3,000,000 3,000,000 6,000,000

Rejected Direct Debits 50,000 206,092 50,000 58,806 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 658,806

Creditors 5,250,000 4,508,571 3,000,000 2,106,818 3,000,000 3,000,000 4,500,000 4,500,000 4,200,000 3,020,000 3,075,000 3,500,000 4,685,000 4,650,000 48,486,818

Business Rates/Council Tax refunds 180,000 917,131 135,000 404,517 115,000 200,000 115,000 180,000 175,000 100,000 317,000 171,000 175,000 175,000 2,442,517

18,511,000 16,877,469 14,439,738 13,834,091 6,263,740 17,182,305 17,442,160 20,507,162 18,110,943 16,935,943 17,177,945 17,396,944 10,419,944 21,540,943 209,762,858

Net Cashflow 1,474,215 -807,810 -2,686,664 -4,746,494 -9,956,727 1,156,719 2,189,177 4,676,352 2,030,283 1,576,756 1,979,499 1,647,538 1,984,453 13,428,935 14,754,041

2,282,025 2,059,830

NOTES

April

The Section 31 grant estimated on NNDR1 is normally paid in 12 instalments but Government paid the total amount in April to assist with cashflow which increased the income receipts

Government have rescheduled their share of the NNDR pooling payments to reduce the pressure on cashflow April - June

There has been a decrease in payments to suppliers of £0.741m

There has been an increase in NNDR and Council Tax refund of £0.737m

There has been a reduction in council tax and NNDR income of £0.806m, this will partly be due to the rescheduling of payments and will be monitored on a daily basis

May

There was an increase in the subsidy grant expected to be received of £1.721m which relates to the balance of grant outstanding from 19/20

The New Homes Bonus Grant was received in May rather than April

There has been a reduction in Council tax and NNDR income of £0.593m, this will partly be due to the rescheduling of payments and will be monitored on a daily basis

There has been a decrease in payments to suppliers of £0.893m

There has been an increase in NNDR and Council Tax refund of £0.270m

191

A
ppendix B



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 
 

Finance Risk Register 

 
 

     
 

 

Risk 
ref 

Risk description 
Existing 
controls/plans/mitigations 

Action to be taken to enhance or expand 
existing controls 

Likelihood Impact Rating Priority 
L/M/H/VH 

Risk 
category 

1 

The Council has 
insufficient 
cashflow to 
meets its 
liabilities 

Daily cashflow is produced for 
investment purposes 

An enhanced cashflow has been produced 
which is reviewed/updated on a daily basis to 
identify any issues with cash receipts and 
investments have been placed in in instant 
access accounts to manage cashflow needs 

3 4 12 High Financial 

2 

Treasury 
Management 
returns and 
counterparty 
risk 

Interest rates and counterparty 
risk are reviewed on a daily basis 

Investments have been placed in instant access 
accounts so that if any risks are identified with 
counterparties the investment can be 
withdrawn 

2 4 8 High Financial 

3 

Budgetary 
impact of 
COVID-19 on 
discretionary 
income receipts 
and additional 
expenditure  

Monthly budget monitoring Discretionary income receipts and additional 
expenditure are being monitored on a weekly 
basis to determine the impact of the pandemic 
on the council.  Sensitivity analysis has been 
produced so that the 'best' and 'worse' case 
scenarios are known, this is updated on a 
weekly basis as information is released and 
actual data is known. 

3 4 12 High Financial 

4 

Council Tax - 
non-payment of 
liability 

Collection rates are monitored on 
a monthly basis 

Collection rates are monitored on a weekly 
basis and benchmarked against neighbouring 
authorities 

3 4 12 High Financial 

193

A
ppendix C



Appendix C 
 

5 

Business Rates - 
non-payment of 
liability/closure 
of businesses 
and the impact 
on the 
Lincolnshire 
Business Rates 
Pool 

Collection rates and net rates 
payable are monitored on a 
monthly basis 

Collection rates are monitored on a weekly 
basis and the net rates payable is stressed test 
against the Lincolnshire business Rates Pool on 
a quarterly basis to establish the overall impact 
on the pool position 3 4 12 High Financial 

6 

Reserve levels 
insufficient to 
meet Council 
ambitions 

Reserve levels are monitored 
alongside Council budgets  

The budgetary impact of COVID-19 is being 
monitored against uncommitted reserves and 
the sensitivity analysis is also being stress tested 
against available reserve levels 

2 4 8 High Financial 

7 

Affordability of 
capital 
programme 

Funding is committed to capital 
projects during the budget setting 
process and expenditure is then 
monitored on a monthly basis for 
the duration of the project so that 
under/overspends are known 

Reserve levels are monitored on a monthly basis 
to identify whether resources are still available 
to fund the programme or whether alternative 
funding steams need to be identified 

2 4 8 High Financial 

8 

Classification of 
the business 
sector to 
economic 
recovery 

This is a new risk due to the 
anticipated recession 

Financial advisors are working with Lincolnshire 
authorities and monitoring the percentage of 
businesses which fall into high/medium/low risk 
categories for recovery so that the impact on 
business rates receipts can then be monitored 

2 4 8 High Financial 

9 

Management of 
supplier 
payments 

This is a new risk Supplier payments are reviewed on a weekly 
basis to ensure that only necessary expenditure 
is being incurred that supports service delivery 
or the Council’s community response to the 
crisis  

2 3 6 High Financial 

194



Appendix C 
 

10 

Third Party 
financial claims 

This is a new risk Risk of claims received from third party 
suppliers resulting from their income losses 
being experienced due to trading difficulties 3 3 9 High Financial  

11 

Commercial 
lettings income  

This is a new risk Risk of Council tenant experiencing difficulties in 
meeting their rental obligations over the 
medium term  3 3 9 High Financial  

 

 

195



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GENERAL FUND RESERVES FORECAST 2019/20

Actual Balance 

Fcast 

movement Fcast Balance

Fcast 

movement Fcast Balance

Fcast 

movement Fcast Balance

as at as at as at as at

 31 March 2019 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund

Discretionary Reserves

1 Climate Change 20 20 0 20

2 Commercial 500 500 0 500

3 Training and Development 15 0 15 0 15 0 15

4 Events and Festivals 117 (117) 0 0 0 0 0

5 Street Scene 76 124 200 (24) 176 (29) 147

6 ICT investment 320 (143) 177 95 272 (212) 60

7 Economic Development & Growth 128 (74) 54 (54) 0 0 0

8 Community Fund 78 (78) 0 0 0 0

9 Local Priorities Reserve 9,680 (4,061) 5,619 (95) 5,524 737 6,261

10 Invest to Save 1,000 158 1,158 (233) 925 (150) 775

11 Housing Delivery 912 195 1,107 1,107 1,107

12 Property Maintenance 110 390 500 (125) 375 (77) 298

13 Regeneration 1,213 656 1,869 (870) 999 (310) 689

14 Food Waste 45 29 74 (74) 0 0

15 Crowd Funding 64 64 (64) 0 0

13,694 (2,857) 10,837 (924) 9,913 (41) 9,872

Governance Reserves

16 Insurance Reserve 308 308 308 308

17 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 421 (44) 377 (56) 321 56 377

18                                - Current EmployeesPensions Reserve - Current Employees 1,011 (953) 58 (58) 0 0

19 Budget Stabilisation 1,507 1,336 2,843 0 2,843 0 2,843

20 Building Control 30 3 33 0 33 0 33

21 Football 3G Pitch 50 25 75 25 100 25 125

22 Special Expense Area Reserve 214 (3) 211 17 228 29 257

3,541 364 3,905 (72) 3,833 110 3,943

23 Total General Revenue Reserves 17,235 (2,493) 14,742 (996) 13,746 69 13,815

Homelessness 199 (130) 69 (69) 0 0

Parks 89 (89) 0 0 0

GLEP 357 (347) 10 (10) 1 1

197

A
ppendix D



New Burdens Grant 122 122 122 122

Neighbourhood Planning Grant 75 (32) 43 20 63 20 83

Garden Towns & Villages 90 (90) 0 0 0

Custom Build 30 (13) 17 17 17

Planning Delivery 76 (76) 0 0 0

DHP top  up 7 7 7 7

Individual Electoral Registration 123 0 123 (32) 91 (32) 59

LGA Commercial 6 6 6 6

Garden Village 268 (145) 123 (123) 0 0

Historic England 56 56 56 56

Grantham Growth 69 69 69 69

Welfare Reform 100 68 168 168 168

Future High Streets 49 49 (49) 0 0

Blue Green Corridor 24 24 (24) 0 0

24 Government Grants Received 1,667 (781) 886 (287) 600 (12) 588

25 Working Balance 2,835 (65) 2,770 (315) 2,455 (25) 2,430

26 Total Revenue Reserves 21,737 (3,339) 18,398 (1,598) 16,800 32 16,832

Capital Reserve

27 LAMS Reserve 18 18 18 18

28 St Peters Hill Development 1,959 (1,959) 0 0 0

29 General Fund Capital Reserve 1,775 (721) 1,054 (755) 299 (168) 131

30 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,587 (269) 2,318 (1,123) 1,195 (629) 566

31 Total Capital Reserves 6,339 (2,949) 3,390 (1,878) 1,512 (797) 715

32 Total General Fund Reserves 28,076 (6,289) 21,788 (3,476) 18,312 (765) 17,547

198



 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development 
& Corporate Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

30 June 2020 

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes 

  Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources 

         
  

Outturn Position Report 2019/20 

This report provides Finance, Economic Development & Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee with the detail of the Council’s provisional outturn position for the financial 
year 2019/20. The report covers the following areas: 
 

 General Fund Revenue Budget (including savings and income generation) 

 Housing Revenue Account Budget 

 Capital Programmes – General Fund and HRA  

 

Report Author 

Claire Morgan, Senior Management Accountant 

 
01476 406051 

 claire.morgan@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 12 June 2020 

Approved by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 15 June 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance 16 June 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Finance, Economic Development & Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is asked to:  

1. Review the provisional Revenue and Capital Outturn report and associated 
appendices for 2019/20. 

199

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


2. Review and recommend to the Governance and Audit Committee the budget carry 
forwards shown at appendix E and I and reserve movements shown at section 4 
and 7 in the report. 

 

 The Background to the Report 

1.1   This report provides the Finance, Economic Development & Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the detail of the Council’s outturn position for the 

financial year 2019/20. In order to comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards a number of technical accounting entries are required to be made which can 

create significant variances.  The report ensures that, through explanation and 

presentation, the final account figures can be reconciled back to the original budget set 

by Council.  Table 1 shows the provisional overall summary outturn. 

Table 1 – 2019/20 Overall Summary 

Heading Current Budget 
(£)m 

Provisional 
Outturn (£)m 

Commentary 

General Fund 
Revenue 
Account  

19,293 19,293 Details shown at 
section 2 and 
appendices A, B & C  

General Fund 
Capital 

18,116 8,965 Details shown at 
section 3 and appendix 
D 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 

(5,726) (8,871) Details shown at 
section 5 and appendix 
G  

HRA Capital 16,579 7,142 Details shown at 
section 6 and appendix 
H 

The General Fund revenue account has achieved an overall balanced position and is 

shown in more detail at table 3. 

Salary Vacancy Factor 

1.2 The Council has a budgeted salary vacancy factor calculated at 3.5% of salary budgets 

to offset against in year vacant posts. The annual budgets are (£483k) for General Fund 

and (£158k) for HRA and these have been achieved in 2019/20 and are referenced 

within the variance comments at Appendix B and Appendix G. 

Carry Forwards 

1.3 Due to timing differences in grants and budgets being approved it is proposed to carry 

specific budgets forward into 2020/21 to fund approved projects and the Committee is 

asked to review and recommend them to the Governance and Audit Committee. These 

are detailed at Appendix E (General Fund) and Appendix I (HRA): 

200



1.4 Commentary and review of reserves are detailed at section 4 (General Fund) and 7 

(HRA). Reserves statements are shown at Appendix F (General Fund) and J (HRA). 

 

 Revenue Budget 2019/20 – General Fund  

2.1 The budget set by Budget Council on 1 March 2019 was £17.917m 

Subsequent amendments to the budget framework have been approved by the Council 

and these are summarised in table 2. Budgets have been amended as projects have 

commenced and these changes increased the 2019/20 budget to £20.311m. For the 

purposes of the outturn variance analysis, the budget carry forwards have been 

removed from this which reduces the budget for comparative purposes to £19.293m 

 

Table 2 – General Fund Revenue Budget Amendments 

 

Date of 
Approval 

Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

 Budget approved by Council 1 March 2019 17,917 

September 2018 DeliverSK – Master planning 250 

January 2019 University 117 

June 2019 2018/19 Budget carry forwards  704 

June 2019 2018/19 Grants received 411 

June 2019 Invest to Save – Online forms package 11 

June 2019 Invest to Save - Finance review /advertising sponsorship/internet 
of things 

62 

June 2019 Leisure Centre Programme and Town Centre Management 441 

June 2019 Crowdfunding 100 

June 2019 Feasibility provision in respect of the Property Investment Policy 150 

September 2019 Climate Change 50 

November 2019 ICT Investment 83 

January 2020 Maintenance Investment 15 

Total  20,311 

 

2.2 The forecast outturn position as at Quarter 3 was reported to the Committee on 4 

February 2020.  At this time, the forecast adverse variance on the total cost of provision 

of service was £182k. It can be confirmed that the provisional outturn shows a balanced 

position reflecting the work members have undertaken in ensuring that there is not an 

adverse position at the  year end.  This puts the Council in a positive position moving 

into the current financial year which is particularly important given the challenges 

currently being experienced on the budget framework.  A contributary factor towards 

achieving a balanced position was a one-off receipt of £248k of renewable energy from 

business rates which was not anticipated when the initial business rates estimated 

income return was estimated.  

2.3 The General Fund Provisional outturn position is shown in Table 3 outturn position and 

Appendix A provides a detailed breakdown of the funding of the revenue expenditure.  It 

can be seen that there was a variance of £1.152m at net cost of service (line 7).  This 

includes a depreciation charge of £926k which is then reversed out at line 10 which then 

201



reduces the figure downwards to £226k.  Appendix B provides details of the variances 

per service area along with supporting information explaining the main variances. 

Table 3 – General Fund Provisional Revenue Outturn Position 

 

Description 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn  

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

1 Commercial & Operations 5,457 7,009 8,405 1,396 19.9% 

2 Growth 7,108 6,242 9,016 2,774 44.4% 

3 Finance, Legal & Democratic 7,822 4,869 4,663 (206) (4.2%) 

4 Transformation & Change 0 3,643 4,384 741 20.3% 

5 HRA Recharge (2,470) (2,470) (2,517) (47) (1.9%) 

6 
Removal of Accounting 
Adjustments 

0 0 (3,506) (3,506) - 

7 Net Cost of Service 17,917 19,293 20,445 1,152 6.0% 

8 Interest Payable and Receivable 100 100 (307) (407) 
 

9 Minimum Revenue Provision 308 308 148 (160)   

10 Depreciation (3,619) (3,619) (4,545) (926)   

11 Net Budget Requirement 14,706 16,082 15,741 (341)   

12 Funding (16,389) (16,389) (16,848) (459)   

13 
Transfers to/(from) earmarked 
reserves 

1,683 (14) 786 800   

14 
Budget Carry Forwards from 
19/20 underspends 

0 321 321 0  

15 Net Budget (Surplus)/Deficit 0 0 0 0   

 

 Line 6 – removal of accounting entries specifically IAS19 (employee pension), 
Revenue Expenditure Financed from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) and asset 
revaluations. REFCUS is capital expenditure, which is incurred on non-Council owed 
assets, for example, disabled facilities grant and shop front grant scheme. These 
adjustments are detailed in the Table 4 below: 

 

Table 4 – Removal of Accounting Adjustments 

Description £’000 

IAS 19 (employee pension) (1,982) 

REFCUS  120 

Asset revaluations (1,644) 

Total (3,506) 

 

 Line 7 –shows the total net overall expenditure for the Council. 

202



 Line 8 – additional interest income has been earned through investment of increased 
cash balances and interest rate changes. No external borrowing was required in 
2019/20 so no interest charges have been incurred.  

 Line 10 – in accordance with accounting requirements, depreciation is charged at the 
costs of services where relevant (lines 1-4) but then reversed out at line 10 to ensure 
there is not impact on Council tax and the General Fund.   

 

2.4 Appendix B provides further details of the outturn revenue position for each Directorate 

along with variance comments. 

Savings and Income Generation Update 2019/20 

2.5 The savings and income generation target for 2019/20 was £1.921m.  Overall savings 

and income generation of £1.131m has been achieved during the year. This includes 

additional savings from in year service reviews of £45k which were not budgeted but 

positively contribute towards the savings.  Appendix C provides further details of the 

savings proposals. 

2.6 The provisional outturn for the significant income stream for 2019/20 can be seen in the 

table 5 and chart 1 below.  The Council received £248k less income from that originally 

budgeted which is mainly due to a reduction in the amount of income received from 

planning applications, land charges and commercial waste.  Further information 

regarding these variances are included in Appendix B under the Growth and 

Commercial and Operations Directorates. 

Table 5 - General Fund Significant Income Streams 

Significant income stream 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 
£’000 

 
2019/20 

Provisional 
Outturn  
£’000 

Variance 
from 

Budget 
£’000 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 
Variance 

% 

Development Management (1,076) (922) 154 14.3% 

Green Waste Collection (1,030) (1,059) (29) (2.8%) 

Stamford Car Parks (785) (799) (14) (1.8%) 

Stamford Arts Centre (759) (748) 11 1.5% 

Grantham Car Parks (490) (501) (11) (2.2%) 

Guildhall Arts Centre (320) (344) (24) (7.5%) 

Investment Property (319) (318) 1 0.3% 

Licensing (294) (292) 2 0.7% 

Land Charges (244) (182) 62 25.4% 

Stamford Market (173) (147) 26 15.0% 

Commercial Waste (net) (77) (27) 50 64.9% 

Grantham Market (67) (50) 17 25.4% 

Bourne Market (19) (16) 3 15.8% 

Total (5,653) (5,405) 248 4.4% 

 

 

 

 

203



 

 

Chart 1 - Significant Income for 2019/20  

 

 

 General Fund Capital Programme 2019/20 

3.1 The current 2019/20 General Fund Capital Budget is £18.179m. Table 6 shows a 

summary of the movements: 

Table 6 – General Fund Capital Budget Amendments 

Date of 
Approval 

Capital Budget amendment £’000 

 Budget approved by Council 1 March 2019 14,269 

June 2019 2018/19 Budget carry forwards 3,847 

 Additional Disabled Facilities Grant 63 

Total  18,179 
 

3.2 Table 7 summarises the General Fund capital outturn position as at 31 March 2020. 

There is an underspend of £9.151m which is mainly due to the underspend on the 

Investment and Regeneration investment funding allocation.  This funding has currently 

been re-directed towards the emerging leisure services investment programme in order 

to ensure sufficient resources are available at the appropriate time. 

204



 

 

Table 7 – General Fund Provisional Capital Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Commercial & Operations 1,973 2,024 1,794 (230) 

Growth 11,996 15,757 6,889 (8,868) 

Finance, Legal & Democratic  40 40 55 15 

Transformation & Change  260 295 227  (68) 

Total Expenditure 14,269 18,116 8,965 (9,151) 

Financed By:     

Borrowing (10,000) (10,000) 0 10,000 

Capital Reserve  (750) (750) (721) 29 

St Peters Hill Reserve 0 (1,486) (1,959) (473) 

Useable Capital Receipts (500) (550) (369) 181 

Revenue Reserve Funding (2,079) (4,043) (4,728) (685) 

S106 Funding (23) (23) (22) 1 

Capital Grants and Contributions (917) (1,264) (1,166) 98 

Total Financing (14,269) (18,116) (8,965) 9,151 

 

3.3 Details of the capital individual schemes included in each directorate are detailed at 

Appendix D including variance comments.  General Fund capital budget carry forward 

requests are detailed in Appendix E and approval of these carry forward requests will 

allow approved schemes to be completed in 2020/21. 

 General Fund Reserves 2019/20 

4.1 An integral element of the closedown procedure is to undertake a review of the usage 

and levels of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The financial statements reflect the 

proposed use of these and specific details of the significant balances and reserves are 

set out below and detailed at Appendix F. 

Discretionary Reserves £10.837m (lines 1-13) 

4.2 These reserves have been established to financially support the delivery of the 
Council’s Corporate Strategy including both revenue and capital projects.  In response 
to the Corporate Plan there is an ambition to focus funding towards initiatives that 
accelerate economic growth, e.g. visitor economy, tourism, heritage etc.  
 

4.3 The Local Priorities Reserve (line 7) - has received New Homes Bonus of £1.957m and 
allocations have been utilised as follows:  

 
- £945k has funded St Peter’s Hill Public Realm 
- £341k has funded the University Fit Out 
- £571k has funded the loan to EnvironmentSK 
- £439k to fund two property purchases 

205



- £1.9m to finance a loan to Gravitas Housing Ltd 
- £1m transfer to the Regeneration Reserve 
- £627k to fund revenue expenditure including leisure consultancy and St Martin’s Park 

master planning 
- £301k to fund ICT projects and the purchase of trade waste bins 
- £106k contribution to the reserve from the 19/20 operating surplus 

 
 This leaves a closing balance £5.619m. 

 
4.4 ICT Investment Reserve (line 4) - This reserve has been utilised to finance strategic ICT 

infrastructure improvements and has a closing balance of £177k 

4.5 Invest to Save Reserve (line 8) - In accordance with the decision made by Cabinet on 7 

February 2019 this reserve has been increased by £500k. The primary purpose of the 

reserve is to ‘pump prime’ initiatives for projects that clearly demonstrate within a 

business case that cashable savings could be realised following a one-off injection of 

investment. For 2019/20 £342k has currently been allocated from this reserve to fund 

the following initiatives 

Lightbox, Transformation and Procurement officers - £139k 

Intelligent Automation project - £150k 

Online forms, finance service review, advertising initiative, internet of things - £53k 

4.6 Housing Delivery Reserve (line 9) - This reserve has been increased to £1.107m 

following the transfer of balance of the unspent disabled facilities grant.  Proposals to 

utilise this reserve are currently being developed. 

4.7 Property Maintenance Reserve (line 10) - The primary purpose of this reserve is to 

provide in-year funding to support unforeseen expenditure that may arise in respect of 

the Council’s asset portfolio that would have a detrimental impact on the asset if not 

treated.  The balance on this reserve is £500k. 

4.7 Regeneration Reserve £1.869m (line 13) - This reserve has been increased by £1m 

from the Local Priorities Reserve. The reserve has funded the expenditure incurred on 

St Martin’s Park during 2019/20. 

  Governance Reserves £3.905m (lines 14-20) 

4.8 These reserves are maintained to mitigate risk, satisfy statutory and grant awarding 
bodies requirements and support prudent financial management  

 
4.9 The Insurance Reserve (line 14) - provides cover to meet unforeseen costs relating to 

insurance claims over and above the provisions made in year as part of managing the 
‘in house risk’ with an increased self-insured strategy.  The balance on this reserve is 
£308k.  
 

4.10 The Council holds two Pension Reserves (lines 15 and 16) - The former employees 
reserves funds the annual costs associated with these individuals.  The balance on 
these reserves totals £435k at 31 March 2020. 

 

206



4.11 Budget Stabilisation Reserve (line 17) - To ensure there is minimum financial disruption 

to the funding of the General Fund in respect of Business Rates income, the Council 

has established a reserve to smooth out fluctuations in year to year funding. This 

reserve has been increased by £1.336m as approved by Cabinet on 7 February 2019 

bringing the balance to £2.843m as at 31 March 2020. 

4.12 Special Expense Area reserves (line 20) - £86k of Grantham SEA reserve has been 

used to fund the Wyndham Park improvements, Christmas Lights in Grantham and the 

car park improvements at Queen Elizabeth Park.  This reserve has been replenished by 

£83k leaving a balance of £211k.  This is broken down as: 

  Bourne SEA £25k 

 Grantham SEA £72k 

 Langtoft SEA £3k 

 Stamford SEA £111k 

General Fund working balance £2.770m (line 23) 
 

4.13 The purpose of this working balance is to ensure there is sufficient financial resource 
available in order to meet unforeseen events during the course of the financial year.   
The proposed minimum balance is set at a level that reflects the financial risk the 
Council is currently exposed to. In previous years the target has been £1m, but a higher 
actual balance is being maintained and it is proposed to retain the working balance at a 
minimum of £2.5m due to the anticipated financial volatility over the medium term 
including the uncertainty of future funding from Government.  The balance on this 
reserve is provisional and will be finalised when the Statement of Accounts are 
produced. 

 
General Fund Capital Reserves £3.390m (line 29) 
 

4.14 LAMS reserve £18k (line 29) - The Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) is no 
longer in operation for all authorities; however, the Council continues to receive 
investment interest that is derived from the investment that was placed to support the 
scheme.  The remaining balance of £18k will be retained until the final mortgage 
maturity of August 2020.  At the end of the investment period the balance will be 
reviewed in relation to the outstanding guarantee commitment and excess funds 
returned to balances.  
 

4.15 General Fund - Capital Reserve - £1.054m (line 29) -The General Fund capital reserve 
is used to assist with the funding of the capital programme.  During the year £721K was 
used to fund the acquisition of vehicles replacement programme. 

 
4.16  Useable Capital Receipts Reserve £2.318m (line 30) -This reserve is one of the sources 

of funding the General Fund capital programme. During the year the Council has 
received £100k from vehicle sales.  The remaining £369k expenditure on the capital 
programme has been financed from this reserve which includes £167k on the purchase 
of street scene vehicles, £89k on Wheelie Bin Replacements and £48k on tourism 
signage.    

 

 Revenue Budget 2019/20 – Housing Revenue Account 

207



5.1 The budget set by Council on 1 March 2019 was a surplus of £5.726m, the actual 

surplus for the year is £8.871m. The surplus is fully utilised to fund future investment in 

stock growth and property maintenance.  Table 8 shows the HRA provisional outturn 

position for 2019/20. 

 

Table 8 – HRA Provisional Revenue Outturn Position 

Description 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 
% 

Income (25,455) (25,455) (24,648) 807 3.2% 

Expenditure 17,230 17,230 13,696 (3,534) (20.5)% 

Net Cost of HRA Services (8,225) (8,225) (10,952) (2,727) (33.2)% 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,718 2,718 2,727 9  

Interest and Investment Income (219) (219) (391) (172)  

Investment Property Inc & Exp 0 0 (28) (28)  

Return on Pension Assets  0 0 328 328  

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets  0 0 (1,357) (1,357)  

Capital receipts pooling  0  0  802  802  

(Surplus)/Deficit for the year (5,726) (5,726) (8,871) (3,145)  
 

 

5.2 Appendix G provides detail of the provisional HRA revenue outturn position together 

with significant variances. 

 HRA Capital Programme 2019/20 

6.1 The current 2019/20 HRA Capital Budget is £16.579m. Table 9 shows a summary of the 

movements: 

Table 9 – HRA Capital Budget Amendments 

Date of Approval Revenue Budget amendment £’000 

 Budget approved by Council on 1 March 2019 16,489 

June 2019 2018/19 Budget carry forward 90 

Total  16,579 

6.2 Table 10 summarises the HRA capital outturn position as at 31 March 2020.  There is a 

current underspend of £9.437m which has reduced the in-year transfer from reserves.   

Table 10 – HRA Provisional Capital Outturn Position 

Capital Scheme 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 
 

£’000 

Variance to 
Current 
Budget 

 
£’000 

Refurbishment & Improvement 14,570 14,345  5,202  (9,143) 

Energy Efficiency Initiatives 1,514  1,739  1,841  102  

ICT 250  250  0 (250) 

Vehicle 155  245  99 (146) 

208



Total Expenditure 16,489 16,579 7,142 (9,437) 

Financed By:     

Major Repairs Reserve (5,969) (6,059) (4,664) 1,395 

Property Development Reserve (5,000) (5,000) 0 5,000 

HRA Capital Receipts Reserve (5,270) (5,270) (2,478) 2,792 

HRA Improvement Reserve (250) (250) 0 250 

Total Financing (16,489) (16,579) (7,142) 9,437 

 

6.3 Appendix H provides a detailed table of the provisional HRA capital programme outturn 

position together with significant variances. 

 HRA Reserves 2019/20 

7.1 4An integral element of the closedown procedure is to undertake a review of the usage 

and levels of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The financial statements reflect the 

proposed use of these and specific details of the significant balances and reserves are 

set out below and detailed at Appendix J. 

HRA Reserves £38.719m Line 12 

7.2 HRA working balance £1.544m (line 7) - This balance serves the same purpose as the 

General Fund working balance in that it is established to respond to unforeseen 

financial events that occur during the financial year 

7.3 Capital Receipts Reserve (HRA) £7.260m (line 9) - The Council has established a 

capital receipts reserve where the ‘Right to Buy’ sale receipts are allocated. During the 

year £2.478m has been used to contribute towards the new build programme and 

receipts of £3.880m have been received from HRA sales including 56 housing stock as 

part of the pooling arrangement £802k of these receipts are paid to central government 

and the balance is retained by the council. This reserve will continue to be utilised to 

contribute to the provision of affordable housing and the provision of additional Council 

housing stock. 

7.4 Major Repairs Reserve (HRA) £14.292m (line 10) - This reserve has been increased by 

£6.297m to fund future capital expenditure and £4.664m has been transferred to fund 

capital items for the 2019/20 programme. This will continue to be the primary financing 

for the HRA Capital Programme. 

 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

8.1 Quarterly budget monitoring reports have been presented to this committee and cabinet 

during 2019/20 which have updated members on the estimated outturn position for the 

year. 

 Available Options Considered 

9.1 Not applicable 

 Preferred Option 

10.1 Not applicable. 

 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

11.1 Committee Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the authority, 

as effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in 

209



line with the budget and are targeted towards the Council's priorities. Monitoring 

enables the early identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely 

corrective action. 

11.2 This report provides an overview of the 2019/20 provisional outturn financial position for 

the Council. 

 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

12.1 The outturn report is presented to Finance, Economic Development & Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee for their consideration.  The report will be 

presented to Governance and Audit Committee on 13 August 2020 for their 

consideration in accordance with the terms of reference for the Committee. 

 Financial Implications  

13.1 These are included in the report. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Director of Finance 

 Legal and Governance Implications  

14.1 As part of good governance, it is important members are kept updated in respect of the 

financial position of the Council expenditure throughout the year. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Interim Head of Legal 

 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

15.1 Not applicable. 

 Risk and Mitigation 

16.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have been 

identified. 

 Community Safety Implications  

17.1 Not applicable 

18 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

18.1 The report has a neutral carbon impact 

 Other Implications (where significant)  

19.1 Not applicable 

 Background Papers 

20.1 Determination of Budget 2019/20 and indicative budgets to 21/22 – General Fund, 

Housing Revenue Account and associated Capital Programmes Report 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s22386/2019-

20%20Budget%20report.pdf 

20.2 Outturn Position 2018/19 report 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23133/Outturn%20Report%20201

8-19%20Final.pdf 

210

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23133/Outturn%20Report%202018-19%20Final.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23133/Outturn%20Report%202018-19%20Final.pdf


20.3 Finance Update Report – Quarter 1 2019/20 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23807/Budget%20Monitoring%20

Qtr%201%20Report%20-%20FORMATTED.pdf 

20.4 Finance Update Report – Quarter 2 2019/20 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24305/Budget%20Monitoring%20

Qtr%202%20Report%20FINAL.pdf 

20.5 Finance Update Report – Quarter 3 2019/20 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24762/Finance%20Update%20Re

port%20-%20Quarter%203%20201920.pdf 

 Appendices 

21.1 Appendix A – 2019/20 General Fund Revenue Summary - Provisional Outturn  

21.2 Appendix B – 2019/20 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis  

21.3 Appendix C – 2019/20 Savings & Income Generation Analysis  

21.4 Appendix D – 2019/20 General Fund Capital Programme – Provisional Outturn  

21.5 Appendix E – 2019/20 Budget Carry Forwards General Fund Revenue & Capital 

21.6 Appendix F – 2019/20 General Fund Reserves and Explanation for Variances 

21.7 Appendix G – 2019/20 HRA Revenue Summary - Provisional Outturn and Significant 

Variance Analysis 

21.8 Appendix H – 2019/20 HRA Capital Programme – Provisional Outturn  

21.9 Appendix I – 2019/20 Budget Carry Forwards HRA Revenue & Capital 

21.10 Appendix J – 2019/20 HRA Reserves 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not required 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable Not applicable 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

211

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23807/Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr%201%20Report%20-%20FORMATTED.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s23807/Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr%201%20Report%20-%20FORMATTED.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24305/Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr%202%20Report%20FINAL.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s24305/Budget%20Monitoring%20Qtr%202%20Report%20FINAL.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 
 

2019/20 General Fund Revenue Summary  
 

Description 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
to 

Current 
Budget  

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 

Commercial & 
Operations 

5,457 7,009 8,405 1,396 19.9% 

Growth 7,108 6,242 9,016 2,774 44.4% 

Finance, Legal & 
Democratic 

7,822 4,869 4,663 (206) (4.2%) 

Transformation & 
Change 

0 3,643 4,384 741 20.3% 

HRA Recharge (2,470) (2,470) (2,517) (47) (1.9%) 

Removal of Accounting 
Adjustments 

0 0 (3,506) (3,506)  

Net Cost of Service 17,917 19,293 20,445 1,152 6.0% 

Interest Payable and 
Receivable 

100 100 (307) (407) 
 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

308 308 148 (160)   

Depreciation (3,619) (3,619) (4,545) (926)   

Net Budget 
Requirement 

14,706 16,082 15,741 (341)   

Funding and Resources:         

Council Tax (7,475) (7,475) (7,475) 0   

Section Grants (118) (118) (118) 0   

Retained Business 
Rates, S31 Grant, 
Pooling Gain & 
Renewable energy 

(5,154) (5,154) (5,613) (459)   

New Homes Bonus (1,957) (1,957) (1,957) 0   

Rural Grant (295) (295) (295) 0   

Collection Fund 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

(1,390) (1,390) (1,390) 0   

Total Funding (16,389) (16,389) (16,848) (459)   

Transfers to/(from) 
earmarked reserves 

1,683 (14) 786 800   

Budget Carry Forwards 
from 19/20 underspends 

0 321 321 0  

Net Budget 
(Surplus)/Deficit 

0 0 0 0   

 

213

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

 
2019/20 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis 

 

Commercial & Operations 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Building Control 872,400 (794,750) 77,650 220,225 142,575 183.6% 

Commercial & 
Operations  

212,800 0  212,800 272,475 59,675 28.0% 

Community Resilience 404,500 (38,400) 366,100 397,779 31,679 8.7% 

Corporate Operations 3,567,930 (2,037,500) 1,530,430 1,980,571 450,141 29.4% 

Environmental 1,100,100 (233,000) 867,100 731,126 (135,974) (15.7%) 

Licensing 136,950 (296,800) (159,850) (160,644) (794) (0.5%) 

Street Scene 5,861,241 (1,779,041) 4,115,200 4,963,200 848,000 20.6% 

Total 12,155,921 (5,179,491) 7,009,430 8,404,732 1,395,302 19.9% 

 
 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Corporate Operations 

Lease renewal at Council offices resulting in additional unbudgeted income of (£34k) 

Markets income was £49k lower that budget.  

- Stamford £29k – 90% capacity 
- Grantham £17k – 80% capacity 
- Bourne £3k – 80% capacity 

Business Rates- in year revaluations by the Valuation Office has resulted in a net 
refund of previous years charges (£34k) 

Improvement works within parks of £43k will be funded by the Pocket Parks grant 
received in 2018/19. 

24 

Environmental 

Private Sector Housing Disabled Facilities Grants - specific costs incurred under this 
heading related to capitalisation of salaries (£74k) resulting in a revenue underspend 

Two full time Environmental Health Officer posts were vacant in year with one post 
being recruited in January 2020 and the other to be recruited in 2020/21 resulting in an 
in-year saving of (£36k). This has fully achieved the salary vacancy factor within the 
service area.  

The programme of flood prevention works for 2019/20 was lower than anticipated and 
did not require the use of specialist consultants resulting in a saving of (£27k). 

(126) 

215

Appendix B



Fixed Penalty Notices issued were less than budgeted resulting in an income reduction 
of £36k.  Car park enforcement was delivered in house from October 2019 which offset 
the cost of staffing across the enforcement service as a whole and represented a 
saving against the previous enforcement contract of (£22k) with (£3k) additional 
income over the budgeted amount being received from excess charge fines.  

Street Scene 

Refuse sacks - there has been no increase in the price of plastic and the use of cost 
effective fully recycled plastic refuse sacks has been trialled resulting in a saving of 
(£10k) 

Additional income of (£26k) has been received for collection of bulky waste and the 
sale of wheelie bins for new properties. 

Vehicle Repairs - A larger than anticipated number of vehicle repairs have been carried 
out externally due to the carrying of two vacancies in year resulting in an overspend of 
£33k.  By the end of 2019/20 four of the most costly to maintain vehicles had been 
replaced and following a review of the service additional capacity has been provided in 
the workshop for 2020/21 by filling the vacant posts and creating one additional post so 
the cost of external repairs is expected to fall in future years. 

Green Waste collection - Additional income of (£28k) has been received with 28,599 
households renewing their subscription for 2019/20 and 1,007 new households joining 
the service throughout the year.  90.2% of these households made their payment 
online with 71.8% paying by direct debit. 

Commercial Waste The service continues to grow and increase the number of 
customers.  The net position was budgeted at (£77k) but there is a variance of £50k as 
the outturn position is (£27k). it can be seen from the table below that net income has 
increased by £21k between 2018/19 and 2019/20. 

 

Commercial Waste 2018/19  

£’000 

2019/20 

£’000 

Budgeted Income  (175) (374) 

Budgeted Expenditure  162 297 

Budgeted Net position  (13) (77) 

Outturn Income (112) (203) 

Outturn Expenditure 106 176 

Outturn Net position (6) (27) 

 

Food Waste trial has continued, with additional grant funding (£74k) received in 
2019/20. This will be utilised to fund specific costs in 2020/21. 

Street Scene - additional income of (£36k) has been received for amenities collection 
service which was not anticipated. 

Pool cars - the capital scheme for a keyless entry system is no longer proceeding.  The 
in-year revenue budget of (£26k) has therefore not been spent in 2019/20 and has 
contributed to the overall position of the service area 

Fuel prices have fallen from an average of £1.034 per litre in 2018/19 to £1.008 per 
litre in 2019/20 resulting in an under spend of (£22k). This will be transferred to the 
waste and recycling reserve. 

(139) 

Pension Costs 

Pension costs for accounting entry IAS19 are included within the Directorate These 

1,337 

216



have been removed at line 6 in table 3. 

Asset Revaluations 

Accounting entries for asset revaluations are included within the Directorate. These 
have been removed at line 6 in table 3. 

172 

Revenue Expenditure Financed from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 

Accounting entries for Disabled Facilities Grant are included within the Directorate. 
These have been removed at line 6 in table 3. 

(196) 

Depreciation 

Additional depreciation totalling £319k is within the directorate and removed at line 10 
at table 3 as this is a non-cash item. 

319 

Total 1,391 

 
 

Growth 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Arts Centres 2,452,550 (1,166,750) 1,285,800 1,596,792 310,992 24.2% 

Deliver SK 218,000 0  218,000 218,546 546 0.3% 

Development 
Management 

1,161,785 (1,407,100) (245,315) 230,567 475,882 194.0% 

Growth Management 349,350 (20,000)  329,350 566,701 237,351 72.1% 

Housing 834,165 (310,250) 523,915 645,442 121,527 23.2% 

Invest SK 1,714,750 (303,200) 1,411,550 1,195,336 (216,214) (15.3%) 

Leisure Centres 2,368,650 (147,150) 2,221,500 2,477,394 255,894 11.5% 

Planning Policy 486,700 (40,000) 446,700 526,007 79,307 17.8% 

Property Development 1,239,900 (1,189,650) 50,250 1,559,564 1,509,314 3,003.6% 

Total 10,825,850 (4,584,100) 6,241,750 9,016,349 2,774,599 44.4% 

 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Arts Centres 

Stamford - Income levels have been reduced by £37k which have partially been 
mitigated by (£15k) by reviewing anticipated expenditure of other budget lines up to 31 
March 2020. Net impact of £22k. 

Guildhall -The budgeted level of income from room hire was not achieved in 2019/20 
due to strong competition from other providers and the impact of work to the public 
realm in Grantham £18k 

40 

217



Development Management 
The level of planning applications has reduced this year resulting in income from fees 
& charges underachieving by £166k. There were 6 (14%) fewer major applications and 
83 (4%) fewer minor applications in 2019/20 when compared to 2018/19. This has 
partially been mitigated by additional new income from Planning Performance 
Agreements (£64k).  
Agency costs of £103k were incurred to undertake specific project work. These are to 
be funded from grant monies received in previous years. Costs of £40k for a new 
housing infrastructure fund (HIF) post introduced during 2019/20will be funded by 
Garden Village Capacity Grant received in a previous year. 
 
Conservation - There are ongoing expenses for scaffolding to support a conservation 
building within the district £19k. A charge on the property will be realised in the future 
 

Land Charges –Income levels were reduced by £63k in line with a reduced number of 
searches being undertaken this is offset by reduced search fees and the current level 
of searches (£40k).  there were 3,642 searches in 2018/19 compared with only 3,372 
(7% fewer) in 2019/20. 

287 

Growth Management  
External planning support of £45k will be funded by the Garden Village Capacity Grant 
Future High Street grant funding of (£49k) and Environment Agency grant for the Blue 
Green Corridor project (£24k) will be moved to specific reserves to fund expenditure in 
2020/21. 

(28) 

Invest SK 
Following a review of the funding levels to ISK for the current financial year, a 
proportion of uncommitted expenditure (£300k) has been returned to the Council as 
reported to Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in February 2020. 

(300) 

Planning Policy  
Vacant Neighbourhood Planning Officer 0.8 FTE and Senior Planning Policy Officer 1 
FTE has resulted in an underspend of (£61k). This will be offset by a reduced reserve 
movement of £33k. Increased consultancy cost of £11k due to the complexity of a 
neighbourhood plan has resulting in the need for a public hearing. This will be funded 
by Neighbourhood planning grant received in previous years. 

(50) 

Property Development 
Transfer of HRA shops and garages to the general fund forecast to zero from £25k as 
proposed sites that are held by the HRA will now be utilised to support the ambitious 
HRA new build programme. 
In-year surveyor and graduate surveyor vacancies, 1 now appointed has resulting in 
an under spend of (£44k). This has fully achieved the salary vacancy factor of £10k for 
the service area. 
Feasibility costs have been reduced by (£73k) due to limited pipeline of investment 
and development opportunities. The approved reserve movement will also be reduced. 
Review being undertaken on future use of St Martin’s Park. Currently there are 
increased security costs and no source of income resulting in an overspend of £22k. It 
is proposed to meet this additional cost from the Regeneration Reserve. 

(80) 

Pension costs 
Pension costs for accounting entry IAS19 are included within the Directorate These 
have been removed at line 6 at table 3. 

712 

Revenue Expenditure Financed from Capital under Statute (REFCUS) 

Accounting entries for Shop Front Grant Scheme are included within the Directorate. 
These have been removed at line 6 at table 3. 

77 

218



Accounting entries for asset revaluations are included within the Directorate. These 
have been removed at line 6 at table 3. 

1,472 

Depreciation 

Additional depreciation totalling £574k is within the directorate and removed at line 10 
at table 3 as this is a non-cash item. 

574 

TOTAL 2,704 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Finance, Legal and Democratic 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Finance 2,431,985 (507,700) 1,924,285 1,926,546 2,261 0.1% 

Benefits 28,653,162 (28,886,600) (233,438) (304,070) (70,632) (30.3%) 

Corporate 1,565,529 (128,467) 1,437,062 1,139,055 (298,007) (20.7%) 

Legal & 
Democratic 

2,108,790 (429,500) 1,679,290 1,666,855 (12,435) (0.7%) 

Revenue 
Services 

598,214 (536,400) 61,814 234,136 172,322 278.8% 

TOTAL 35,357,680 (30,488,667) 4,869,013 4,662,522 (206,491) (4.2%) 

 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Finance 

In year vacancies have contributed to overachieving the salary vacancy factor within 

the service area by (£28k). These vacancies have funded honorarium payments made 

during 2019/20 for additional responsibilities undertaken has resulted in spend of £14k 

External payroll support in year due to staffing shortages in Exchequer Services has 

resulted in an overspend of £15k 

Insurance premium savings of (£36k) has been realised in 2019/20.  Further savings 

will be achieved in 2020/21 following a successful procurement with a new provider in 

place from 1 July 2020. 

In year recruitment of the Procurement lead post has reduced the salary costs in 

2019/20 by £20k. The post has been funded from the invest to save reserve for the first 

(15) 

219



2 years of the appointment. 

Benefits 

Administration subsidy grant income has been received at an increased level to the 

budget (£45k) 

In year benefit assessor vacancies – 4 FTE (£99k).  These posts have fully achieved 

the salary vacancy factor within the service area of £15k and the required staffing 

levels will be reviewed in 2020/21 having regard to the impact Universal Credit is 

having on the service demands and the efficiencies being developed as part of the 

process automation programme. 

Additional new burdens grant has been received in year (£68k). This will be transferred 

to a specific reserve in order for the funding to be used in the service area. 

Due to a positive reduction in overpayments the amount recovered was less than 

budgeted resulting in a variance of £230k. 

Welfare reform grant received for (£100k) has not been utilised in 2019/20. This 

funding will be used to contribute to the modernisation within the service area in 

2020/21. 

(67) 

Corporate   

Corporate efficiency savings and income generation budgets have not fully been 

realised  

- Agency spend £75k, monitored with the salary vacancy factor 

- Shared services income reduced by £34k following cessation of 

secondments 

- No further subscription savings were realised during the year resulting in 

an overspend of £35k 

Secondary pension payments increased by £91k following the split between GF & HRA 

– this is funded by a reserve movement 

Procurement Savings of £50k were achieved in 2019/20, against a target of £300k. A 

procurement savings plan has been developed for 2020/21 

Community Fund approved applications of £87k will be funded by 2019/20 budget 

underspends 

Covid-19 related PPE and ICT expenditure of £19k in 2019/20 will be funded by 

Government grant in 2020/21 

 

591 

Legal and Democratic 

Legal - Recruitment to in year vacancies and therefore reduction of external legal 

support has resulted in an underspend of (£48k) 

Democratic & Elections - Net in-year savings of (£25k) from the postponement of filling 

vacant posts in the Democratic service area. Postage, stationery and outside printing 

savings of (£23k) was achieved due to use of current supplier arrangements and two 

uncontested wards at the District elections. 

Individual Electoral Registration (IER) funding – additional grant of (£26k) has been 

received in year funding the Elections and Democratic Support Officer. The budgeted 

reserve movement is therefore not required. 

(122) 

220



Revenues 

In year Revenues officer vacancy has resulted in savings of (£15k) which has achieved 

the salary vacancy factor of £15k for the service area. 

Empty homes review with costs of £22k will result in additional Council Tax revenue in 

future years 

Finders fees of £30k for business rate reviews will result in additional business rates in 

future years. 

Unrecoverable Council Tax of £17k was written off during the year. 

69 

Pension costs 

Pension costs for accounting entry IAS19 are included within the Directorate These 

have been removed at line 6 at table 3. 

(567) 

Depreciation  

Additional depreciation totalling £16k is within the directorate and removed at line 10 at 

table 3 as this is a non-cash item 

16 

 TOTAL (95) 

 
  

221



Transformation and Change 

Service Area 

Current 
Expenditure 

Budget 
(less 

Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

Current 
Income 
Budget 

Current 
Budget 

(less 
Budget 
Carry 

Forwards) 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

Variance 
against 
Current 
Budget 

 

£ £ £ £ £ % 

Customer 
Services 

652,206 (59,850) 592,356 740,970 148,614 25.1% 

ICT Services 1,509,439 (91,200) 1,418,239 1,619,494 210,255 14.2% 

Organisational 
Development 

841,165 (22,400) 818,765 843,230 24,465 3.0% 

Reputation, 
Consultation & 
Communications 

319,350 (4,300) 315,050 390,933 75,883 24.1% 

Transformation 508,589 (10,000) 498,589 789,704 291,115 58.4% 

TOTAL 3,830,749 (187,750) 3,642,999 4,384,331 741,332 20.3% 

 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

ICT Services 

In year vacancies including 2 internal secondments has resulted in an under spend 
of (£86k) 

Corporate licence fees which were not budgeted £78k 

Previous years efficiencies of £16k relating to printers were delayed due to office 
moves and changes to planned alterations. 

Reduced level of income of £25k from an external hosting agreement during 
2019/20. This will be reviewed going forward to ascertain value for money  

Telephony - Increase in costs £28k relating to telephony and mobile costs in 
2019/20. A full review of telecommunications is ongoing. 

61 

Organisational Development  

Print room efficiency savings £40k -The authority will retain some print capability. 
However, the amount of space required for this has been reduced and the available 
office space will be reviewed as part of the broader St Peters Hill office review 
project. 

Centralised Printing/Advertising/Postages and Stationery -There is an underspend of 
(£87k) across all centralised cost centres. These have recently been transferred to 
the Business Support Unit and are currently reviewing the spend in all these areas to 
assess whether budgets can be reduced. 

(47) 

Transformation 

The process automation project has been funded by £150k from the invest to save 
reserve and is in place in the agreed service areas where the automation has been 
implemented. This has achieved (£51k) compared with a budgeted saving of 
(£200k). The reduction in savings is due to longer lead in times than anticipated and 
updated lower resource savings.  However, it is recognised that postponement of 

185 

222



filling vacant posts in specific service areas pending the automation work has 
positively resulted in savings of (£79k) that contribute towards the corporate budget 
position. 

Channel Shift savings - Whilst work is being progressed in this area, £70k of 
budgeted savings has not been realised during this financial year. A Customer 
Experience Strategy has been presented to Rural and Communities OSC which sets 
out the vision for customer engagement 

Innovation team – An in year vacant Innovation Officer post resulting in an 
underspend of (£34k) will be offset by a reduced reserve movement. 

Pension Costs 

Pension costs for accounting entry IAS19 are included within the Directorate These 
have been removed at line 6 at table 3. 

499 

TOTAL 698 

 
 

223



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 

2019/20 Savings and Income Generation Summary  
  

DETAILS 
19/20 

Budget 

19/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 

Variance 
to 

Budget 

  £’000 £'000 £'000 

Green Waste Collection Charge (58) (58) 0 

Environmental Health Increases (6) (6) 0 

Commercial Waste (Net) (77) (27) 50 

HRA - Transfer of Non-Housing Assets (25) 0 25 

Valuation Advice - Recovery of Annual Cost (15) (2) 13 

Planning Policy & Heritage Support Advice to Partners (18) (16) 2 

Planning Fees Increase (176) (150) 26 

ICT Shared Services (40) (15) 25 

Local Lottery In Lieu Of Existing Grants (10) (10) 0 

Shared Service Opportunities (50) (17) 33 

Legal & Democratic Staff Reduction (37) (37) 0 

Restructure Savings (300) (300) 0 

Reduction of Multi-Functional Devices (20) 0 20 

Corporate Procurement Savings (300) (50) 250 

Corporate Use of Agency Staff (75) 0 75 

Corporate Subscriptions (50) (15) 35 

Customer Services Cost Reduction (60) (60) 0 

ICT Staff Reduction (40) (40) 0 

ICT Licence Savings (20) 0 20 

Corporate Increase of Vacancy Factor (60) (60) 0 

Removal of Admin Support  (72) (32) 40 

Communications Admin Assistant (10) (10) 0 

Transformation Process Automation (200) (51) 149 

Channel Shift Savings (70) 0 70 

Medical Insurance Savings (20) (18) 2 

Corporate Procurement - Learning & Development (70) (70) 0 

Communications Reduction in Supplies & Services Budgets (32) (32) 0 

Communications Savings Centralisation (10) (10) 0 

Service Reviews in Year 0 (45) (45) 

 
(1,921) (1,131) 790 

 
 

 

225

Appendix C



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D 

 
2019/20 General Fund Capital Programme Summary  
 

Capital 
Scheme 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 
£’000 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 
£’000 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 
£’000 

2019/20 
Variance 
£’000  

Variance comments 

Commercial and Operations  

Wheelie Bin 
Replacements 

100 100 89 (11)  

Pool Vehicles 0 12 10 (2)  

Disabled 
Facilities Grant 
(DFG’s) 

797 797 665 (132) 

Mandatory DFGs require a referral from Lincolnshire County Council 
Occupational Therapy Team.  Funding is through Government grants and 
the unspent amounts will be held in reserve towards future works. 113 
grants were successfully competed in 2019/20, a further 22 were 
approved in year and will be completed in 2020/21. Funding for all grants 
approved in 2019/20 will be charged to 2020/21 grant allocation. 

Street Scene 
Vehicle 
Procurement 

310 310 204 (106) 

There have been delays in the delivery of 3 vehicles. 1 has been delivered 
in April and the remaining 2 will be arriving in May/June.  A budget carry 
forward of £89K has been requested to cover payment of these late 
arrivals. Additional savings on the purchase of 2 sweepers (£20k) were 
achieved. 

Grounds 
Maintenance 
Equipment 

0 0 50 50 
Vehicles purchased on behalf of ESK.  These have since been sold 
directly to ESK at full cost price. 

Vehicle Electric 
Charging Points 

0 39 0 (39) 

Works were delayed due to unavailability of the power company because 
of Covid-19. Budget is requested to be carried forward to 20/21 in order to 
complete the works by connecting the power to the points which have 
been installed.  It has been confirmed that the related grant will still be 
available in 20/21. 

Vehicle 
Replacement 
Programme 

705 705 707 2  

227

A
ppendix D



CCTV 23 23 23 0  

Pool Car 
Keyless Entry 

14 14 0 (14) 
Scheme is no longer progressing as it is not deemed to be economically 
viable. 

Trade Waste 
Bins 

24 24 46 22 

Due to an additional increase in customers requesting the trade waste 

service. 

Each bin is set to recover its costs over two years within the charges 

agreed with customers 

Growth  

Grantham 
Christmas 
Lights  

40 40 23 (17) 
Savings were made following negotiations with supplier. This has been 
funded by the Special Expense Reserve 

Car Parking 
Infrastructure 

50 50 0 (50) 
Awaiting final decision on which car parks and type of works required. 
Budget requested to be slipped to 20/21 

Market Stall 
Covers 

29 29 0 (29) 
Requested to be carried forward to 2020/21 for re-launch of the market 
offer. 

Tourism 
Signage 

50 100 48 (52) 
Scheme pending response from Highways England and is likely to be 
carried forward into 2020/21.  Budget carry forward is requested. 

Queen 
Elizabeth Park 
Car Park 

30 31 38 7  

Shop Front 
Scheme 

130 130 153 23 
7 shop fronts have been started this year; additional outturn to be covered 
from existing grant funding. 

St Peter's Hill 
Development 

0 1,436 1,418 (18) 
£50k budget carry forward is requested for a cycle shelter to replace the 
demolished facility is required to meet external grant conditions. This will 
be started once new site agreed 2020/21. 

Wyndham Park 
Improvements 

0 0 27 27 
Retention costs were payable in 2019/20. £24k of this cost will be funded 
from Heritage Lottery Fund grant and the remaining £4k will be funded 
from the Grantham SEA reserve. 

Local Authority 
Controlled 
Company 

1,400 1,680 1,900 220 
Delay in receipt of Gravitas property sales income has required additional 
bridging finance. 

Public Realm 0 1,315 1,487 172 
Variations to the original tender contract - final value now agreed 
(infrastructure, materials and design and necessary unforeseen costs 

228



relating to foundation works). Separation and associated works to the 
Civic Suite including replacement of boiler system. 

LED TV Screen 103 103 0 (103) 
Scheme is no longer progressing as it is not deemed to be economically 
viable. 

Guildhall Arts 
Centre - 
Projector 

15 15 15 0  

Meres - Gas 
Boiler 

65 65 0 (65) 
Review of the heating system is still required but will be considered 
alongside the ongoing leisure review. 

Dysart Park 
Improvements 

55 55 55 0  

Invest & 
Regeneration 

10,000 10,000 439 (9,561) 

1 acquisition has been purchased and development of a second site is in 
progress. Strategic decision has been made not to pursue the programme 
further.  
Conversion of the former ambulance station in Stamford into office 
accommodation is still in pre-construction phase. The work to be 
undertaking in 2020/21 requires a budget carry forward for this project of 
£250k 

Wyndham Park 
Car Park 

29 28 21 (7)  

University Fit-
Out 

0 680 688 8  

Property 
Acquisition 

0 0 6 6  

Loan to 
Environment SK 
Ltd 

0 0 571 571 
Loan made to Environment SK for start-up costs. This is a commercial 
loan and will be repaid in accordance with the loan conditions. 
  

Finance, Legal and Democratic 

Payment 
Receipting 
System 

40 40 52 12  

Financial 
System 
Upgrade 

0 0 3 3  

229



Transformation and Change 

Uninterruptible 
Power Supply 
Replacement 

0 15 8 (7)  

ICT 
Infrastructure 

180 200 194 (6)  

Digital Services 
Compliance 

80 80 25 (55) 

Work began in 2019/20 relating to GDPR, data protection, Office 365 
governance and security and is still ongoing into 2020/21. Slippage of the 
programme is due to prioritizing home working solutions during the 
pandemic 

TOTAL 14,269 18,116 8,965 (9,151)  

 

230



APPENDIX E 
 

2019/20 Budget Carry Forwards – General Fund Revenue 
 

Project Funding 

Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Funding of agile project ICT Reserve £80k 

Local Priorities Reserve 
£12k 

92 

Funding of Climate Change initiative Local Priorities Reserve 27 

Funding of University Fit Out Local Priorities Reserves 78 

Funding of Leisure Centre programme 
management 

Local Priorities Reserve 59 

Funding of Procurement Lead Invest to Save Reserve 20 

Funding of Advertising & Sponsorship Invest to Save Reserve 20 

Funding of Deliver SK master planning Regeneration Reserve 91 

Funding of Development Management 
project 

Garden Village Grant 
received in 2018/19 

123 

Funding of homelessness and prevention FHSB Grant received in 
previous years 

69 

Funding of Crowdfunding Specific Reserve 64 

Funding of the District local plan Specific Reserve 54 

Sub Total  697 

Funding of Festivals committed spend in 
2020/21 

Budget underspend 
2019/20 

26 

Funding of St Peter’s Hill Public Realm Budget underspend 
2019/20 

22 

Funding of Rogue Landlord costs Budget underspend 
2019/20 

19 

Funding of Community Fund applications Budget underspend 
2019/20 

87 

Funding of legal software license 
procurement 

Budget underspend 
2019/20 

12 

Funding of Blue Green Corridor project Budget underspend 
2019/20 

60 

Funding of ICT server infrastructure Budget underspend 
2019/20 

35 

Funding of employee survey Budget underspend 
2019/20 

19 

Funding of talent programme training Budget underspend 10 

231

Appendix E



2019/20 

Funding of Website  Budget underspend 
2019/20 

31 

Sub Total  321 

Grants and contributions received that are 
required to fund specific expenditure items 
in the 2020/21. 

 Future High Streets grant 

 Blue Green Corridor project- 
Environment Agency grant 

 New Burdens grant 

 Food Waste trial 

 EU exit costs grant 

  

 
49 
24 

 
68 
74 
52 

Total  1,285 

 
 
 

2019/20 Budget Carry Forwards – General Fund Capital 
 

Project Funding 

Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Street Scene Vehicle Procurement Usable Capital Receipts 89 

Meres - Gas Boiler Usable Capital Receipts 65 

Car Parking Infrastructure Usable Capital Receipts 50 

Market Stall Covers Usable Capital Receipts 29 

Tourism Signage Usable Capital Receipts 50 

Vehicle Electric Charging Points Local Priorities Reserve 39 

St Peter's Hill Development (Cycle Shelter) Local Priorities Reserves 50 

Invest & Regeneration Regeneration Reserve 290 

Digital Services Compliance ICT Reserve 55 

Total  717 

 

232



APPENDIX F 

2019/20 Reserves – General Fund 

  

Description 

Actual 
Balance as 
at 31 March 

2019 
£’000 

Provisional 
movement 

£’000 

Provisional 
Balance 

as at 
31 March 

2020 
£’000 

  Discretionary Reserves       

1 Training and Development 15 0 15 

2 Events and Festivals 117 (117) 0 

3 Street Scene 76 124 200 

4 ICT investment 320 (143) 177 

5 Economic Development & Growth 128 (74) 54 

6 Community Fund 78 (78) 0 

7 Local Priorities Reserve 9,680 (4,061) 5,619 

8 Invest to Save 1,000 158 1,158 

9 Housing Delivery 912 195 1,107 

10 Property Maintenance 110 390 500 

11 Regeneration 1,213 656 1,869 

12 Food Waste 45 29 74 

13 Crowd Funding  0 64 64 

    13,694 (2,857) 10,837 

  Governance Reserves       

14 Insurance Reserve 308 0 308 

15 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 421 (44) 377 

16 Pensions Reserve - Current Employees 1,011 (953) 58 

17 Budget Stabilisation 1,507 1,336 2,843 

18 Building Control 30 3 33 

19 Football 3G Pitch 50 25 75 

20 Special Expense Area Reserve 214 (3) 211 

   3,541 364 3,905 

         

21 Total General Revenue Reserves 17,235 (2,493) 14,742 

         

22 Government Grants Received 1,667 (781) 886 

         

23  Working Balance* 2,835 (65) 2,770 

 
 

      

24  Total Revenue Reserves 21,737 (3,339) 18,398 

         

 Capital Reserve       

25 LAMS Reserve 18  0 18 

26 St Peters Hill Development 1,959 (1,959) 0 

27 General Fund Capital Reserve 1,775 (721) 1,054 

28 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,587 (269) 2,318 

         

29 Total Capital Reserves 6,339 (2,949) 3,390 

         

30 Total General Fund Reserves 28,076 (6,288) 21,788 

*this is an estimated position and will be finalised when the statement of accounts are 

produced 

233

Appendix F



Variance on General Fund Reserve Movement to Provisional Outturn 

  
Description 

Budgeted 
Movement 

£’000 

Provisional 
movement 

£’000 
Variance 
£’000 

Reason for Variance 

  
Discretionary Reserves 
       

 

1 Training and Development (11) 0 11 Funding of Member training not required 

2 Events and Festivals (93) (117) (24) 
Reserve balance fully utilised to fund the overspend on festivals.  Going 
forwards this cost will be included in base budgets. 

3 Street Scene 0 124 124 
Reserve balance increased to £200k to fund financial pressures within 
the Street Scene service areas such as fuel price increases 

4 ICT investment (112) (143) (31) Additional funding to fund the expenditure incurred on agile working  

5 
Economic Development & 
Growth 0 (74) (74) To fund the expenditure incurred on the local plan 

6 Community Fund (42) (78) (36) 
Reserve balance fully utilised.  Going forwards this cost will be included in 
base budgets. 

7 Local Priorities Reserve (1,543) (4,061) (2,518) 

Additional projects agreed in year; Public Realm £945K, University Fit 

Out £341K, Environment SK Loan £571K, Gravitas £220K additional 

loan. Property purchases £439K. 

8 Invest to Save 332 158 (174) In year approval to fund Process Automation, Advertising & Sponsorship  

9 Housing Delivery 0 195 195 Disabled Facilities Grant underspend  

10 Property Maintenance 0 390 390 Reserve balance increased to £500k to fund future property maintenance 

11 Regeneration 282 656 374 

The costs associated with borrowing were not incurred as the council 
internally borrowed to finance the St Martin’s Park acquisition and there 
was no Minimum Revenue Provision requirement. 

12 Food Waste 0 29 29 Revenue grant received in year but not used 

13 Crowd Funding  0 64 64 A new reserve was created to fund this project 

    (1,187) (2,857) (1,670)  

  Governance Reserves        

14 Insurance Reserve 0 0 0  

15 
Pensions Reserve - Former 
Employees (56) (44) 12 The former employee pension recharge has reduced 

16 
Pensions Reserve - 
Current Employees (877) (953) (76) The pension deficit payment was higher than originally estimated 

17 Budget Stabilisation 1,336 1,336 0  

234



18 Building Control 31 3 (28) The building control surplus was lower than originally estimated  

19 Football 3G Pitch 0 25 25 The council is required to set aside £25k p.a. for the pitch renewal 

20 
Special Expense Area 
Reserve (50) (3) 47 

The expenditure on the special expense areas was lower than originally 
estimated  

   384 364 (20)  

          

21 
Total General Revenue 
Reserves (803) (2,493) (1,690)  

          

22 
Government Grants 
Received (313) (781) (468) 

£566k grant funding was received in 2018/19 which was transferred to 
reserves and then utilised in 2019/20. £141k grant fund has been 
received in 2019/20 which has been transferred to reserves for use in 
future years 

          

23  Working Balance (65) (65) 0  

 
 

       

24  Total Revenue Reserves (1,181) (3,339) (2,158)  

          

 Capital Reserve        

25 LAMS Reserve 0  0 0  

26 St Peters Hill Development 0 (1,959) (1,959) The budget for the cinema project was carried forwards from 2018/19 

27 
General Fund Capital 
Reserve (700) (721) (21) The budget for vehicle replacement was carried forwards from 2018/19 

28 
Useable Capital Receipts 
Reserve (350) (269) 81 Vehicle capital receipts were lower than originally estimated 

          

29 Total Capital Reserves (1,050) (2,949) (1,899)  

          

30 
Total General Fund 
Reserves (2,231) (6,288) (4,057) 

 

 

 
 

235



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX G 

 
2019/20 Housing Revenue Account Summary 

 

Description 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 
£’000 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 
£’000 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 
£’000 

2019/20 
Variance  
£’000 

Income:         

Dwelling Rents (24,408) (24,408) (23,645) 763 

Non-Dwelling Rents (319) (319) (286) 33 

Charges for Services and Facilities (662) (662) (670) (8) 

Other Income (66) (66) (47) 19 

Total Income (25,455) (25,455) (24,648) 807 

Expenditure:         

Repairs and Maintenance 8,110 8,110 8,932 822 

Supervision and Management - General 3,201 3,207 3,778 571 

Supervision and Management - Special 1,326 1,320 1,255 (65) 

HRA share of Corporate and Democratic 
Costs 

421 421 421 0 

Depreciation and Impairment of Fixed 
Assets 

3,620 3,620 3,627 7 

Revaluation Losses (Gains) 0 0 (9,056) (9,056) 

Non-enhancing Capital expenditure 0 0 4,566 4,566 

Debt Management Expenses 35 35 42 7 

Provision for bad debts 245 245 131 (114) 

Other Expenditure (Pension Deficit) 272 272 0 (272) 

Total Expenditure 17,230 17,230 13,696 (3,534) 

Net Cost of HRA Services (8,225) (8,225) (10,952) (2,727) 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 2,718 2,718 2,727 9 

Interest and Investment Income (219) (219) (391) (172) 

Investment Property Inc & Exp* 0 0 (28) (28) 

Return on Pension Assets * 0 0 328 328 

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets * 0 0 (1,357) (1,357) 

Capital receipts pooling * 0 0 802 802 

HRA (Surplus)/Deficit (5,726) (5,726) (8,871) (3,145) 

MOVEMENT ON THE HRA BALANCE:     

(Deficit)/Surplus for the Year 5,726 5,726 8,871 3,145 

Other Reserve Movements 262 262 375 113 

Repayment of Principal (3,222) (3,222) (3,222) 0 

Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve  (2,523) (2,523) (2,526) (3) 

Net charges made on Retirement Benefits 
(IAS19) 

0 0 1,780 1,780 

Employer's contribution to Pension Fund 0 0 (689) (689) 

Net (Gain)/loss on sale of HRA Assets 0 0 (1,358) (1,358) 

Capital receipts pooling 0 0 802 802 

Non-Enhancing Capital Expenditure 
Financed from MRR 

0 0 4,566 4,566 

Revaluation (Gains)/Losses 0 0 (9,062) (9,062) 

Reduction in Transfer to Reserve 243 243 (463) (706) 

*Accounting adjustment reversed out on the HRA balance 
 

237

Appendix G



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Explanation of Significant Variances £’000 

Dwelling rents  

Budget is set using a number of assumptions in relation to stock levels, 

average rents and void rates.  As at 1 April 2019 the opening stock figure 

was lower than anticipated as a result of the increase in right to buy sales 

during 2018/19 (65 were sold compared to a budgeted figure of 39) and 

during this year a further increase in right to buy sales (56 sales against a 

budgeted 50) has decreased the stock levels.  In addition to this, delays 

in the new build schemes have further reduced stock levels. Reduction in 

rents from this is estimated at £218k. 

Void rates have been budgeted at 1.5% but are currently averaging 1.8% 

resulting in a shortfall in collectible rent £109k. 

Write offs in the year have been £153k and year-end adjustments to 

reflect 5 days of income relating to 2020/21 have reduced the income by 

£326k. 

806 

Reduction in income for heating service charge of £19k due to repair 
works being carried out in 2019/20.  This is offset by a reduced cost in 
fuel. 

19 

Warden service charges income has increased (£22k) in line with the 
introduction of further temporary accommodation units. 

(22) 

Repairs & Maintenance 
 

Increase in salaries recharged to capital projects (£47k) and repairs 
works rechargeable in nature (£12k) 
 

During the process of re-evaluating the maintenance contracts for the fire 
alarm systems, only statutory works have been covered causing an 
underspend of (£193k).  It is requested that £50k of the budget be carry 
forward to cover other works that have been delayed. 
 

Spend on premises maintenance and scheduled works has increased by 
£270k. Works are reactive in nature and spend dependant on the repairs 
required.  The majority of the overspend is attributable to work on void 
properties. 
 

Redundancy and associated costs from service restructure of £152k. 
Savings from the restructure will be seen in future years. 
 

Pension costs of £622k for accounting entry IAS19 are included. These 
have been removed in the above table within movement on the HRA 
balance 
 

792 

Supervision & Management General 
 

Contribution of £45k from Housing to the newly formed Business Support 
Unit. 

539 

238



 

Increase in legal costs of £101k due to external legal costs now being 
charged directly to the HRA, and an ongoing complex case. 
 

Redundancy and associated costs from service restructure of £37k. 
Savings from the restructure will be seen in future years. 
 

Pension costs of £281k for accounting entry IAS19 are included. These 
have been removed in the above table within movement on the HRA 
balance 
 

Housing Development – There has been an overspend of £75k which will 
be funded through reserves 

Supervision & Management Special 
 

Increase in service charge of Tunstall alarm monitoring system of £22k. 
This is being appraised as part of a full sheltered housing review. 
 

Scheduled communal room refurbishments of (£70k) have been delayed 
whilst other works were undertaken.  Budget is requested to be carry 
forward for the project to be completed in 2020/21 
 

There has been a reduction of (£27k) in gas usage of whilst works being 
done on communal heating 
 

Housing Development – There has been an overspend of £32k which will 
be funded through reserves. 
 

Pension costs of £34k for accounting entry IAS19 are included. These 
have been removed in the above table within movement on the HRA 
balance 

(9) 

Asset Revaluations 
Accounting entries for asset revaluation gains of (£9.056m) are included. 
These have been removed in the above table within movement on the 
HRA balance. 

(9,056) 

Non-Enhancing Capital Expenditure 
Accounting entries for expenditure on non-enhancing capital 
(expenditure incurred through the HRA capital programme, in respect of 
activities to maintain the decent homes standard within the housing 
stock) of £4.566m is included. This has been removed in the above table 
within movement on the HRA balance 

4,566 

Provision for bad debts 
The introduction of universal credit has not had the increase of unpaid 
rents as expected. 

(114) 

Interest 
The rephasing of the new build programme has resulted in reserve 
balances being higher than budgeted which has led to an increase in the 
investment income received.   

(172) 

 
 
 

239



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX H 
 

2019/20 HRA Capital Programme Summary  
 

Capital Scheme 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 
£’000 

2019/20 
Current 
Budget 
£’000 

2019/20 
Provisional 

Outturn 
£’000 

2019/20 
Variance 
£’000  

 
 

Variance comments 

New Build Properties 6,800 6,800 1,930 (4,870) 

Re-phasing has occurred on some schemes due to the 

need to review costs and planning requirements. 2 

schemes were expected to complete but were delayed 

due to bad weather and Covid-19. Work has started on a 

further 8 schemes.  These schemes will be funded 

though the proposed 2020/21 budget so no budget carry 

forward has been requested. 

Stock Growth and Acquisitions 5,000 5,000 805 (4,195) 

Spend was dependant on availability of suitable 

properties or land becoming available. There were 5 

purchases made during the year. 

Kitchens and Bathrooms 

Programme 
1,000 1,000 957 (43) 

Budget was underspent by 4% due to no work being 

undertaken in the final week of March due to the shut 

down due to the Pandemic. 

Roofing 1,200 1,200 1,220 20  

241

A
ppendix H



Electrical Rewires 300 150 137 (13)  

Replacement Door Programme 100 75 52 (23)  

Communal Rooms 70 70 72 2  

Sewage Maintenance 100 50 29 (21)  

Heating and Ventilation 1,514 1,739 1,841 102 

Expenditure on a sheltered housing project resulted in a 

£92k overspend. 

Repairs Vehicles 155 245 99 (146) 

The supplier has had major delays in providing the 

vehicles ordered.  Delivery date will now be in the new 

financial year, so a budget carry forward has been 

requested. 

Housing System Enhancements 250 250 0 (250) 

The full scheme budget will be required in 2020/21 

following a significant feasibility study and dialogue with a 

prospective supplier. Value and complexity of the system 

will require a major services procurement process. A 

budget carry forward has been requested. 

Total 16,489 16,579 7,142 (9,437)  

 

242



APPENDIX I 
 

2019/20 Budget Carry Forwards – HRA Revenue 
 

Project Funding 

Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Communal Room Refurbishment – budget 
underspend from 2019/20 

Major Repairs 
Reserve 

70 

Fire alarms – budget underspend from 2019/20 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

50 

Total  120 

 
 

2019/20 Budget Carry Forwards – HRA Capital 
 

Project 

Funding 

Budget 
Carry 

Forward 

£’000 

Repairs Vehicles – budget underspend 2019/20 Major Repairs 
Reserve 

146 

Housing System Enhancements – budget 
underspend 2019/20 

HRA Improvement 
Reserve 

250 

Total  396 

 
 

 

243

Appendix I



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX J 
 

2019/20 Reserves – HRA 
 

  

Description 

Actual 
Balance as 

at 31 
March 
2019 
£’000 

Provisional 
movement 

£’000 

Provisional 
Balance 

as at 
31 March 

2020 
£’000 

  
Revenue Reserve 
       

1 Insurance Reserve 200 (200) 0 

2 Service Specific Funds (Pension) 436 (175) 261 

3 HRA Improvement Reserve 656 0 656 

4 Loan Repayment Reserve 1,350 0 1,350 

5 Property Development Reserve 14,723 0 14,723 

6 Residents Involvement Reserve 30 0 30 

7 Working Balance 2,007 (463) 1,544 

8 Total HRA Revenue Reserves 19,402 (838) 18,564 

 HRA Capital Reserve    

9 HRA Capital Receipts Reserve 6,660 600 7,260 

10 Major Repairs Reserve 12,659 1,633 14,292 

11 Total HRA Capital Reserves 19,319 2,233 21,552 

     

12 Total HRA Reserves 38,721 1,395 40,116 

 

245

Appendix J



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

30 June 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Covid-19 and 2019/20 Outturn Performance 

This paper details South Kesteven’s performance during the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
It also sets out performance reporting for the financial year 2019/20. It shows the Council’s 
performance data in dashboard format for the key service areas agreed with committee members. 
This follows on from the performance work undertaken since the Quarter 3 2019/20 report 
submitted to committee on 4 February 2020. 

 

Report Author 

Clare Milner/Ben Russell, Performance Leads 

 
 01476 406394 

 Ben.russell@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Elaine Pepper, Head of Organisational Development 9 June 2020 

Approved by: Lee Sirdifield, Strategic Director, Transformation and 
Change 

11 June 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council 22 June 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the content of the report and supports the ongoing transformation of 
performance management. 

 
 
 

247

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Ben.russell@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting agenda @southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1 South Kesteven Response to Covid-19 

1.1 On 17 March 2020, The Cabinet agreed 3 priorities for South Kesteven District Council in 

response to the Covid-19 pandemic 

1. to protect the health of our staff, members and residents 

2. to maintain our critical services; and 

3. to support our local businesses. 

The following information outlines South Kesteven’s performance against those priorities 

to 31 May 2020 

1.2 Two incident teams have been established with the purpose of coordinating the collective 

response to the crisis. This has allowed service areas to highlight issues and formulate 

action plans, driving key messages back to wider teams.  

1.3 A key component of this work has been ensuring that critical services have sufficient 

staffing levels. A staff availability dashboard (Appendix 1) was created to provide daily 

updates on capacity levels. This has equipped Corporate Management Team and senior 

managers with vital information on staffing levels within service areas.  

1.4 The redeployment of 90 staff members from non-critical services has ensured critical 

services can be effectively maintained and that additional activities can be completed to 

respond to the crisis and support our communities. Examples include:  

 Eight members of staff redeployed to support waste collection. This made it 

possible for this key service to operate at normal levels allowing 80,000 household 

bins per week to continue to be emptied.   

 Over 20 officers from across SKDC have been redeployed to the Befriending 

Scheme. They were tasked with identifying the most vulnerable residents and 

making personal phone calls to check how they are coping during the crisis and 

offering help with food or medicines. 

 Each of the eight members of the Organisational Development and Change Team 

have been redeployed to directly support the Council’s response to the pandemic. 

Officers have been working with the County Council on data analysis, setting up a 

centralised Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) store, co-ordinating the 

befriending service, ensuring staff availability information is up to date and also 

leading the organisation on the Covid-19 Incident Room.  

1.5 The redirecting of calls from Business Rates, Council Tax, Benefits and Repairs into 

Customer Services has enabled increased processing capacity. Call volumes increased 

by 1,100 when compared to same period in 2019. However, due to the proactive 

arrangements put in place, the answer rate increased from 90.41% to 93.34%.  

1.6 The incident teams have worked across the county to ensure a coordinated approach. 

Information gathered by the incident teams has been fed back to key agencies. An 

example of this is the provision of daily updates on SKDC’s PPE stock levels to the 

Lincolnshire Resilience Forum.   

1.7 Our Human Resources Team have focussed on the importance of staff mental and 

physical health. A ‘Keeping in Touch’ survey sent online to all employees saw a positive 

response rate of 84%, with a total of 317 responses from a possible 376 staff.  

 

248



 
 

Report findings:  

 73% of staff are in daily communication with their line manager and 25% weekly. 

 74% of staff view activities like Wellbeing Wednesday as helpful. 

 88% find the daily email communication from the Chief Executive and Leader as 

helpful and informative.   

1.8 The Council saw the rapid transformation of working practices. Prior to the pandemic, an 

average of 30 people worked remotely each day. An additional 84 laptops were rolled out 

as part of the Agile Project. This, together with work already completed, enabled over 400 

staff to safely work from home. It also ensured that those who were required to attend their 

normal place of work could do so safely and maintain social distancing. The steep rise in 

officers working from home was made possible by ICT services during the first week of the 

Covid-19 pandemic when the Government guidance was announced to work from home 

where possible. 

1.9 Council meetings have been successfully moved to the virtual environment through the 

deployment of Skype for Business. Between April 3 and May 31, six public committee 

meetings have been held along with a meeting of Council. In addition to this, there have 

been a range of informal meetings and training sessions to ensure the democratic process 

and Council business continues safely. 

1.10 The Council has taken a proactive role in communicating key messages to its residents 

and businesses. The reach for our social media channels has increased significantly. 

Figures for each channel are detailed below: 

 Facebook – this has seen an increase from 309,000 unique users accessing 

content prior to the pandemic, to 584,000 unique users who now view the Council’s 

content. This shows an 89% increase for the Facebook page.  

 Twitter – tweets have been viewed 900,000 times during the pandemic period, 

averaging 12,000 views a day compared with an average of 3,500 a day prior to the 

pandemic period. This is an increase of nearly four times the amount of views.  

1.11 The Council set up a dedicated webpage (www.southkesteven.gov.uk/coronavirus) to 

keep communities informed about the work being done and the availability of Council 

services. This is updated daily and has seen over 21,000 views to date, helping to ensure 

key messages on safety and available support have been circulated.  

1.12 Extensive work has been completed to support the most vulnerable within the district. A 

Community Hub was established at the outset of the crisis to provide a ‘first point of call’ 

for people with concerns or requests.  The SK Community Hub, comprising of 15 

redeployed staff, has ensured that the Council and partners were able to respond quickly 

by coordinating access to help and support available from both the public and voluntary 

sectors. The service operates from 8am to 7pm seven days a week. This saw the council 

working with 55 charitable groups and over 1,500 volunteers. The Hub has handled over 

2,000 enquiries. 

1.13 A Befriending Service was established to reduce the impact of social isolation for the most 

vulnerable within the community: 

 Within 2 weeks, over 1,300 potentially isolated residents had been contacted by 

telephone to offer support and assistance throughout the lockdown period.  

249

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/coronavirus


 
 

 Almost 18,000 residents were contacted directly to make them aware of the advice 

and support that was available to them.  

 Nearly 300 customers signed up to the Befriending Scheme. This has seen weekly 

telephone calls be provided and appropriate linkages be made to wider support 

systems. 

1.14 The work completed by the Hub and the Befriending Service has received positive 

feedback from residents and partner organisations. Examples include:  

 An email from a grateful pensioner thanking us for a phone call made via the 

befriending scheme. The resident praised the service provided and stated that the 

officer concerned was extremely friendly, helpful and polite.  

 Feedback from the Chief Executive of Evergreen Care Trust in Stamford praised 

the Council for the way it is supporting local people, especially the most vulnerable. 

1.15 In support of businesses, South Kesteven ranked 24th in the country for the speed in which 

business grants were released to eligible local businesses. Between 1 April when the 

funds from Government were received and 19 April when the league tables were 

produced, 1,834 grants were paid out to eligible businesses totalling £22.15m of funding. 

This included paying 900 businesses in the first 24 hours of receiving the funds. Over £27 

million has now been paid to local businesses. 

InvestSK is supporting businesses in several other ways: 

 The team has contacted over 350 businesses who were eligible for support but had 

not applied. This ensured much needed funds were distributed to support the South 

Kesteven economy. 

 The InvestSK website has been a central portal for businesses to access support 

and guidance. It provides information on all funding currently available and links to 

other Government sites and business support agencies.  

 A webinar was recently delivered to over 100 local businesses. Virtual business 

club meetings have also been held to promote the help and support available 

during Covid-19.  

 InvestSK is currently in the process of administering the latest Government grants 

scheme that supports businesses ineligible for earlier funding.  

1.16 The Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in over 90 compliments 

being received from residents, members and businesses around the district. Many of 

these offer thanks for the high level of service, speed of response and reassurance 

provided in a troubling climate. 

 

2 Performance Reporting to Committee 

2.1 This report presents the Council’s 2019/20 year-end performance against the agreed 

measures. The performance dashboards are included in appendices 2-8. The dashboards 

show performance against targets, as well as benchmarking information where available. 

An updated commentary also explains the performance and any associated implications.  

2.2 Where possible, the collection of data for the dashboards has been automated. 

Dashboards for Planning, Council Tax and Business Rates are fully automated. Officers 

are only required to input supporting commentary. Where challenges to full automation 

250



 
 

exist, partial automation has been implemented. This significantly reduces time spent 

calculating and displaying performance data. This applies to Waste, Rents, House 

Building and Customer Complaints. 

2.3 Each dashboard includes commentary from the service area it represents, explaining the 

indicators and how they are performing.  

Areas to highlight include:  

 Appendix 5 shows that planning application processing times for major applications 

fell below target in the last quarter. However, over 2019/20 the measures for both 

major and minor applications are performing above target. An increase in the 

number of days taken to determine planning applications in quarter 4 has been 

attributed to the requirement to train new members of the team and the complexity 

of incoming applications. It is anticipated that this measure will remain high in the 

first half of 2020/21. 

 Appendix 6 shows 729 new homes were completed in 2019/20 against the house 

build target of 650 in the local Plan. 22% of the new homes were deemed to be 

affordable housing. 230 homes were built in Grantham, 200 in Bourne and 187 in 

Stamford. 

 The number of customer complaints reduced in 2019/20 compared to 2018/19 by 

18% (106 complaints). This is shown in Appendix 7. Street Care received 67% of 

the complaints. However, it should be noted that Street Care deliver collect over 

80,000 bins each week, touching every household. The service also received the 

66% of compliments. Work is underway to implement a new complaints system 

which will enable improved monitoring of the complaints process.  

 Appendix 8 highlights provisional recycling figures for 2019/20 suggesting an 

improvement in the districts recycling rate. This has increased from 37% in 2018/19 

to 40.8% in 2019/20. A countywide campaign seeks to reduce the proportion of 

non-recyclable materials collected. 

 

3 Operational Performance Reporting 

3.1 Work has continued to develop a range of operational performance dashboards. These 

provide managers with detailed performance information for their area of administration. 

Dashboards include:  

 The Planning Service dashboards show applications by type, officer and decision. 

Information also covers speed of determination, committee decisions and 

proportion of refusals appealed. 

 The Housing Service dashboards show data on housing stock levels by location, 

type and the number of void properties. Homelessness data can be monitored by 

number of assessments, outcome and time taken to assess by officer. This can 

be tracked quarterly. 

 The Human Resources dashboard includes information on headcount, gender 

pay gap, ethnicity and age range. Work is progressing on equipping managers 

with key information for their own teams. 

 The Freedom of Information requests dashboard monitors all requests, speed of 

completion, service area and officer performance. 

251



 
 

 The Environmental Services dashboard is in the early stage of development. Data 

for carbon is being collated to show the carbon footprint from energy consumption 

in Council offices, leisure centres and as a result of business travel. 

3.2 Work to develop the dashboards has slowed due to the redeployment of staff to the Covid-

19 pandemic. As recovery to the pandemic continues, performance leads will develop 

service specific dashboards to assist with operational performance improvements.  

 

4 Key Terms and Definitions 

4.1 Benchmarking groups 

Where possible benchmarking groups have been selected to provide context to South 

Kesteven’s performance figures. The benchmarking datasets are explained below: 

 Council Tax & Non-Domestic Rates: The benchmarking groups for these 

measures are provided by CIPFA. Authorities are matched against a range of 

different measure to ensure near statistical neighbour comparisons are possible. 

 Waste: This group compares performance against the members of the 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership who operate under the same contractual 

obligations.  

 Rents: Benchmarking for this area is currently under review to ensure that the 

authority is compared with similar organisations and that a meaningful comparison 

can be undertaken. This will be included in future reports once the review has 

been completed. 

 

5 Definitions 

5.1 The dashboards seek to present information in plain English. However, a small number of 

technical terms are still used. These are explained below: 

 Appendix 5 – Planning Process Performance Dashboard 

o Major applications are those for more than 10 dwellings or over 1,000 sqm 

non-residential floorspace. 

o Non-major applications are those which include householder, minor and 

other types of applications.  

o Minor applications are those for less than 10 dwellings or below a 

floorspace of 1,000 sqm for non-residential development. It includes 

applications for change of use. 

o Other applications include householders, listed building consent and 

advertisement consent applications. 

 Appendix 8 – Waste Performance Dashboard 

o Non-Recyclables includes crisp packets, contaminated paper/card and 

wood, alongside hazardous materials such as batteries, liquids and 

nappies. 

  

252



 
 

6 Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no specific financial comments arising from the report. The development of the 

new performance management framework will continue to be funded from budgeted 

resources.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 

7 Legal and Governance Implications  

7.1 Regular reporting on agreed performance dashboards is to be welcomed from a 

governance point of view, as it provides a transparent mechanism for reporting on 

performance. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive  

8 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

8.1 There are no issues relating to equality and diversity or safeguarding resulting from this 

report. Any issues that do arise relating to individual items will be addressed as required. 

9 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

9.1 The report details current performance across a range of indicators. The report highlights 

that operational performance measures are being developed, including a dashboard to 

track the carbon footprint of the organisation. This will help to ensure that managers have 

up to date information available to them and are able to see the impact of any changes 

that are made. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The contents of this report do not expose the authority to any additional risks. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None. 

12 Other Implications (where significant)  

12.1 None. 

13 Background Papers 

13.1 None. 

14 Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Covid19 Dashboard extracts 

Appendix 2 – Rents Performance Dashboard 

Appendix 3 – Council Tax Performance Dashboard 

Appendix 4 – Non-Domestic Rates Performance Dashboard 

Appendix 5 – Planning Process Performance Dashboard 

Appendix 6 – House Builds Performance Dashboard 

Appendix 7 – Complaints Performance Dashboard 

Appendix 8 – Waste Performance Dashboard 

253



 
 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

Not applicable 

Previously Considered by: Finance, 
Economic Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

4 February 2020 

Final Decision date   Not applicable 

 

254



255

A
ppendix 1



256



6/12/2020 Page 2

1/1

Cumulative Payments Received Against Target

£0M

£10M

£20M

£30M

May 2019 Jul 2019 Sep 2019 Nov 2019 Jan 2020 Mar 2020

£4M £25M£15M£10M £21M£8M £19M£13M £23M£6M £17M

£4M

£25M

£15M

£11M

£21M

£8M

£19M

£13M

£23M

£6M

£17M

Collected Expected Collection

Percentage of Rent Collected Against Target

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

01 April 2
0…

01 May 2
018

01 June 2018

01 July 2
018

01 August 2
018

01 September 2018

01 Octo
ber 2018

01 November 2018

01 December 2018

01 January 2
019

01 Fe
bruary 2

019

01 March
 2019

01 April 2
019

01 May 2
019

01 June 2019

01 July 2
019

01 August 2
019

01 September 2019

01 Octo
ber 2019

01 November 2019

01 December 2019

01 January 2
020

01 Fe
bruary 2

020

01 March
 2020

7.
12

% 15
.0

0% 23
.0

6% 32
.8

2% 40
.6

2% 47
.9

1% 58
.6

8% 66
.6

6% 73
.7

0%

81
.6

0%

89
.8

0%

96
.7

8%

8.
04

% 15
.6

7% 22
.4

5% 32
.8

5% 40
.3

8% 49
.9

8% 57
.8

3% 65
.5

3% 72
.4

0%

80
.1

1%

87
.9

0%

97
.3

1%

5.
44

% 15
.0

2% 23
.0

7% 30
.4

5% 41
.0

5% 49
.3

5% 59
.2

5% 67
.2

0%

72
.7

0%

82
.0

0%

90
.0

0%

98
.5

0%

5.
44

% 15
.0

2% 23
.0

7% 30
.4

5% 41
.0

5% 49
.3

5% 59
.2

5% 67
.2

0%

72
.7

0%

82
.0

0%

90
.0

0%

98
.5

0%

% Collected Target Collection %

Arrears (By Type)

£0.0M

£0.5M

£1.0M

Va
lu

e 
of

 A
rr

ea
rs

 (£
)

Jul 2018 Jan 2019 Jul 2019 Jan 2020

Former Tenant Arrears Current Tenant Other Arrears Current Tenant Dwelling Arrears

Rents Performance April 2019/March 2020

Commentary/Implications
Prior to the introduction of Universal Credit Housing Benefit was paid directly to the housing rent 
account. Since this introduction there has been a detrimental impact as rent costs are paid directly to 
the tenant and this relies on the tenant paying their rent direct to the Authority. The numbers of tenants 
in receipt of Universal credit has increased from the start of the Covid-19 crisis and the team have 
undertaken an additional 195 UC verifications.
Officers continue to work with tenants to ensure rent is paid and relevant support given, but no letters 
or notices are being sent and no court action is being taken in line with debt policy.
There has been an increase, year on year, on percentage rent collected but overall arrears have 
increased.
The collection figure has been helped by the direct payment from the DWP at the end of March.

Benchmarking peer group is under 
review

257

A
ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



6/9/2020 Page 1

1/1

Current Year Collection Vs. Target

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr 2019 Jul 2019 Oct 2019 Jan 2020

% Paid To Date Target Value

Historic Collection Performance

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

20
.3

0%

29
.4

9%

38
.8

7%

48
.2

6%

57
.6

9%

66
.6

8%

76
.3

9%

85
.7

0%

95
.1

4%

97
.1

6%

98
.8

0%

20
.2

2%

29
.4

3%

38
.7

9%

48
.1

6%

57
.5

8%

66
.8

1%

76
.1

8%

85
.5

1%

94
.7

8%

97
.0

0%

98
.8

1%

20
.0

9%

29
.3

3%

38
.6

6%

48
.0

5%

57
.1

8%

66
.4

6%

75
.8

3%

84
.8

7%

94
.3

3%

96
.6

6%

98
.7

7%

Financial Year 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

98.79%
Collection Rate Target

Commentary/Implications
The collection rate is 0.09% below 2019/20 target – 
this is just £74,258 (0.09% of £82,509,252 total 
liability).

Although collection % is below 2019/20, net receipt 
has increased by £5.2m – resulting in the overall total 
of cash collected increasing.  

During 2019/20 over £5million additional liability has 
been raised.  

Council Tax Performance April 2019/March 2020

98.56%
% Collected (End of Reporting Quarter)

£81.54M
Value Collected (End of Reporting Quarter)

Council Tax Collected Compared to Peer Group
2018-19

97.8%

98.0%

98.2%

98.4%

98.6%

South
Kesteven

CIPFA
Nearest

Neighbours

Lincolnshire
Councils

East
Midlands
Councils

98.79%

98.18%

97.71%
97.62%

259

A
ppendix 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



6/9/2020 Page 1

1/1

Commentary/Implications

The collection rate is 0.05% above 2019/20 target – which is 
a value of £21,492 (0.05% of £42,983,873 total liability).  

During 2019/20 over £1million additional rateable value
has been added to the rating list.  Net rates has also 
increased by £400k compared to the estimated figure 
provided in December 2018.

Current Year Collection Vs. Target

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr 2019 Jul 2019 Oct 2019 Jan 2020

% Paid To Date Target Value

Historic Collection Performance

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Month
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

24
.3

3%

33
.0

0%

41
.7

0%

50
.1

7%

59
.1

7%

67
.8

5%

77
.1

8%

86
.0

3%

94
.2

7%

97
.3

1%

99
.0

5%

24
.2

4%

33
.0

4%

41
.5

0%

50
.1

3%

59
.1

6%

67
.9

4%

77
.1

3%

85
.0

8%

93
.3

9%

97
.3

5%

99
.0

6%

23
.6

8%

33
.1

8%

41
.7

9%

50
.2

0%

58
.8

6%

67
.7

5%

76
.7

5%

84
.4

9%

93
.4

1%

96
.5

4%

99
.1

8%

Financial Year 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

99.10%
Collection Rate Target

Non-Domestic Rates Performance April 2019/March 2020  

99.15%
% Collected (End of Reporting Quarter)

£42.63M
Value Collected (End of Reporting Quarter)

Non-Domestic Rates Collected Compared to Peer Group
2018-19

98.4%

98.6%

98.8%

South
Kesteven

CIPFA
Nearest

Neighbours

East
Midlands
Councils

Lincolnshire
Councils

98.88% 98.78%

98.51%

98.27%

261

A
ppendix 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



6/15/2020 Annual

1/1

Planning Process Performance in:

2019/2020 

Total Planning Applications

1191

Planning Applications Decisions

D
ec

is
io

n Approved conditionally

Refused

93%

7%

Average Days of Determination

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Reporting Period
2017/2018 Q1

2017/2018 Q2

2017/2018 Q3

2017/2018 Q4

2018/2019 Q1

2018/2019 Q2

2018/2019 Q3

2018/2019 Q4

2019/2020 Q1

2019/2020 Q2

2019/2020 Q3

2019/2020 Q4

130
147

222

119
132

339

274

170

303
318

175

420

78 81 85 93 84 83 80 88 91 90 96 87

Major Non-Major

Processing of Planning Applications
Within Time/Agreed Time

Ty
pe Major 4 33

Within Time N Y

Ty
pe Minor 105 215

Within Time N Y

0 500 1,000

Ty
pe Other 178 656

Within Time N Y

Commentary/Implications
Processing of Planning Applications
Over 2019-20, 89% of majors were determined within time 
against the national target of 60%. 
Minor applications cumulative figure for the year to date 
remains slightly above the target of 65% with 67% of minor 
application determined in time. 
Other applications performance for the year to date at 
78.6% falls below the national target of 80% of applications 
determined within time.

Average Days of Determination 
Performance on major applications can vary significantly 
due to the relatively smaller number of major applications 
and the highly variable length of time is might take to 
determine them. The number of days taken to determine 
majors in quarter 4 is high due to the nature of applications 
that were determined. Average time to determine non-
major applications has reduced slightly to 87 days as new 
staff develop the necessary skills and knowledge, it is likely 
to remain high over the rest of the year due to staff 
inexperience.

263

A
ppendix 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



6/12/2020 Duplicate of House Builds Dash

1/1

New Homes Built in South Kesteven 2019/20

Grantham : 230

Bourne : 200

Stamford : 187

Larger Village : 61

The Deepings : 37

Smaller Village : 12

Countryside : 2

© 2020 TomTom © 2020 HERE, © 2020 Microsoft Corporation© 2020 TomTom © 2020 HERE, © 2020 Microsoft Corporation

Number of Houses Built by Year

400

500

600

700

N
o.

 o
f h

ou
se

s 
bu

ilt

2014-15 2015-16 2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-20

652
676

448

478
495

729

Total House Builds
April 2019/March 2020

729
Annual Target: 650

Commentary/Implications
729 dwellings have been completed in 2019/20, which has surpassed the adopted Local 
Plan’s annual housing requirement target of 650 dwellings.
Completions in the 4 main towns accounted for 89.71% of all housing completions in 
2019/20. 
The emerging Local Plan identifies land to provide 53% of housing in Grantham, 18% in 
Stamford, 7% in Bourne, 8% in The Deepings and 14% in the villages.
Of the 729 dwellings completed, 158 are affordable housing.
During 2019/20, two Neighbourhood Plans were adopted – Thurlby and Carlby.

House Build Performance 2019/2020

Total Affordable
Homes

158
April 2019/March 2020

Affordable Homes Built By Location
April 2019/March 2020

Grantham

Sta
mford

Bourne

Larger V
illa

ges

Marke
t D

eeping

Smaller V
illa

ges

76

58

22

2 0 0

265

A
ppendix 6

ms-pbi://www.bing.com/maps?cp=25~-20.000000000000007&lvl=1&style=r&FORM=BMLOGO


T
his page is intentionally left blank



5/5/2020 Page 1

1/1

Complaints By Service 2019/20
Service
 

Complaints

Benefits
Building Control
Chief Executive
Council Tax, Recovery & Enforcement, Rents
Customer Services
Development Management & Implementation
Environmental Health, Licensing & Neighbourhoods
Housing
ICT
Legal, Democratic & Elections
Repairs & Improvements
Reputation & Comms
Street Care Services
Venues & Facilities

4
1
1
9
7

51
5

45
2
2

39
2

287
17

Total 472

Complaints By Month (2019/20)

0

20

40

60

60%

80%

April May
June July

August

September

Octo
ber

November

December
January

February
March

92%

82%

96%

71%

89%

83%

88%
90%

Complaints % of Complaints Closed within Due Date

Complaints By Service 2018/19

0

200

400

Stre
et C

are S…

Repairs 
& Im

p…

Venues &
 Fa

cil…
Housin

g

Development …

Council 
Tax, R

…

Enviro
nmental…

Custo
mer Serv…

Reputation & …

Legal, D
emocr…

Benefits CCTV HR

Spatial &
 Econ…

306

104

49 30 27 19 18 12 5 4 1 1 1 1

Complaints by Service 2017/18

0

200

Stre
et C

are …

Responsive
 …
Housin

g

Venues &
 Fa

…

Developmen…

Neighbourh…

Council 
Tax, …

Property 
& …

Custo
mer Se…

Benefits

Legal, D
emo…

Building Co…

Chief Executi…

Enviro
nment…

Reputation …

Spatial &
 Ec…

245

39 37 30 28 15 12 8 6 2 2 1 1 1 1 1

Compliments By Service (2019/20)

0 50

Street Care Servi…

Housing

Customer Services

Repairs & Improv…

Environmental H…

Benefits

Development Ma…

Building Control

Chief Executive

69

11

7

6

5

2

2

1

1

Commentary/Implications

Total complaints for SKDC declined -18% from 578 in 18/19
to 472 in 19/20. 

Of the 472 complaints received this year the highest volume is from 
Street Care service with 287 which is 67% of the total complaint
received for the whole organisation however this is a reduction of 
-6% on last year (306 complaints for 18/19).

Even though this volume seems high at first this is with the 
background of the amount and high frequency of transactions that 
Street Care deliver.

All businesses and residents use this service and it is an emotive 
subject that interests all. The customer contacts received for this
area still represent 17% of the total contacts received through 
customer services in 19/20. It is also important to note the higher 
level of compliments received are for Street Care services with 66% 
of all compliments received (69 out of 104 received).

Responsive housing repairs and maintenance complaints declined 
by -63% versus 18/19 (returning to 17/18 levels at 39) the increase in 
18/19 is linked to the issues experienced at Riverside. 

Repeat contact and issues will be explored to establish 
recommendations for process improvement, modernisation of 
systems and access channels to information for customers to report 
issues easily online and know when action will be taken to resolve.

We are in the process of developing a new complaints
system solution that will help to provide the committee and service 
areas with more detail feedback regarding themes and areas of 
service improvement.

Complaints Performance April 2019/March 2020

267

A
ppendix 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



6/12/2020 Page 1

1/1

Waste Collection Composition (Tonnes) by Month

0K

1K

2K

3K

4K

5K

6K

April
2019

May
2019

June
2019

July
2019

August
2019

Septe…
2019

October
2019

Novem…
2019

Decem…
2019

January
2020

February
2020

March
2020

2.9K 3.0K
2.6K 2.6K 2.6K 2.7K

3.1K
2.8K

2.4K

2.9K

2.4K
2.7K

0.8K 0.9K

0.7K
1.1K

0.9K
0.9K

0.8K

0.8K

0.9K

1.2K

0.8K

0.8K

1.0K

1.3K

1.3K

1.4K
1.4K

1.0K

1.9K

0.7K

0.3K

0.3K

0.2K

1.0K

Domestic Residual Waste (Tonnes) - EfW Domestic Recyclable Waste (Tonnes) Garden Waste (Tonnes) - Composted

40.80%
Recycling Re-use & Composting Rate

29.08%
Total Non-Recyclables in Recycling Waste (Based on Samples)

Report Period

All





Proportion of Collected Recycling Waste which is Non-Target Recyclable Materials (Based on Samples) -
used for Refuse Derived Fuel - in Relation to other Local Authorities in the Region

0%

20%

40%

ELDC SHDC CLC BBC SKDC WLDC NKDC

31
.8

4%

31
.0

5%

29
.9

1%

29
.7

5%

29
.0

8%

28
.4

0%

28
.2

3%

Commentary/Implications
The cumulative average recycling, re-use and composting rate for 2019/20 is 40.8% which represents a 
3.8% improvement on 2018/19 – it is still important for Members to continue to champion the ‘reduce, 
re-use and recycle’ message. It should be noted that the residual waste figures for March 2020 are 
provisional as they are yet to be confirmed by LCC and are likely to be fractionally higher than shown 
due to some of SKDC’s residual waste being tipped in Market Deeping for a couple of weeks and 
therefore not being recorded load by load on LCC’s weighbridge system. This is not likely to reduce the 
percentage improvement significantly.
In terms of the total non-recyclable levels based on samples, although 29.08% is higher than we would 
like it to be, this is a county-wide issue and as part of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership we have begun 
a county wide campaign to reduce contamination rates and expect to see the results of this as we 
progress through 2020/21. 
Household waste collected in the black bins or pink bags is sent to the Energy from Waste (EfW) plant at 
North Hykeham where it is used as a fuel to produce electricity. The non-target recyclables in the silver 
bins or clear bags is used as Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) where it is used directly as fuel, usually at a 
cement works. None of our waste is sent to landfill (except in exceptional circumstances where the EfW 
plant is non-operational).

Waste Performance 2019/20 Reporting Period: Apr 2019 to Mar 2020

269

A
ppendix 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

 
Item 
 

 
Current Issues/Status 
 

 
Date 
 

 
Outcome sought 
 

Welland Procurement 
Annual Report 

Annual report produced by external procurement company, 
Welland Procurement 

28 July 
2020 
(virtual) 

To review the performance and value 
for money of Welland Procurement in 
the past year, and to consider their 
plans going forward, making 
recommendations to Cabinet as 
necessary 

Q1 Financials 
Q1 Performance 

Quarterly reporting 

22 
September 
2020 
(location 
TBC) 

Feedback to Council departments on 
progress, performance and any 
issues 

Car Parking Review 
A review of the supply, demand and charging policies and 
principles for town centre parking across the District 

To feed recommendations in to the 
Joint OSC Budget Committee being 
held 23 September 2020, for inclusion 
in budget suggestions for the 2021/22 
financial year 

Economic 
Development Strategy 
and role of InvestSK 

A consideration of SKDC Economic Development Strategy, 
including any issues associated with COVID-19 business 
recovery, and the role Invest SK will play in this development 

To feed recommendations back to 
Invest SK and/or Cabinet as 
necessary. 

Q2 Financials 
Q2 Performance 

Quarterly reporting 

10 
November 
2020 
(location 
TBC) 

Feedback to Council departments on 
progress, performance and any 
issues 

Grantham Town Centre 
Consideration of business occupancy rates in Grantham, and 
business survival rates, with additional consideration to post 
COVID-19 recovery and the changing face of the high street 

To feedback to SKDC departments 
and make any recommendations to 
Cabinet as necessary on suggested 
changes to policy and support 

St Martins Park Review 
Consideration of the current budget position, revenue and 
capital spend and future financial commitments 

To make any recommendations to 
Cabinet on the future of the scheme 
as necessary 

271

A
genda Item

 10



Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

 
Item 
 

 
Current Issues/Status 
 

 
Date 
 

 
Outcome sought 
 

Housing Delivery Test 
Action Plan 

Review of progress against the action plan agreed by Cabinet 
on 09/07/2019 

12 January 
2021 
(location 
TBC) 

To consider any successes or issues, 
feedback to Cabinet and Council 
departments, and make 
recommendations for meeting targets 
as necessary 

Special Expense Areas 
Review of the principles and policies surrounding the use of 
Special Expenses Areas, considering various available options 
prepared by Officers for the Committee to progress  

To make recommendations relating to 
any proposed or changing policy to 
Cabinet as necessary 

Q3 Financials 
Q3 Performance 

Quarterly reporting 

23 
February 
2020 
(location 
TBC) 

Feedback to Council departments on 
progress, performance and any 
issues 

Development 
Infrastructure 

External companies will be invited to attend to Committee to 
provide reassurances regarding infrastructure support for 
proposed developments in the District 

Constructive conversation and 
engagement with external 
organisations regarding support and 
preparations for developments, 
feeding back to organisations, 
Council departments and Cabinet as 
necessary 

Q4 Financials 
Q4 Performance 

Quarterly reporting 

27 April 
2021 
(Location 
TBC) 

Recommendations as necessary to 
Cabinet 

2021/2022 Work 
Programme, review of 
actions/learning  

To consider items for the 2021/22 work programme, and 
development of outcomes and learnings to form the annual 
Scrutiny Report. 

Recommendations as necessary to 
Cabinet 

(Further items for April 2021 TBC)  

272



Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2020/21 

 
Item 
 

 
Current Issues/Status 
 

 
Date 
 

 
Outcome sought 
 

Unscheduled Items 

Proposed 
Development Brief for 
Land at Stamford 
North 

Consideration of the development brief, suggest 
comments/changes/feedback as necessary 

TBC 
(Scrutiny 

consultation 
may take 
place as 
part of 
public 

consultation 
process) 

Recommendations as necessary to 
Council (feedback as part of formal 
consultation process) 

Design Guide 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 

Consideration of the Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document 

Recommendations as necessary to 
Council (feedback as part of formal 
consultation process) 

Leisure Services 
Proposals 

Feedback from Member Working Groups for Leisure, review of 
progress and updates on projects 

TBC 

To feed back to Council departments, 
make suggestions for areas of 
improvement, note successes and 
encourage areas of good progress, 
and to make any necessary 
recommendations to Cabinet 

 
 

  

273



REMIT 
The remit of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet 
Members to assist with the development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 

 Business rate relief 

 Business transformation 

 Car parks, bus stations and town centre infrastructure 

 Charitable rate relief 

 Council-owned property, assets and maintenance (non-council house) 

 Large-scale development projects 

 Shop front designs and funding 

 Street furniture 

 Street parking permits 

 Town centre developments and partnerships 

 Budget monitoring 

 Review of outturn 

 Fees and charges 

 Budget setting 

 Medium term financial planning and national funding proposals 

 Performance reporting 

 Data protection policy 

 Customer access strategy 
Membership 9 

274



 
 
 

 
 

CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  

1 August 2020 to 31 July 2021 
 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make key decisions and non-key decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A key decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard 
to the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A non-key decision is one that is not a key decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Forward Plan will be circulated to all Overview and Scrutiny Committees and be considered at each meeting as Members set 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes. Scrutiny members will be able to pick from the Forward Plan, those items 
relevant to their remit that they wish to scrutinise. 
 
  

275



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 
Summary Date Action Contact 

 
Cabinet – 8 September 2020 

 

South Kesteven District Council’s Best Practice Policy and Protocol on Debt Collection (Key Decision) 

To consider the recommendations from 
the Rural and Communities Overview and  
Scrutiny Committee 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To adopt the new policy and 
protocol 
 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 
Head of Customer Experience 
Tel: 01476 40 65 06 
E-mail: n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document – Approval of Consultation Draft (Key Decision) 

The document will provide guidance to 
applicants and decision makers in order to 
improve the design quality of new 
development proposals as a supplement 
to the Local Plan policies 

8 Sept 
2020 

To approve the 
Supplementary Planning 
Document for consultation 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 

Head of Planning Policy  
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 
Proposed Development brief for Land at Stamford North (Key Decision) 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 

Head of Planning Policy  
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 
Cultural Strategy (Key Decision) 

To consider the draft Cultural Strategy for 
South Kesteven 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To adopt a Cultural Strategy 
for South Kesteven 
 

Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet 
Member for Culture and Visitor Economy  
 
Head of Arts  
Tel: 01476 40 61 29 
E-mail: michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 

276

mailto:n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:michael.cross@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Leisure Centre Proposals (Key Decision) 

To consider the Procurement Strategy and 
Investment Proposals for the Leisure 
facilities within the District 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To agree the approach to 
delivering the programme to 
enhance leisure 
opportunities for everyone 
 

Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of 
the Council  
 
Strategic Director, Growth  
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision) 

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft document 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To approve a 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of 
Rectory Farm 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning  
 
Special Projects Manager 
Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
E-mail: p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final (Key Decision) 

To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To approve the Design 
Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 

Head of Planning Policy  
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy (Key Decision) 

To consider any proposed changes 
following consultation 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To approve the policy 
 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations 
 
Head of Environmental  
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan (Policy Framework Proposal)  

To consider a new Corporate Plan for 
South Kesteven District Council 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To recommend to Council a 
new Corporate Plan for 
South Kesteven District 
Council 
 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 
 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
E-mail: karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

277

mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Amended 2020/21 Budget (Budget Framework) 

To consider an amended 2020/21 Budget 8 Sept 
2020 

To recommend to Council 
an amended 2020/21 
Budget 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 
Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Asset Management Strategy (Key Decision)  

To consider the draft Asset Management 
Strategy 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 
 
Assistant Director, Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 61 77 
E-mail: jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 

St Peter’s Hill, Grantham – Public Realm Improvements (Key Decision) 

To consider a report on St. Peter's Hill, 
Grantham - public realm improvements 
 

8 Sept 
2020 

To approve the proposals 
and budget 
 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 
 
Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations 
Tel: 01476 40 63 44 
E-mail: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 

 
Council – 17 September 2020 

 

South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan (Policy Framework Proposal) 

To consider the Cabinet’s 
recommendations in respect of a new 
Corporate Plan for South Kesteven District 
Council 
 

17 Sept 
2020 

To approve a new 
Corporate Plan for South 
Kesteven District Council 
 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 
 
Chief Executive 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80  
E-mail: karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 
 

278

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:jane.mcdaid@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:karen.bradford@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Amended 2020/21 Budget – (Budget Framework) 

To consider the Cabinet’s 
recommendations in respect of an 
amended Budget for the 2020/21 period 

17 Sept 
2020 

To adopt an amended 
2020/21 Budget 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 
Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

 
Cabinet – 1 December 2020 

 

Housing Allocation Policy 2021 to include Choice Based Lettings (Key Decision) 

To consider the policy and 
recommendations from the Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

1 Dec 
2020 

To adopt a refreshed 
Housing Allocation Policy 
incorporating a Choice 
Based Lettings Scheme 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 
Assistant Director, Housing  
Tel: 01476 40 62 99 
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 (Key Decision) 

To consider the draft Housing Asset 
Management Strategy 2021-2026  
 

1 Dec 
2020 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
Management Strategy 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 
Assistant Director, Housing  
Tel: 01476 40 62 99 
E-mail: harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

Council Tax Base 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To determine the Council Tax base for 
2021/22, which will form the basis of the 
Budget proposals for the year 

1 Dec 
2020 

To determine the Council 
Tax Base to form the basis 
of the 2021/22 Budget 
proposals to be 
recommended to Council 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

279

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:harry.rai@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Draft Budget Proposals 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To consider the draft Budget proposals for 
2021/22 

1 Dec 
2020 

To agree the draft Budget 
proposals for 2021/22 for 
consultation  

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 
Cabinet – 19 January 2021 

 

Budget Proposals 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To agree the Budget proposals for 
2021/22 

19 Jan 
2021 
 

To recommend the Budget 
proposals 2021/22 to 
Council 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 
Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 
Council – 1 March 2021 

 

Budget 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To consider the Cabinet’s Budget 
proposals 

1 Mar 
2021 

To agree the Budget for 
2021/22 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

Pay Policy Statement (Legislative) 

To receive recommendations from the 
Employment Committee on the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/22 

Mar 2021 To approve the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement 
2021/22 for publication 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 
 

Head of Organisational Development and 
Change 
Tel: 01476 40 61 32 
E-mail: e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

280

mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 
 

Other Items – dates pending 

 
Customer Service Consultation Results (Key Decision) 

To consider consultation in respect of customer 
services 
(Cabinet) 
 
 

To make any decisions on 
the basis of the feedback 
from the customer service 
consultation 

Councillor Annie Mason 
Cabinet Member for Communities  
 
Head of Customer Experience 
Tel: 01476 40 65 06 
E-mail: n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk  Please note that currently the decision date has been 

suspended.  A new date will be calculated after the 
COVID-19 situation 

 

281

mailto:n.roberts@southkesteven.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action notes of the meeting held on 26 May 2020
	6 Future High Streets Fund
	6 Future High Streets Fund
	Appendix 1 Grantham Town Centre Spatial Masterplan

	6 Future High Streets Fund
	Appendix 2 FHS Project Costs_Draft Business case

	6 Future High Streets Fund
	Appendix 3 and 4 Grantham Engagement Report and appendices

	6 Future High Streets Fund
	Appendix 4 Grantham Engagement appendices

	6 Future High Streets Fund
	Appendix 5 Equality Analysis - Initial Analysis Future High Street

	6 Future High Streets Fund
	Appendix 6 Grantham Future High Street Fund Draft Full Business Case - March 2020

	7 Financial Impact Report
	7 Financial Impact Report
	OSCAppendixA Incomev2

	7 Financial Impact Report
	Appendix B Cashflow V2

	7 Financial Impact Report
	Appendix C - Finance Risk Register

	7 Financial Impact Report
	AppendixD Reserves

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix A - 2019-20 General Fund Revenue Summary

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix B - 2019-20 General Fund Revenue Significant Variance Analysis

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix C - 2019-20 Savings and Income Generation Summary

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix D - 2019-20 General Fund Capital Programme Summary

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix E - 2019-20 Budget Carry Forwards General Fund

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix F - 2019-20 Reserves - General Fund

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix G - 2019-20 Housing Revenue Account Summary

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix H - 2019-20 HRA Capital Programme Summary

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix I - 2019-20 Budget Carry Forwards - HRA

	8 Outturn Report 2019/20
	Outturn report - Appendix J - 2019-20 Reserves - HRA

	9 Performance Report
	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 1 COVID-19 Dashboard Extracts

	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 2 Rents Performance

	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 3 Council Tax Performance

	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 4 Non-Domestic Rates Performance

	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 5 Planning Process Performance

	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 6 House Builds Performance

	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 7 Complaints Performance

	9 Performance Report
	Apdx 8 Waste Performance

	10 Work programme
	10 Work programme
	Cabinet Forward Plan - 1 August 20 - 31 July 21




